



Class E164

Book \_ 1382

Gopyright Nº

COPYRIGHT DEPOSIT





## RECOLLECTIONS

OF

SAMUEL BRECK.



## RECOLLECTIONS

OF

# SAMUEL BRECK

WITH

## PASSAGES FROM HIS NOTE-BOOKS (1771-1862)

H. E. SCUDDER



PHILADELPHIA
PORTER & COATES

E161

## Entered according to Act of Congress, in the year 1877, by PORTER & COATES,

In the Office of the Librarian of Congress, at Washington.

12.38636

## PREFACE.

MR. SAMUEL BRECK, whose recollections occupy this volume, died in Philadelphia, August 31, 1862, at the age of ninety-one years and forty-six days. His memory, which was excellent to the last, could thus span the entire period embraced in the history of our country from the beginning of the war for Independence to that of the war for Union. The incidents in his life were varied; his early associations were with the best society in Boston, his native town; his education in France gave him not only a familiarity with foreign life, but an intimate acquaintance with the French exiles and travellers to this country; his public life took him to Harrisburg and Washington, and made him a valued member not only of the government of Philadelphia, but of various charitable, literary and financial institutions; while his social position enabled him to associate with the most educated and refined classes in the city. His own family connection with the Lloyds, the Aspinwalls of New York, the Andrews and others, gave him most agreeable relations, and the reader of this volume will find among the names of families in Boston and Philadelphia with whom Mr.

Breck associated those best known for private worth and public spirit.

His life is not recorded in this volume, except as it is implied in the narrative and reflections which his pen set down. He was accustomed from the year 1800 onward to keep a diary of more or less fulness, in which he entered not only his personal experience, but comments on current events, on the books he read, on the persons he met, together with occasional reminiscences of the period preceding 1800. When nearly sixty years old he undertook to arrange his recollections in orderly form for his own amusement, and, writing at intervals, brought the narrative down to the year 1797. From some cause, not recorded in his diary, he stopped his work abruptly. It was, however, largely formed of passages from his diary, and that diary he continued to keep until 1856, though the entries for the final years were very brief.

His recollections and his diaries together have furnished the material for this volume. The larger part of it is occupied with the *Recollections*, which is printed without change, except in the omission of some portions of his foreign itinerary, and in such slight verbal corrections as he would himself have made if preparing his manuscript for the press. This portion has also been broken up for convenience into chapters.

The remainder of the volume consists of Passages

from his Note-books, arranged with a general regard to harmony of subjects, and marked in each case with the date of entry in Mr. Breck's journal. By this means one is able to note the period of certain observations which depend for their interest partly upon being contemporaneous with the scenes and events described. Throughout the volume the Editor has aimed to supply such notes as would serve to illustrate the text; and for some of those relating to Philadelphia he is indebted to Mr. Townsend Ward of that city.

The book rests its claim to notice not on the reputation or character of Mr. Breck. Those who knew that courteous and honorable gentleman will read it with the more interest, and will testify to his integrity, his obstinate firmness in principle, his sound judgment and his generous nature. Some of these qualities will be discovered by the reader from the book itself; and no one can be familiar with Mr. Breck's private writings and not have a hearty confidence in his truthfulness and candor. Nor does the book profess to add important facts to history, although in two or three cases, as in the account of the naval encounter in Boston Harbor and his report of Judge Peters's explanation of the arrest of Flower, it may be that he has added to our acquaintance with historical facts. The real value of the book will be readily perceived to lie in its power to reconstruct the past for us as a living force.

To have talked with an old man who has a clear and intelligent memory is to have enjoyed some of the advantages of age with the bright imagination of youth. Here is transfusion of blood of another sort. The personality of the old man, when discoursing even of trivial matters, becomes a solvent which sets free the particles of history, and enables the younger man to see the past as a contemporary. It is singular by how slight a word one is thus enabled to live over again not his own past, but his father's past. When I read in Mr. Breck's diary how he stood with the crowd before the post-office in Philadelphia and heard the postmaster read from a chamber-window the news of the burning of Washington, I am as free from the influence of steam and the telegraph-wire as were the eager crowd gathered there, and the historic fact comes before me with a far livelier power than when I read it in a formal history. If the good we are to derive from history were based simply upon our acquaintance with the facts which we regard as determining the logic of historic processes, then all personal gossip and such reminiscences and notes as these by Mr. Breck would give us only idle pastime. But every one instinctively feels that his knowledge of history, like his knowledge of daily affairs, is conditioned upon numberless trivial and fleeting impressions created by the look, the dress, the by-play of the world. An idle-minded man, to be sure, can scarcely reflect more than his own vacuity, and that when he undertakes to discourse of weighty matters; a man of character can scarcely fail to throw some light on life when he speaks of trivial things. Mr. Breck made no pretensions to literary power, but he was a man of catholic taste and general interests. In this book the reader hears his chat, and will be helped by it to get that contemporaneous position which is so needful if one would see American life and manners from time to time during the first century of the Republic.

H. E. S.

CAMBRIDGE, Mass., January, 1877.



## CONTENTS.

#### RECOLLECTIONS.

#### CHAPTER I.

PAGE

Sweetbrier.—Ancestry.—Earliest Recollections.—The Dark Day.
—Benjamin Andrews.—John Andrews.—Tracy's Dinner to
D'Estaing.—Bougainville.—Laborde.—John Tracy.—Thomas
Brattle.—Beacon Hill.—Boston Boys.—Anticks.—The Whipping-Post.—The Breck Mansion.—La Fayette at Town Meeting.—Lively Antics on High Buildings.—A Naval Encounter
in Boston Harbor.—De Vaudreuil.—Mr. Breck and the French
Consul.—A Journey to France for Education.—The Voyage
and its Incidents.—A Quick Passage......

15

#### CHAPTER II.

First View of France.—Nantes.—Boston in France.—La Rochelle.
—Rochefort.—Bordeaux.—Toulouse. — Sorèze. — Holidays at the Castle of De Vaudreuil.—The Course of Study at Sorèze.— School Life.—Balloons.—Blanchard. — Mesmer. — Lightning-Rods.—Distinguished Families at Sorèze.—La Pérouse.—Dom Crozal and Quétain.—Confession and Mass.—Journey to Paris.—Political Excitement in Paris.—Crevecœur.—High Life.—Beaumanoir.—De Valady.—Brissot de Warville.—Journey to Havre.—Fellow-Passengers on Return Voyage.—Arrival at New York.

52

#### CHAPTER HI.

PAGE

New York after the Fire.-From New York to Boston,-Fourth of July, 1787.-Mad-Caps.-Entrance into Business.-Business Morals and Revenue Reform .- Mr. Joseph Marryat and Charlotte Geyer .- Tristram Dalton .- Journey to Philadelphia .-Captain Phipps.—Society in New York.—The Roads.—William Knox .- Two Insane Gentlemen .- Family Servants .-Eccentric Tradesmen. - Mrs. Jeffrey. - Wigs. - Whitefield's Great Toe.—The First Mass in Boston.—An Atheist's Temple. -John Quincy Adams and his Early Passion.-La Fayette's Aid to Boston.—Captain Booby.—French and English Discipline.-Washington's Visit to Boston.-Hancock's State Pride. -Entertaining Indians,-Lord Whickham,-Governor Sullivan.....

89

#### CHAPTER IV.

Second Voyage to Europe,-A Gale in the Irish Sea and a Shelter under the Isle of Man .- Dublin .- An Irish Bull .- A Hungry Traveller.-Liverpool.-By Stage to London.-Drury Lane.-Binneau.-The Chevalier d'Eon.-Frederick Geyer.-A Lord Mayor's Show,-A Parliamentary Debate.-Burke.-Nicholas Ward Boylston .- A Ball at Bath .- En Route for Paris .- A Well-preserved Barber .- The Revolution .- De Noailles .- A Debate in the National Assembly.-Mirabeau.-A Glimpse of the Royal Family.-Spongers. - Barlow.-Browne Cutting.-Return Voyage.—A Dinner at Mr. Jeffrey's...... 137

#### CHAPTER V.

Boston in 1791.-A Sunday Journey.-A Theatre in Boston.-Started in Business,-Dabbling in Stocks,-Unjust Taxation in Boston.-Removal to Philadelphia.-Society in Philadelphia.—General Washington's Style,—Tradesmen.—Eccentric Characters in Boston.- James Allen.-Mrs. Smith.-Frederick Khone.—The Yellow Fever in Philadelphia.—A Well-prophesied Death.-Congress.-Talleyrand,-Volney.-De Noailles. -Walking Stewart.-Baring.-The Binghams and their Style. -Morris,-Cobbett.-Clayton,-General Knox.-Hamilton.... 178

#### PASSAGES FROM THE NOTE-BOOKS.

#### CHAPTER I.

Ð	п	12	. 7	- 7	C	7.4	KIN	A N	II)	17.37	ENTS.

	PAGE
RICHARD PETERS	213
JEUX D'ESPRIT OF JUDGE PETERS	217
THE MARQUIS DE VALADY	219
THE DUKE OF ORLEANS	246
Joseph Bonaparte	248
Washington's Farewell Address	252
THE BURNING OF WASHINGTON	253
DE WITT CLINTON	255
John Randolph	256
DANIEL WEBSTER	258
STEUBEN NOT L.L.D	260
Audubon	260
ZERAH COLBURN	261
Francis Jeffrey	262
CHAPTER II.	
NOTES OF TRAVEL	

#### NOTES OF TRAVEL.

A JOURNEY TO WASHINGTON	264
Journey to Boston	271
CHANCE TRAVELLING-COMPANIONS	273
QUICK TRAVEL	274
THE OTHER SIDE	275
Praise of Boston	277

#### CHAPTER III.

#### PERSONAL AND SOCIETY GOSSIP.

1	AFE AT SWEETBRIER	280
Α	LONG-LIVED FAMILY	281
A	DINER-OUT WAYLAID	282

## CONTENTS. AN ECCENTRIC ENGLISHMAN...... 284

Mrs. Harrison Gray Otis...... 285

PAGE

DINING IN THE COUNTRY	286
MISS KEAN	287
WISTAR PARTIES	288
A WALKING CLUB	288
CAPTAIN MARRYAT	289
Dallas and his Snuff-Box	293
CHAPTER IV.	
MANNERS AND CHANGES.	
COAL FIRES IN PENNSYLVANIA	295
EXPERIENCE WITH SERVANTS	295
Labor and Wages	300
THRIFTY BLACKS	301
DIVINING-RODS	303
A GOVERNOR'S STYLE	304
Kean's Acting	305
American Literature	306

Mammoth Newspapers...... 307

## RECOLLECTIONS OF SAMUEL BRECK.

#### CHAPTER I.

Sweetbrier.—Ancestry.—Earliest Recollections.—The Dark Day.—
Benjamin Andrews.—John Andrews.—Tracy's Dinner to D'Estaing.
—Bougainville.—Laborde.—John Tracy.—Thomas Brattle.—Beacon
Hill.—Boston Boys.—Anticks.—The Whipping-Post.—The Breck
Mansion.—La Fayette at Town Meeting.—Lively Antics on High
Buildings.—A Naval Encounter in Boston Harbor.—De Vaudreuil.
—Mr. Breck and the French Consul.—A Journey to France for
Education.—The Voyage and its Incidents.—A Quick Passage.

I BEGIN, this 17th of January, 1830, precisely at the age of fifty-eight years and six months, the recollections of my past life. Residing as I do now in the country, I have much leisure, which I hope to occupy agreeably, and perhaps profitably, by condensing the diaries heretofore kept by me. My residence has been, when at home with my family, where it now is, for more than thirty years, being on an estate belonging to me, situated on the right bank of the Schuylkill, in the township of Blockley, county of Philadelphia, and two miles from the western part of the city. The mansion on this estate I built in 1797. It is a fine stone house, roughcast, fifty-three feet long, thirty-eight broad, and three stories high, having out-buildings of every kind suitable for elegance and comfort. The prospect consists of the

river, animated by its great trade carried on in boats of about thirty tons, drawn by horses; of a beautiful sloping lawn, terminating at that river, now nearly four hundred yards wide opposite the portico; of side-screen woods; of gardens, green-house, etc. Sweetbrier is the name of my villa.\* As I write these sheets for my amusement alone, and care not how minute or garrulous I may be in my narrative, I shall commence with a brief notice of my ancestors.

Three brothers, originally from the north of England, Edward, Robert and Samuel Breck,† landed at

\* Sweetbrier was occupied by Mr. Breck until 1838, when he sold the estate and moved into town, mainly because of the prevalence of fever and ague, induced, he states, by the building of the dam at the city waterworks in 1822. The estate was not far from the historic mansion of Belmont, and is now included in Farmount Park. The house occupied by Mr. Breck is still standing (1877) and occupied as a restaurant.

† In a letter to a kinsman Mr. Breck writes: "In some places that name has been vulgarized and corrupted into Brick. Let me entreat you to avoid that nickname, either for yourself or your family connexions. Breck is an Erse word, signifying distinguished chief,' and ought not to be debased into vile baked clay. Our English ancestors resided in Cumberland and Westmoreland." It was doubtless some consolation to Mr. Breck, when he found one of his ancestors reported as the Widow Brick, to read of her as "the very flower of Boston." The bookseller John Dunton, in his Life and Errors, gives an account of his sojourn in Boston in 1685-86, and speaks thus of Madam Breck: "The beauty of her person, the sweetness and affability of her temper, the gravity of her carriage, and her exalted piety gave me so just a value for her that Mr. Green would often say, 'Should Iris die' (the name he gave his wife), 'which Heaven forbid! there is none fit to succeed her but Madam Brick." Mr. Drake, in his History of Boston, where we find this extract from Dunton, says that the spelling Brick is in accordance with the pronunciation of Breck at that time. The name of Breck has Dorchester, near Boston, about the year 1630. Edward's son John became eminent in Dorchester, and from him I am lineally descended as a great-grandson. He died the 16th of February, 1713, aged thirty-two, as appears by the inscription on our family mourning rings distributed at his death. The son of that gentleman was named after him, and became the parent of three sons and many daughters. This second son was named Samuel, and was my father. He was born on the 11th of April, 1747, o. s., and died on the 7th of May, 1809, aged about sixty-two. The progenitors of my mother were very respectable emigrants from England to Boston, by the name of Andrews. She was born on the 11th of November, 1747, o. s., and is still living in good health in her eighty-third year.

I was born on the 17th of July, 1771, in the then town of Boston. It was at a period of political excitement, and I feel myself identified with the Revolution, having been nursed at Lexington, where the first blood was spilt, and an unconscious spectator of the great battle of Bunker Hill. I say unconscious, because at the date of that battle (17th of June, 1775) I was too young to receive a durable impression, or indeed any recollection at all about it. I have been told, however, that the woman who had the care of me stood on an eminence with me in her arms contemplating the engagement.

been borne by persons of local distinction in various part of the country; amongst others, by Hon. Daniel Breck, a member of Congress from Kentucky 1849-51; by the Rev. Charles Breck, D. D., and by the late Rev. J. Lloyd Breck, D. D., both elergymen of the Protestant Episcopal Church and nephews of our author.

An event that took place shortly after I remember perfectly. Boston was closely invested by Washington, and in the bombardment a shell fell in our courtvard\* that cracked a beautiful mirror by the concussion of the air in bursting, and gave my father a broad hint to provide for the safety of his family. He had then only two children, Mrs. Lloyd† and myself. He obtained a passport from the British general, 1 and, being allowed to traverse the camp of the besiegers, brought his wife and children to Philadelphia, stopping a few days at New York, and travelling from that city in company with the late Vice-President, George Clinton, who, as I have heard my father say, had the kindness to bring me part of the way in his sulky. That gentleman became very distinguished afterward, and was uncle to the great De Witt Clinton.

My parents have often told me how hospitably we were received in that city, where, in common with all the colonies, a strong sympathy was entertained for the sufferers in Boston. I, of course, have few recollections of that period. One thing only can I remember, and

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Breck does not state where the family home in Boston was at this time, other than that it was in what was then called New Boston, the present West End—strictly speaking, the district west of Sudbury street.

<sup>†</sup> Mrs. Lloyd, Mr. Breck's sister Hannah, was the wife of Hon. James Lloyd, a respected merchant of Boston, who twice represented Massachusetts in the U. S. Senate, 1808–13 and 1822–26.

<sup>‡</sup> From references in the letters of John Andrews (referred to at length on a later page, 23) it appears that Mr. Breck removed his family from Boston at the end of May, 1775, just before Governor Gage put into execution stringent rules forbidding the issuing of passports.

that is the inoculation of my sister and myself for the small-pox.\*

We stayed a few months in Philadelphia, and then removed to Taunton in Massachusetts, in order to be ready to enter Boston as soon as the British should evacuate the town. It was here at Taunton that I distinctly recollect seeing the procession of the Pope and the Devil on the 5th of November, the anniversary of the Gunpowder Plot. Effigies of those two illustrious personages were paraded round the Common, and this was perhaps the last exhibition of the kind in our country.† Sentiments of great liberality and toleration, together with an entire absence of colonial or English feeling, have contributed to abolish the custom heretofore annual, and to root out all violent prejudices against the good bishop of Rome and the Church which he governs.

In due time we returned to Boston, and having been nursed, as I said before, at Lexington, I may boast of having been cradled in the midst of the brave men who

\* The reader will recall the frequent references, as in the letters of John and Abigail Adams, to the personal discomfort caused by the precautions taken against small-pox through inoculation before the introduction of vaccination.

† The celebration of Pope Day in Boston was always accompanied by violence. There were rival popes from the North End and the South End-the Avignon and Rome of Boston- and the followers of each fought to get possession of the opposition pope. General Sumner, in his Reminiscences, published in the New England Historic-Genealogical Register (vol. viii., April, 1854), gives an account of Governor Hancock's measures, through the mollifying influences of a dinner, to put an end to Pope Day in Boston a short time before more tragic hostilities broke out in 1775.

so nobly commenced and so gloriously terminated our immortal war of Independence. I may add that the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, having undertaken to educate the son of General Warren,\* who was slain at the battle of Bunker Hill, sent him to a school at Chelsea, near Boston, kept by a clergyman named Payson;† and as I was placed there about the same time, we were made bedfellows, and so continued for some months.

The winter of 1780 was colder than any that has occurred since. I was then a scholar at Chelsea, and perfectly well remember being driven by my father's coachman, in a sleigh with two horses, on the ice directly across the bay of Boston, starting from the

\* The four children of General Warren were committed to the care of their maternal grandmother after the death of Mrs. Warren, and the eldest son was educated at the expense of the United States, not of Massachusetts, the resolve being brought in by Samuel Adams, Jan. 31, 1777. Benedict Arnold took great interest in the children, and contributed generously to their education. He applied to Congress for provision for the support of the children, and July 1, 1780, Congress resolved to allow the half-pay of a major-general, to begin at the time of Warren's death and continue till the youngest child was of age—a stipend of about \$1300 a year, with \$7000 for a first payment, on account of money due under the resolve.

† Rev. Samuel Phillips Payson was distinguished at the time as a classical scholar and for his studies in natural philosophy and astronomy, but no acute observations on the Dark Day seem to have come down from him. He is preserved in the amber of Thornton's Pulpit of the American Revolution, and Sam Adams, writing to Elbridge Gerry and James Lovell about the Warren children, speaks of him as "a gentleman whose qualifications for the instructing of youth I need not mention to you;" which reads almost as if those two gentlemen had personal knowledge of Parson Payson's qualifications.

north part of the town, and keeping for many miles on the ice, which we left to traverse farms, without being stopped by the stone fences, which were all covered with snow. It was the summer that succeeded this cold weather, I think, that the famous Dark Day happened in New England. I was at the same school. It began about eleven o'clock in the morning, when I was standing by the master reading my lesson. The light grew dim, and in a very short time faded into utter darkness. The school was dismissed, and we went below stairs. The cause was wholly inexplicable at the time, nor do I find that it has ever been satisfactorily explained. Some ascribed it to an extensive conflagration in the backwoods, but I do not remember any heavy smoke or other indication of fire. I know that candles were lit, and the affrighted neighbors groped their way to our house for spiritual consolation and joined in prayer with our reverend principal, and that after we had dined by candlelight—probably about three o'clock-it cleared up and became bright enough to go abroad. The day having been one of terror, and now more than two-thirds spent, we were not called to school in the afternoon, but were permitted to go into the fields to gather fruit and birds' eggs. Yet the succeeding night was "palpably obscure." Many accidents happened to those who were on the road. Nothing could exceed the darkness. No doubt there was a natural cause for it, but whether smoke or vapor, or other atmospherical density, remains undivulged.\*

\* The Dark Day seems to have made an impression upon our fathers more from spiritual than from physical causes. There were few exact It was in the course of this year,\* I think, that a most melancholy event terminated the life of my maternal uncle, Benjamin Andrews, Esq. That gentleman was well educated, active, useful, beloved; in short, a very distinguished citizen. Mr. Benjamin Hichborn, his friend, and a lawyer subsequently of eminence, was with my uncle assisting him to prepare for a journey that was to commence the next day. While Mr. Andrews was writing, Hichborn was trying a pair of pistols and putting them in order for the journey. He had snapped them against the chimney-back, he said, and, supposing them to be unloaded, was in the act of handing one of them to my uncle when it went off,

records of the facts, and those were gathered and sifted in a paper by Professor Samuel Williams of Harvard, published in the Memoirs of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences for 1783. The time was May 19, 1780, and the darkness came on between the hours of 10 and 11 A. M., continuing into the night; the degree differed in different places, but candles were required at mid-day for the reading of common print in all the district covered by it. "The birds, having sung their evening songs, disappeared and became silent; the fowls retired to roost; the cocks were crowing all around, as at break of day; objects could not be distinguished but at a very little distance, and everything bore the appearance and gloom of night." There was no definite information as to the extent of the darkness, but it seems to have been coextensive with New England. The atmosphere was charged with an extraordinary quantity of vapor, and in some places where rain fell a light scum, as of the ashes of burned leaves, was observed; and the most acceptable explanation of the phenomenon was that the smoke from vast fires in the back country floating in the atmosphere at different elevations formed a medium very dense and impenetrable to the rays of the sun.

\* Mr. Benjamin Andrews was killed, I find by a mourning ring in my mother's possession, on the 9th of January, 1779, aged thirty-eight. He was almost the only native Bostonian who spoke French.—S. B.

hit him with the wad in the temple and killed him on the spot. My father had dined somewhere in the country that day, and had not returned when the news of the event came to our house, which was about early candlelight. I went to the deceased's house, and witnessed the confusion and deep regret that pervaded it. My aunt was a fine-looking, well-bred woman, fond of dress and fashionable dissipation. She had five or six children and an indulgent husband. Suddenly she saw herself a widow overwhelmed with consternation and dismay. This affair has always appeared mysterious, and made a great noise at the time; and, very strange as it may seem, Hichborn proposed as a remedy and atonement the only measure that could be adduced as a motive for the commission of murder. "I have been guilty," said he, "of this unintentional manslaughter; Mr. Andrews was my friend; by my instrumentality his children are left fatherless. I will be a parent and protector to them; the best amends I can make is to marry the widow." He did marry her, and during a long life he was to her and her children a kind and generous friend, father and husband.\*

Mr. Andrews left one brother, John Andrews; and whilst I am on the subject of that worthy family, I will anticipate and say a word of this other maternal uncle. For more than a dozen years Mr. John Andrews was a selectman of Boston. In the evening of life he pur-

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Hichborn is characterized by Loring in his *Hundred Boston Orators* as one of the most fearless, dauntless patriots. He was a Democrat of the old school, and a warm advocate of Jefferson. He died in Dorchester in 1817.

chased a villa at Jamaica Plains, and retired there with an ample fortune. I saw him last when in his eightieth year, in 1822. He was full of anecdote and reminiscences of the Revolutionary War. He stayed in Boston during its blockade by General Washington, and entertained that great man at dinner the first day after its evacuation by the British. His timely interference at that period prevented the destruction of the trees in the Mall; and subsequently his personal exertions saved part of the Common (a spot without a rival in America) from being sold and cut up into lots. He died shortly after.\*

Before the Revolution the colonists had little or no communication with France, so that Frenchmen were known to them only through the prejudiced medium of England. Every vulgar story told by John Bull about Frenchmen living on salad and frogs was implicitly believed by Brother Jonathan, even by men of education and the first standing in society. When, there-

<sup>\*</sup> The name of John Andrews, which otherwise would have perished with that of a good many excellent associates in business, has been preserved for posterity through the means of a bundle of old letters discovered a few years since, which were written by Andrews to a brother-in-law, William Barrell of Philadelphia. These letters, published in the *Proceedings* of the Massachusetts Historical Society, July, 1865, are known to students as the raciest and most vivid account which we have of life in Boston immediately before and during the siege in 1776. When the letters were found they were submitted to Mr. Breck, who was able by his recollection to identify the persons and places of the letters and to furnish explanations and illustrations. At the time when the letters were shown to him he was eighty-eight years old, and thirty-seven years before he had visited the writer, his uncle, then in his eightieth year.

fore, the first French squadron arrived at Boston, the whole town, most of whom had never seen a Frenchman, ran to the wharves to catch a peep at the gaunt, half-starved, soup-maigre crews. How much were my good townsmen astonished when they beheld plump, portly officers and strong, vigorous sailors! They could scarcely credit the thing, apparent as it was. Did these hearty-looking people belong to the lantern-jawed, spindle-shank race of mounseers? In a little while they became convinced that they had been deceived as to their personal appearance, but they knew, notwith-standing their good looks, that they were no better than frog-eaters, because they had been discovered hunting them in the noted Frog-pond (now Quincy Lake \*) at the bottom of the Common.

With this last notion in his head, Mr. Nathaniel Tracy, who lived in a beautiful villa at Cambridge, made a great feast for the admiral and his officers. Everything was furnished that could be had in the country to ornament and give variety to the entertainment. My father was one of the guests, and told me often after that two large tureens of soup were placed at the ends of the table. The admiral sat on the right of Tracy, and Monsieur de l'Etombe on the left. L'Etombe was consul of France, resident at Boston. Tracy filled a plate with soup, which went to the

<sup>\*</sup> An attempt was afterward made by some persons of the Della Cruscan school to cover this little napkin of water with the title Lake Cochituate, but successive generations of school-boys have preserved the name Frog-pond against all intruders, and Frog-pond it always will remain.

admiral, and the next was handed to the consul. As soon as L'Etombe put his spoon into his plate he fished up a large frog, just as green and perfect as if he had hopped from the pond into the tureen. Not knowing at first what it was, he seized it by one of its hind legs, and, holding it up in view of the whole company, discovered that it was a full-grown frog. As soon as he had thoroughly inspected it, and made himself sure of the matter, he exclaimed, "Ah! mon Dieu! un grenouille!" then, turning to the gentleman next to him, gave him the frog. He received it, and passed it round the table. Thus the poor crapaud made the tour from hand to hand until it reached the admiral. The company, convulsed with laughter, examined the soup-plates as the servants brought them, and in each was to be found a frog. The uproar was universal. Meantime Tracy kept his ladle going, wondering what his outlandish guests meant by such extravagant merriment. "What's the matter?" asked he, and, raising his head, surveyed the frogs dangling by a leg in all directions. "Why don't they eat them?" he exclaimed. "If they knew the confounded trouble I had to catch them in order to treat them to a dish of their own country, they would find that with me, at least, it was no joking matter." Thus was poor Tracy deceived by vulgar prejudice and common report. He meant to regale his distinguished guests with refined hospitality, and had caused all the swamps of Cambridge to be searched in order to furnish them with a generous supply of what he believed to be in France a standing national dish. This entertainment was given in 1778 to the celebrated

Count d'Estaing. The well-known Bougainville \* was in Boston at that time, but could not have been present at Mr. Tracy's dinner, because he was confined by a wound (the loss of his arm) received from the Isis British ship, that had a short time before attacked the Cæsar line-of-battle ship, commanded by the circumnavigator.

While I am recording the wound of this French gentleman, I am reminded by it of a shocking accident that happened to an accomplished young French officer who visited Boston in De Vaudreuil's squadron in the year 1782. He was the son of Laborde, the court banker. and a very promising youth, respected for his professional skill and beloved for his gentle manners and correct morals. One day, when in the country on a shooting-party, he stood carelessly leaning upon his gun, with the muzzle against his armpit. In that situation something accidentally touched the trigger, and the gun went off, making a dreadful wound through the shoulder. During his confinement I went to visit him, and happening to be there when the surgeon came to dress his wound, Laborde called me to look at it. The upper part of the arm was frightfully shattered, and the sight so affected me that I fainted. I was then eleven

\* Louis Antoine de Bougainville, after a brilliant career in the French army, entered the navy after the Peace of Paris (1763), and undertook to establish a French colony in one of the Falkland Islands. The plan failed, owing to objections raised by Spain, and Bougainville then carried on a voyage of discovery in the Southern Pacific, the results of which were set forth in his popular and lively Voyage autour du Monde. When France took part in the American war, Bougainville was appointed to the command of a ship of the line, and did very efficient service.

years old. Poor Laborde recovered, but a few years after he and his brother were engulfed, with a whole boat's crew, in a whirlpool near Nootka Sound, when on a voyage round the world with La Pérouse. La Pérouse left France in 1786, and exquisite Paris, la comédie, la dance, l'amour même, everything, was abandoned for glory. My young friends embarked, and the next year they were drowned. The year after, La Pérouse, his two ships (La Boussole and L'Astrolabe) and both their crews disappeared. Forty-three years after, the island in the Pacific on which they were wrecked was visited, and fragments of the vessels discovered, but not one solitary survivor was found to relate the story of their disaster.\*

Meantime, Laborde, the father, was executed by the guillotine during the French Revolution, and his immense fortune destroyed. When the sons sailed, all the world, for a wonder, happened to be at peace, so that every avenue by war to what is commonly called glory was closed, and the best renown that could be acquired was that which attaches to a voyage of discovery. The revolutionary troubles that desolated their country about the time the Labordes perished would have been as fatal to them, had they remained at home, as the rapids in which they were wrecked. Indeed, they and their companions had at their departure infinitely fewer hazards to encounter amid the vortices of the Pacific and

<sup>\*</sup> La Pérouse's narrative is contained in four quarto volumes, entitled Voyage de la Pérouse autour du Monde, publié conformement au dècret du 22 Avril, 1791, et rédigé par M. L. A. Millet-Mureau, à Paris. De l'Imprimerie de la République, an V. (1797).

from the fiercest cannibals of Polynesia, with the common chances of a voyage of circumnavigation, than they would have found under the bloody rule of Robespierre.

The Nathaniel Tracy of whom I have just spoken had a brother John, who resided at Newburyport. The two had been successful in privateering, but, as is common with men who acquire fortunes in that way, their days of wealth were few; they became poor. Nat died soon after the Revolutionary War closed, and John swam upon corks a little longer, just keeping his head above water. He used to advise those who complained of time hanging heavy and passing slowly to put forth notes of hand, payable at bank in sixty days. "Then," said he, "if you have as little money to discharge them with as I have, you'll find the time pass along quick enough to pay-day." This gentleman was a member of the General Court, and was very desirous to be elected treasurer of the Commonwealth, an officer chosen by the legislature. He applied to several members for their support, and among others to my father, who sat then and for seven years in succession on the Boston seat in the House of Representatives. Tracy was a good-natured fellow and pleasant companion, but by no means fitted for the station he solicited; yet his friends, screened as they were by a ballot vote, did not wish bluntly to deny him. No doubt many gave him hopes of their support. The election took place, and Tracy had one vote only. In great astonishment and mortification, he called his supposed friends around him, and inquiring of each how he voted, received for answer that for all he knew the single vote had been given according to promise, each man hinting a claim to it. After enjoying their embarrassment a little while, he said to them, "Ye are a pack of traitors, and not one of you have anything to do with the vote in my favor, for I put it in myself."\*

When Nathaniel Tracy gave the entertainment to the French officers at Cambridge there was a rich stock of wine concealed in the cellar of the house opposite to his, which, had he known the secret, would have regaled his French guests much better than his frogs. That house had been the head-quarters of General Washington in the autumn of 1775. The war had shut up in Boston almost every kind of luxury. No wine was to be had for the general's table, the absence of which was daily deplored. The house he occupied had been the residence of Thomas Brattle before our civil commotions began. That excellent and amiable gentleman, so well known on the return of peace for his hospitality and refined epicurism, had emigrated and all his property was then under sequestration. Before he left his residence in Cambridge he placed in a vault all his large and valuable stock of old madeira, and caused a wall of masonry to be built up, so as to conceal the

<sup>\*</sup> As one instance of the hazardous game of privateering, it is related that at the end of 1777, Nathaniel and his brother "had lost one and forty ships, and, with regard to himself, he had not a ray of hope but in a single letter of marque of eight guns of which he had received no news. As he was walking one day with his brother, discussing with him how they should procure the means of subsistence for their families, they perceived a sail making for the harbor, which fortunately proved a prize worth £20,000 sterling."—Quoted in Drake's Old Landmarks and Historic Fields of Middlesex, page 300.

precious deposit in the most perfect manner. This vault lay directly under the general's dining-room, and wholly escaped the depredations of the military and others during the war. A floor of boards only separated it from the hot and irritated patriots who so often at the table of the commander-in-chief execrated the rovalists in toasts of bad rum and water, and who, had they discovered the prize that lay at their feet, would have doubly relished it as coming from the vault of a Tory refugee.\* There it lay, however, improving by age, until the year 1784 or '85, when Mr. Brattle, who was a very good and inoffensive man, had his property restored to him; and I doubt not I have often drunk from that rich store at the many delightful parties which I have attended at his house. The vault, as I heard, was found by its owner untouched on his return.

This Mr. Brattle was rather eccentric in the treatment of the feathered tribe, by which he was always surrounded. In his garden was an aviary and suitable ponds for aquatic fowls. There were to be seen imprisoned various singing birds, and at large the stately

\* Mr. Breck had a singularly accurate memory, as tested by contemporaneous accounts and documents, but it is evident that there is some confusion in his mind or in his narrative respecting the Cambridge houses. The house occupied by Nathaniel Tracy was that which formerly had been Washington's head-quarters. The Brattle house could perhaps be said to be opposite, though it would not now be so described, as it stands an eighth of a mile lower down the street on which was Washington's head-quarters, now owned by Professor Longfellow. I cannot find any tradition, moreover, that either in the one house or the other there was any stock of wine concealed, and it is quite certain that the liquors in the cellar of the Brattle house were quickly discovered and appropriated by the soldiers.

32

swan, with all kinds of domestic poultry; some of these were playthings, and others were prepared with great art and no little cruelty for the table. His geese, for example, were at a proper period transferred to the garret, their feet nailed to the floor and their stomachs stuffed with food. This may be a little, and only a little, less rigorous treatment than that in use in the South of France, where these poor creatures are deprived of sight and suspended in baskets, in order that their livers may be enlarged and their carcasses fattened; which, experience shows, will take place when the geese are deprived of exercise and the view of surrounding objects. I think Mr. Brattle, kind-hearted as he was, did not deny his agency in these acts of savageness; at any rate, the circumstance was often mentioned, and his fine geese greatly relished by the gastronomes who fed at his excellent table.

What native of Boston, born in those days, does not regret the prostration of the famous Beacon Hill? It was a beautiful spot, and gave to the town on its first settlement the classic name of Tremont, that hill being one of three that stood in conspicuous elevation on the peninsula. The other two, as some say, were Copp's and Fort Hills, while others think that the cluster along old Tremont street were the heights referred to in naming the town. It is certain that for a short time it bore that beautiful name, and was changed, unfortunately, to gratify and compliment a clergyman who came from Boston in Lincolnshire, England. I call Tremont street old, because the same absence of good taste has again shown itself in relation to the three

hills, by changing the name of the best part of that street into what, think ye?-into something still more worthy of the Emporium of Literature, as my native place is called by its modest inhabitants? Not at all: the substitute is plain Common street!\* Quincy, Otis, Lowell, Lloyd, Webster! what Bœotian ascendency controlled at that moment your usual good taste? Could you not remember that our earliest founders were scholars, who, struck with the physical beauty of the site on which they built, adorned their town with a name of equal beauty, which was relinquished only to please their spiritual father? But may we not lament that the new, original and full-toned Tremont should ever have been dismissed to make room for the secondhand and flat-sounding Boston? In giving up the name of their town, however, our good fathers bestowed it upon the street that runs along the base of the trio; and it was left for their sons of the nineteenth century to level Beacon, one of the three hills, and strike out for ever the remembrance of the other two by substituting a most vulgar for a most melodious name to the greater part, if not all, of Tremont street.

This Beacon Hill was a famous spot, known to everybody who knew anything of Boston. It received its name from a beacon† that stood on it. Spokes were

<sup>\*</sup> The name Tremont street was afterward restored.

<sup>†</sup> The beacon stood, as nearly as can be determined, on the site of the present reservoir. The first one was raised about 1634, and the one described by Mr. Breek in 1768. In November, 1789, it was blown down, and in 1790 a brick monument sixty feet in height was built to the memory of those who fell at Bunker Hill. The monument was taken down and the top of the hill levelled in 1811.

fixed in a large mast, on the top of which was placed a barrel of pitch or tar, always ready to be fired on the approach of the enemy. Around this pole I have fought many battles, as a South End boy, against the boys of the North End of the town; and bloody ones too, with slings and stones very skilfully and carnestly used. In what a state of semi-barbarism did the rising generations of those days exist! From time immemorial these hostilities were carried on by the juvenile part of the community. The schoolmasters whipt, parents scolded-nothing could check it. Was it a remnant of the pugilistic propensities of our British ancestors? or was it an untamed feeling arising from our sequestered and colonial situation? Whatever was the cause, everything of the kind ceased with the termination of our Revolutionary War.\* Perhaps when that period arrived our intercourse with foreign countries and absence of bigotry, religious intolerance and most other illiberal notions had dispelled the angry prejudices which one way or the other attached themselves before to every locality and every class of the community. With what slow degrees the light of toleration, without which there is no good fellowship among men or boys, gains upon nations, has been exemplified in the tardy repeal of the Test acts in England. That light, so snailpaced in monarchical countries, broke in upon us in full splendor in a moment, as it were, and scattered the fogs of superstition, ignorance and inhumanity. From

<sup>\*</sup> These broils were not confined to Boston. They have been common in other cities where circumstances called out partisan feeling. In Philadelphia, for instance, they lasted as late as 1820,

that period to this these low, silly and unprofitable contests have never taken place, nor do I know in our large cities of any remains of local hatred; all is mutual desire to promote the general welfare in each and every section.

I forget on what holiday it was that the Anticks, another exploded remnant of colonial manners, used to perambulate the town. They have ceased to do it now, but I remember them as late as 1782. They were a set of the lowest blackguards, who, disguised in filthy clothes and ofttimes with masked faces, went from house to house in large companies, and, bon gre, mal gré, obtruding themselves everywhere, particularly into the rooms that were occupied by parties of ladies and gentlemen, would demean themselves with great insolence. I have seen them at my father's, when his assembled friends were at cards, take possession of a table, seat themselves on rich furniture and proceed to handle the cards, to the great annoyance of the company. The only way to get rid of them was to give them money, and listen patiently to a foolish dialogue between two or more of them. One of them would cry out, "Ladies and gentlemen sitting by the fire, put your hands in your pockets and give us our desire." When this was done and they had received some money, a kind of acting took place. One fellow was knocked down, and lay sprawling on the carpet, while another bellowed out.

"See, there he lies,
But ere he dies
A doctor must be had,"

He calls for a doctor, who soon appears, and enacts the part so well that the wounded man revives. In this way they would continue for half an hour; and it happened not unfrequently that the house would be filled by another gang when these had departed. There was no refusing admittance. Custom had licensed these vagabonds to enter even by force any place they chose. What should we say to such intruders now? Our manners would not brook such usage a moment. Undoubtedly, these plays were a remnant of the old Mysteries of the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.\*

Connected with this subject and period may be mentioned the inhuman and revolting custom of punishing criminals in the open street. The large whipping-post, painted red, stood conspicuously and permanently in the most public street in town. It was placed in State street, directly under the windows of a great writing-school which I frequented, and from them the scholars were indulged in the spectacle of all kinds of punishments, suited to harden their hearts and brutalize their feelings. Here women were taken from a huge cage, in which they were dragged on wheels from prison, and tied to the post with bare backs, on which thirty or forty lashes were bestowed amid the screams of the culprits and the uproar of the mob. A little farther in the street was to be seen the pillory,† with three or four

<sup>\*</sup> I fear that the connection with the Mysteries would be rather hard to trace, yet this horse-play was most likely of English origin, and flourished only while colonial manners retained distinctions of class. There is a dim likeness to the sports of holidays in England.

<sup>†</sup> The pillory and the stocks were afterward movable machines,

fellows fastened by the head and hands, and standing for an hour in that helpless posture, exposed to gross and cruel insult from the multitude, who pelted them incessantly with rotten eggs and every repulsive kind of garbage that could be collected. These things I have often witnessed, but they have given way to better systems, better manners and better feelings. One amendment is still wanting, however, throughout the nation; it is to execute criminals capitally in the prison-yards, instead of the disgusting exhibition which is now everywhere made in such cases on some open common. These occurrences, I am happy to say, are very rare; but that very circumstance draws together a vast crowd, particularly of women, who ought to be denied an opportunity of gratifying such improper curiosity. The procedure will in time be corrected. "The march of time" demands it even now, and must ere long be obeved.\*

In 1780 my father purchased a house for twelve hundred guineas in gold. It was greatly out of repair, having been occupied, as I have often heard, by Lord Percy, who succeeded to the dukedom of Northumberland, and was in Boston during the siege under Gage. My father put it in excellent repair, and adorned the extensive gardens in the midst of which it stood. For a city placed where most convenient, perhaps moved politely to the house of

the victim. There was a public whipping in Boston as late as 1803.

\* Two years after this was written I had the satisfaction, as a member of the Senate of Pennsylvania, to take an active share in passing a bill that originated with Mr. C. Holcomb through the legislature, directing all executions to be made in the prison-yard, in which way it continues with us now (1843) and in several other States.—S. B.

residence it was remarkably fine, being situate at the corner of Winter and Common streets,\* with an acre of ground around the house divided into a flower and kitchen garden. This property was sold to my uncle Andrews, when we removed in 1792 to Philadelphia, for eight thousand dollars. A few years after he disposed of it for about sixty thousand. The house has since been pulled down and the whole ground built upon. The gardens when in our possession were kept in very neat order, and being exposed to view through a palisade of great beauty were the admiration of every one.

In these gardens my father gave a grand fête on the birth of the dauphin. Drink was distributed from hogsheads, and the whole town was made welcome to the plentiful tables within doors.

Another celebration of a distinguished character I well remember there and on the neighboring Common. It was in honor of the victory over Cornwallis in 1782, when his army surrendered at Yorktown. A huge pyramid of cord-wood fifty feet high was piled up in the middle of the green and fired at night. These rejoicings were more boisterous and hearty than would

<sup>\*</sup>Now Winter and Tremont, Common having been supplanted by Tremont.—S. B. The house is described from recollection by Mr. Lucius Manlius Sargent as "an antique wooden house in the midst of a delightful garden, extending down Winter street, and in the rear to what is now Hamilton Place. This house was once occupied by Sir Francis Bernard, probably till the year of his recall (1769). My mother once pointed out to me the chamber she occupied when she made a visit to the Bernards."—Proceedings of the Mass. His. Soc'y, July, 1865.

be relished at the present day. The formal dinners, dress-balls, long processions and noiseless illuminations by which La Fayette's visit to us in 1824 was celebrated show more refinement, but less vivid gladness.

Speaking of La Fayette, I am reminded of a circumstance that occurred not long after this, which I note here now, although I mean to speak hereafter more at large of "the marquis," as he was then universally called. That young nobleman, whose early career was so useful to us and so honorable to himself, came to Boston in 1783, and was everywhere very deservedly caressed. With our family he was then and ever after on terms of the greatest intimacy. Anxious to show him all that related to our institutions and manners, my father invited him one day to go to Faneuil Hall to hear the discussion of some municipal law then in agitation. "You will see," said he, "the quiet proceedings of our townsmen, and learn by a personal examination how erroneous is the general opinion abroad that a large community cannot be governed by a pure democracy. Here we have in Boston," continued he, "about eighteen thousand inhabitants, and all our town business is done in a general assembly of the people." The marquis, glad of the opportunity, consented to attend my father. By and by the great bell of the celebrated Doctor Samuel Cooper's church, with a dozen others, called the inhabitants together. I forget what the business was, but it inspired universal interest and drew to the hall an overflowing house. The marquis was of course well accommodated, and sat in silent admiration at the demure manner in which the moderator was chosen and inducted to the chair and the meeting fully organized. Then the debate opened. One speaker affirmed, another denied, a third rejoined, each increasing in vehemence until the matter in debate was changed into personal sarcasm. Gibe followed gibe, commotion ensued, the popular mass rolled to and fro, disorder reached its height, and the elders of the town were glad to break up the stormy meeting and postpone the discussion. My father led the marquis out in the midst of the angry multitude. When fairly disengaged from the crowd he said to the illustrious stranger, "This is not the sample which I wished to show you of our mode of deliberating. Never do I recollect to have seen such fiery spirits assembled in this hall, and I must beg you not to judge of us by what you have seen to-day; for good sense, moderation and perfect order are the usual characteristics of my fellow-townsmen here and elsewhere." "No doubt, no doubt," said the marquis, laughing, "but it is well enough to know that there are exceptions to the general rule," or words to that effect, meaning to make a joke of the matter, which was indeed very often afterward the occasion of mirthful remarks upon the forbearance, calmness, decorum and parliamentary politeness ever to be found in deliberative assemblies of pure democracy.

Mr. Johnson, who first settled in Boston, and built the first house there, placed his dwelling on Tremont street, and was buried by his own directions in the spot now forming the Chapel burying-ground. Being a man of singular piety and sincerity, and much beloved by the people, they wished to be buried near him, and this

was the origin of that burying-place. Not far from where his house stood is a house (1816) which was built by the celebrated Sir Henry Vane, and is the oldest house in Boston. We have a family vault in that burying-ground. I remember hearing from a kinsman the following story of an Irish laborer who assisted in building the stone chapel: The workmen had agreed among themselves, when roofing the church, that on the signal being made to leave off work at dinner-time the last man down should treat the others to drink. A little, tight-built, active Irishman was always foremost in getting down stairs, and daily boasted that they never had caught him, and never should. Upon this a scheme was laid to make him treat. His business was to carry up slates for the roof; and one day, when he was at the far end of the building, the bell was rung a few minutes earlier than usual. The workmen, who were all in the secret, rushed to the tower and then to the stairs, when Patrick looked round and instantly guessed their intention. But determined not to be last, he squatted down on a loose piece of slate and fearlessly slid off the roof into the burying-place, where he happened to light, with the slate under him, in a sitting position between two gravestones, and wholly uninjured. He sprang upon his feet and ran to the church-door, where he met the conspirators at the foot of the stairs and triumphantly claimed his treat as usual.

About the period when this took place there came a man from England who entertained the Bostonians with an extraordinary feat at the North Episcopal church,\*

<sup>\*</sup> The use of this term may perhaps help to explain the apparent

which my mother told me she saw performed. The man caused one or more ropes to be carried from the top of the high steeple of that church to the ground, and drawn tight at a base some distance from the edifice. Along these cords he descended head first, and came safely to a pile of feather beds placed there to receive him.

But great as were these performances, they yield in boldness to one which took place in 1789, when I was in Boston. A cooper's apprentice, rather clumsily built, made a bet of a pistareen (twenty cents) that he would ascend to the vane of the Old South meeting-house by the lightning-rod and turn the weathercock. This he executed in mid-day before all those who were passing in the street. The Old South was much abused by the British during the siege, and the Old North, which had been recently repaired, was actually pulled down by them and used for fuel. I mention this last fact with feelings of augmented indignation, because it was the hallowed temple of the Reverend Mr. Checkley, in which I was baptized.

There was another church in School street, of which I intend to speak somewhat at large in the sequel, as I had an agency in reopening it after it had been shut up many years; meantime, the name of this street brings to mind the celebrated Latin School from which it derives its appellation. That school in my day was kept

confusion of the Old North church with its neighbor Christ church, here referred to, which has induced some at the present day to maintain that Paul Revere's lanterns were hung not from Christ church steeple, but from the low tower of the Old North. by Mr. Hunt. He was a severe master, and flogged heartily. I went on, however, very well with him, mollifying his stern temper by occasional presents in money, which my indulgent father sent to him by me. Thus my short career at his school (seventeen or eighteen months) passed without any corporal correction. I was even sometimes selected for the honorable office of sawing and piling his wood, which to most boys is a vastly more delightful occupation than chopping logic, working themes or dividing sums; in short, a translation from intellectual labor to any bodily toil was looked upon as a special favor, and, dunces as we were, we preferred it greatly to a translation from Latin into English.

The Revolutionary War brought many French ships of the line and others into Boston, sometimes to refit, and sometimes to escape the enemy. It became necessary, therefore, to have a permanent agent to collect supplies. The French king honored my father with that appointment, which he held until the peace, greatly to the satisfaction of the several commanders with whom he held intercourse. He sold their prize-goods, negotiated their bills of exchange and furnished the ships of war with all they wanted. He entered upon this business about the year 1779. It was in the summer of the following year, I think, that two or three French frigates were lying at anchor in the harbor, when there appeared off the lighthouse another frigate of that nation, convoying two ships with spars and naval stores, sent round from Newport for the use of the squadron in Boston. Before this convoy could reach the lower

harbor, it was overtaken by a British fifty-gun ship (the Sagittaire, I think), and an engagement was forced on the Frenchman in order to save his store-ships. Making, therefore, a signal for them to take shelter in the harbor, he prepared for battle. This he did with considerable confidence, although his ship mounted only thirty-two guns, because he saw his countrymen at anchor a few miles off with an overwhelming force, and very naturally counted upon their immediate aid.

With the hope, then, of speedy succor, and the certainty of her convoy getting safely into port, the Magicienne-for so the frigate was called-calmly awaited the attack of the British cruiser. It was a fine morning; both ships were close in with the lighthouse; the whole town was in motion and all the heights were crowded with people. I ran with the rest, and reached the top of Beacon Hill. The cannonading had commenced, and was kept up with spirit for an hour, when the Frenchman struck. Those around me who had glasses permitted me to look through them occasionally. appeared to us spectators that when the boats had passed between the ships each vessel was occupied in throwing over the dead and refitting the rigging. All this consumed some hours. In the mean time the crews of the frigates moored in Boston harbor were bustling on shore to get a supply of bread and other matters that might easily have been dispensed with for half a day; but until they were regularly and fully equipped for a cruise they would not stir. I perfectly remember the commotion that prevailed among my father's clerks, agents, bakers and victuallers, all striving to expedite the departure of these ships. The anxiety of the townspeople too was excessive, and severe remarks were made in every quarter on the sluggish behavior of our new allies.

At length, about five o'clock in the afternoon, when the Englishman and his prize were out of sight, our friends weighed anchor and commenced the chase, which lasted until they reached Halifax, at which port the captor and captured ship had arrived the day before. The Frenchmen returned to Boston in about ten days. leaving on the minds of the people of that town no very flattering opinion of their vigilance or courage. I do not find any account of this naval action in either Gordon, Stedman or Marshall's histories of the Revolutionary War, and yet it was an event witnessed by thousands, and of a character sufficiently important for historical record. Twelve years after this engagement I made a journey from London to Holland. While sitting in the boat at Harwich that took me on board the packet, I passed near a frigate that was undergoing repairs, on the stern of which I saw written "Magicienne." It was the very vessel just alluded to.\*

The battle of the 12th of April, 1782, in which the French fleet was defeated by Rodney, obliged De Vaudreuil to keep out of the way of the English until the September equinox approached, when he brought

\* A diligent examination of files of Boston newspapers for the summer of 1780 has failed to show me any report of this encounter; but that is not surprising, since the newspaper of that day performed the very sensible function of telling people what happened elsewhere than in their own town; the news of that place they were supposed to learn by observation and gossip; they read their paper for foreign news.

his fleet to Boston. On entering the Narrows a ship of the line, called the Magnifique, missed stays, went ashore and was lost. There she lay for some years, a melancholy ruin. She was a noble ship. Congress, which had a line-of-battle ship on the stocks at Portsmouth, New Hampshire, gave it to the French king. It was the only ship of that class finished during the Revolution by our government, although not the only one set up. The keel, sternpost and a few ribs of a seventy-four were put together at the foot of Copp's Hill at the north end of Boston, but there the work stopped. The ship given to the French was called the America. She was built of common oak, had been long on the stocks, and I think I heard it said that she never went to sea after her arrival at Brest.

De Vaudreuil's flag-ship, the Triomphant, was brought into the inner harbor, directly opposite the Long Wharf, and hove down. This was done by means of two brigs that were placed on her starboard. She was a fine-modelled eighty-gun ship, and exhibited her larboard bottom covered with copper, looking from the shore like a green island. I often visited her in a sail-boat, and played around her when in that situation. La Couronne, a ship of the same size, was in port at that time. I saw her five years after in drydock at Toulon.

My father's agency for the French had become extremely active, and he felt daily the want of a knowledge of the French language. This was a matter of regret with every gentleman in the town. The early intercourse with the French was through the medium of Latin, and the celebrated Doctor Cooper was a use-

ful and general interpreter. Soon after, some Frenchmen slightly acquainted with English were employed. My father had two in his counting-house (Juteau and Nebonne), who proved intelligent and faithful. Notwithstanding this aid, he found it difficult to act with suitable decision and secrecy—a difficulty that was illustrated by the following incident.

He was dining one day at M. de l'Etombe's, the French consul, when a courier brought a despatch from the Comte de Grasse, who was lying with his fleet in the Chesapeake, about the time of the capture of Lord Cornwallis's army. My father, who was at table, received the despatch, and withdrew to another room to open it. L'Etombe, who was mortified at not having been addressed by the admiral, left his company, approached on tiptoe, and, forgetful of every rule of propriety, peeped over the shoulder of my father, who was glancing at the letter without being able to make out its contents. L'Etombe saw enough, however, before he was discovered, to understand the nature of the despatch, which was indeed of great importance to my father on account of the magnitude of the commission it contained.

Disappointed and vexed at being neglected, the consul wrote to the admiral, as if to remind him of his residence in Boston, and, stung with envy at the favor shown my father, told De Grasse that in a republic everything like a monopoly should be avoided, and that it was contrary to the genius of our institutions to place too much power or profit in the hands of one individual; wherefore he advised him to divide the commission

lately given to Mr. Breck. His advice was favorably received, and a share of the French agency on this occasion was transferred to another.

This piece of treachery my father, with his accustomed goodness, soon forgave and forgot, but it led him to a determination to have his children taught the French language, and even inspired him with a desire to learn it himself. Accordingly, a master was procured, and Governor Hancock, being then at home, associated himself with my father in the attempt. It proved abortive with both; their age and numerous occupations were a bar to all progress, and the scheme was given up. But his resolution respecting his children was persevered in, and generally fully accomplished. Three of us spoke French fluently, and all had some knowledge of the language.

For my share, it was settled in the family that I should be sent to a college in France for my education by the first suitable opportunity. Preparations were soon made, and on the 24th of December, 1782, I embarked in the frigate Iris. M. de Vaudreuil, who commanded the fleet at Boston, and now despatched this frigate to France, had recommended to my father the College of Sorèze in Lower Languedoc, in the neighborhood of the admiral's castle and village of Vaudreuil. This recommendation was accompanied by letters from him to the principal, the Very Reverend Dom Despaul, to the Marchioness de Vaudreuil, and to Monsieur Bethman, the Austrian imperial consul at Bordeaux. I was, moreover, placed by that kind nobleman under the care of the Chevalier de Chalvet, a major in Roch-

ambeau's army, who was returning to France, and who, his home being at Toulouse, only twenty-four miles from the college, undertook to see me safe there. To all this kindness the admiral added special directions to the Marquis de Traversé, who commanded the Iris, to take me into his own cabin.

A cot was swung for me, accordingly, in the round-house, occupied by the captain, and thus at eleven years and six months I left my beloved parents and native land. It was the season of strong winds, and when we weighed anchor a powerful north-wester (that tyrant of North America, as De Crevecœur calls it) set in, and took us in three marine days to soundings on the Banks of Newfoundland. With this and other favorable winds we sailed immensely fast, perhaps averaging for days together three hundred miles in twenty-four hours.

Meantime, I recovered from sea-sickness, and passed my time very well. The discipline then, and indeed until within a few years, was exceedingly lax. The captain had no separate table allowed him in the French navy; the officers all dined together, captain, lieutenants, master, surgeons and midshipmen, and they were all "hail fellow, well met!" there. The youngest guardmarine treated the commander with familiarity, using the language of the et toi in conversation. I shall have occasion hereafter to illustrate this fact by further examples. The war was still raging, and we had several alarms in our short run; particularly one night, when the drum beat to arms and the ship was cleared for action. Such helter-skelter, such hurry and commo-

tion, I had of course never seen before. It was past bed-time, and many of us had turned in. Hearing the noise, I ran upon deck, jumped upon a gun and saw a sail close by, coming athwart our bows. She passed us, and as our ship was directed not to alter her course for any cause whatever, we gladly let the stranger go. What sort of a battle we should have made I know not. Being ordered below, I can only say that in passing through the great dinner-room on the main deck, into which the water-closets opened, I saw a good many people anxiously waiting at the doors. If it be true that fright operates medicinally, there were then certainly strong symptoms of its effect.

The alarm subsided with the disappearance of the strange sail, and in three days after we arrived on the coast of France. It was the morning only of the sixteenth day since we left Boston that we anchored at the mouth of the Loire, opposite to Bel Isle, and here we found a small American schooner that had arrived the day before, having left Marblehead one day before we sailed, and consequently making her passage in the same time that we made ours. There sail at the present day from Boston, New York and Philadelphia to England and France between forty and fifty fine ships, the departure of which is periodical and punctual. These packets are fast sailers, and frequently perform the voyage to Liverpool in twenty days. I sometimes tell the young people who boast of this, and consider the speed of these modern ships without example in old times, that nearly half a century ago we could get along faster; and I prove it by the two foregoing passages, in which a distance of at least two hundred and fifty miles more than to Liverpool was run in less time.

As our voyage had been made in a little more than a fortnight, I told Mr. J. Allen, whom I met at Nantes, and who inquired after my father's health, that I could almost say that I shook hands with him last week. The ship in which we made this rapid passage was built in America by the State of Massachusetts, and called the Hancock. She was a thirty-two-gun frigate, constructed on the Merrimack River of common oak. and, being launched in a hurry, was not expected to last long. The English made prize of her, and lost her to'the French, who took her in the Chesapeake, and retained the name of Iris, which she had received from the English. Her frame and whole hull, indeed, being nothing but unseasoned timber, put together four or five years before, she could not be worth much; and it turned out that while her weakness contributed, by the flexibility of her frame, to her swift sailing, it greatly endangered our lives, had we met with adverse gales. On her arrival at L'Orient she was condemned as unseaworthy. The hazard of a rotten vessel I cared little about then, and was probably glad to get along fast even by the play of the decayed knees and limber joints of a crazy ship; but my motto now is "Moderate haste and sound vehicle."

## CHAPTER II.

First View of France.—Nantes,—Boston in France.—La Rochelle,—
Rochefort.—Bordeaux.—Toulouse.—Sorèze.—Holidays at the Castle
of the Marquis de Vaudreuil.—The Course of Study at Sorèze.—
School-Life.—Balloons,—Blanchard.—Mesmer.— Lightning-Rods.
—Distinguished Families at Sorèze—La Pérouse.—Dom Crozal and
Quétain.—Confession and Mass.—Journey to Paris.—Political Excitement in Paris.—Crevecœur.—High Life.—Beaumanoir.—De Valady.
—Brissot de Warville.—Journey to Havre.—Fellow-Passengers on
Return Voyage.—Arrival at New York.

CAPTAIN TRAVERSÉ left the ship immediately, in order to deliver his despatches personally at Versailles. The frigate, after his departure, ascended the river some leagues toward Pembœuf, near which village the passengers disembarked.

The first aspect of La Belle France was exceedingly repulsive. On landing at that village we passed a gang of ragged boys who were playing pitch-penny, and entered a dark and dirty street. Scarcely had I taken a seat in a miserable inn that stood there, when a compound of villainous smells arose from every quarter and everything, which made me sick at the stomach; nor did I cease vomiting for many hours. Cheese, garlic, noxious odors and pungent steams, new to the smell and horribly disgusting, occasioned a feeling of deep

sorrow at having left my dear country, and made me for the first time exceedingly homesick.

A boat was hired at this outport to take us thirty miles up the Loire to Nantes. Before we reached that city I grew better, and gradually my home-longings ceased, never to return. The day was fine, and the splendid banks of that celebrated river, smiling with culture, although in winter, and decked with hamlets, villas and castles, soon banished every regret and lightened my heart again, so that when we landed a little before dark on the fine quay of Nantes, amidst the moving crowd, all various and new to me, a strong sensation of astonishment and pleasure wholly dispersed the gloom of the morning.

M. de Chalvet led me to the Hôtel de l'Empereur, where we were not a little surprised to find our captain, who with the nonchalance customary in public service at that day was taking a little repose, thinking, no doubt, that he might loiter a short time on land after having made such haste on the water. The hotel in which we lodged had been very recently new named, and received its imperial title from the circumstance of the emperor Joseph II., who was then on his travels, having lodged there when he visited Nantes. It was a fine house, and here we stayed four or five days, during which we explored the city, went to the play, to concerts, and to dinners. It was the custom for persons of any distinction to enter the theatre behind the scenes. even while the play was going on. My protector was indulged with this privilege, and after the curtain dropped he took me to the green-room, where I was

much caressed by the actresses, who, as well as the ladies of the best society in town, filled my pockets with bon-bons, and in noticing me thus affectionately called me "le petit Bostonian." It was indeed by the name of Bostonian that all Americans were known in France then. The war having broken out in Boston, and the first great battle fought in its neighborhood, gave to that name universal celebrity. I remember a song that was in fashion, the chorus of which was:

"Bon, Bon, Bon,
C'est à Boston
Qu'on entend souffé les canons."

Coffee-houses took that name, and a game invented at that time, played with cards, was called "Boston," and is to this day exceedingly fashionable at Paris by that appellation.\*

An old friend of my father's, the late General Williams, resided at Nantes, and I spent a day with him. His house fronted on the long quay, the pride of the city, which, constructed as it was of hewn stone, left a wide space of the smoothest pavement for the multitude that frequented it in carriages and on foot. Here ran the magnificent Loire, whose waters, now alive with trade, were destined in ten years to be the grave of so many of the then rising generation. It was here that the monster Carrier destroyed the flower of the town; here his Noyades, midnight drownings, and republican

<sup>\*</sup> Madame de Genlis speaks of this game and its origin in her *Mémoires*. The game has by no means become extinct, as witness the Boston parties still given in Philadelphia and elsewhere.

marriages, as the fiend called them, took place. The most delicately-educated women, young and beautiful, were tied naked to naked men, and either sunk in boats in the river or knocked on the head and thrown from the quay. Thousands upon thousands perished by the order of that detested man, who, finding the guillotine too slow for his destructive rage, cast boatloads of victims into the river, night after night, for many months. Thus it was throughout France, in those days of Terror, that the sacred names of Liberty and Republicanism were abused and made hateful by the more than hellish crimes which the rulers of that unhappy country dared to commit under their sanction.

Nantes was in 1783 a prosperous town, filled with a happy community, celebrated in history as the residence of Henri IV. when he issued his decree of religious toleration, so impolitically revoked by his bigoted grandson, Louis XII. It is again the seat of an active commerce, and has, by the aid of trade and manufactures, recovered in part its former wealth. No town in the kingdom suffered more during the phrenetic rule of Robespierre.

After reposing ourselves a few days here, M. de Chalvet hired a carriage to take us to La Rochelle. At this place we made a short stay, and purchased, for thirty louis, a *chaise de poste*, in which we made the remainder of our journey with post-horses. La Rochelle is a pretty town, with several of its streets neatly paved, and affording to the foot-passenger a luxury at that time known in scarcely any city of France. A separate pavement not only protected him from the horses

and carriages, but an arcade connected with the houses sheltered him from the rain and sun. This town has about eighteen thousand inhabitants, who are pretty actively occupied in commerce and manufactures. It was long the head-quarters of Protestantism, and resisted during a long siege the celebrated Cardinal de Richelieu, who spent thirty millions of livres in this conquest, principally in the construction (in 1628) of the famous dike, the remains of which are still visible at low water. It was a mighty work, of great solidity and seven hundred and forty-seven perches in length. Several very considerable islands can be seen from the harbor, such as Oléron. Ré, Aix, etc.

Rochefort was the next town at which we stopped for a day or two. It was then a royal naval-station, with suitable arsenals, docks, ropewalks, sailcloth manufactories, etc. The river Charente, on which it stands, is exceedingly deep, but narrow. There were fifteen thousand inhabitants in that town. We were now in the wine country, and on reaching the old and once opulent town of Saintes came to a mart of eighteen thousand tuns of wine, drawn from the surrounding country, which is converted into brandy and spirit-ofwine. This town, that counts now only ten thousand inhabitants, was formerly much more populous. It appeared to me to contain dark and dirty streets, which gave it an air of unusual gloom. It stands at a short distance from the left bank of the Charente. The remains of its past greatness are the ruins of an amphitheatre and a white marble arch at the bridge of the Charente.

At Bordeaux, where we next arrived, we spent a week. Here it was that my future correspondent and guardian resided. Mr. Bethman, to whom the Marquis de Vaudreuil had given me the warmest letters of recommendation, was, as I have said before, the consulof the emperor of Germany, and moreover an eminent merchant, connected with the Bethmans of Frankfort. He received me in the most cordial manner, and presuming that it would be dull for me in his family, on account of my ignorance of the French language, begged, in a day or two after my arrival, his particular friend. Mr. Barton, to let me reside with him. Mr. Barton was an Irish merchant, living very splendidly on the Quai des Chartrons, with the fine river Garonne and all the trade of that great town passing in front of his house. His family spoke English, and he had children of my age to entertain me. I never shall forget the pleasant days I spent with that good gentleman.

The superb theatre was recently finished, and eclipsed then, as I believe it does now, every edifice of the kind in France. The *ballet* surprised me most. Never had I conceived it possible to dance as the performers did there. Bordeaux was at that day (1783) in the most flourishing state. Never at any period of its history had its opulence and extent exceeded it. New projects for its adornment and convenience were daily suggested; particularly one, which was to demolish the castle (Château Trompette) and make its commanding site a point of convergence for thirteen new streets, that were to be lined with houses of the most beautiful architecture, constructed of the fine yellow, or rather cream-

colored, freestone, already so advantageously displayed in many modern public and private buildings. This scheme and several others then talked of were strangled in their birth by the blighting effects of the Revolution, in which Bordeaux suffered as much as any city in France.\* From a population of one hundred and twelve thousand she was in a few years reduced to forty thousand, and her trade proportionally diminished. This made her ultra-royalist in her politics; and when the Bourbons were restored she gave such strong testimonials of attachment to the duchess of Angoulême that the king has given the title of duke of Bordeaux to the presumptive heir to his throne. The Château de la Brède, three leagues from the city, belonged to the celebrated Montesquieu. There he was born, and there he lived and died. The present archbishop of this city is the former Bishop Cheverus of Boston, to whom I mean to refer again soon.

Montauban, a town of more than twenty thousand inhabitants, lies on the road to Toulouse, and in passing through it I was delighted to find that the fame of my native place had reached the centre of France by observing over the door of a large house in the most public part of the town the words "Café de Boston." We travelled rapidly in our cabriolet, and arrived in a few days at Toulouse, which was the home of my guardian and friend, M. de Chalvet. He took me to the house of his sister, a maiden lady, who bestowed

<sup>\*</sup> It will be remembered that Bordeaux was the stronghold of the Girondins, and suffered bitterly when that party went down before the fierce onslaught of the Mountain.

upon me every desirable attention. After a little rest I was shown the town, and conducted to the château of the chevalier's elder brother. It was a large brick house, situate in a fine open country, and dignified by the name of castle, as is the custom in France. Any house in the country larger than a villa or cabane ornée is denominated a castle, notwithstanding the absence of everything that formerly constituted a château. No castellated towers, drawbridge, walls or ditch are now required. A house a little larger than common passes for a grand or petit seigneur's château. M. de Chalvet's brother was very well lodged. His house contained many fine rooms and a billiard-table. It was an establishment befitting the head of a rich family.

Toulouse is a city of fifty thousand people, and very ancient. It stands upon the right bank of the Garonne. just where the celebrated Canal of Languedoc terminates to the west, having its eastern termination on the Mediterranean near Cette. This city was once ornamented with an amphitheatre, a capitol and many other superb buildings, which were destroyed by the Visigoths. Once the seat of learning, it possessed as early as 1229 a university, several academies, and the first literary society ever formed in Europe, called Jeux Floraux. The town-house, called Capitole, is the finest in the kingdom. The mill of Basacle, put in motion by the Garonne, the waters of which turn sixteen millstones without the usual racket of other mills, is very curious. The walks here, as well as in all the cities of France, are superb. It is a place of considerable trade in silk.

wool, grain, wine and lumber. It manufactures silk stuffs for furniture, and gauze, printed muslins, etc.

Having passed several days here very agreeably, my friend and conductor hired a carriage to take me to the "Royale et Militaire" College of Sorèze, situate off the post-road, at the foot of the Black Mountains (a spur of the Pyrenees), and twenty-four miles distant from Toulouse. We left the ancient capital of Languedoc (so much resembling an American city by the universal use of bricks in the construction of private houses), and came to Castelnaudary, where we slept. It was at this town that the troops of the Cardinal de Richelieu, in the reign of Louis XIII., defeated Gaston, Duc d'Orleans, and captured the Duc de Montmorency, whose head he caused to be cut off as a warning to the feudal aristocracy of France, which this act of vigor completely humbled. We arrived next morning at the beautiful plain of Revel, in which the little town of Sorèze stands. The first thing that meets the traveller's eye in approaching the place is a lofty tower, built by Pepin le Bref about seven hundred years ago. That prince is said to have founded the monastery, now occupied by about twenty-seven Benedictine monks, to whom was committed the care of more than four hundred boys.

St. Benedict, the founder of this religious order, prescribed as a rule, as far back as the fifth century, that in order to banish idleness his monks should superintend the instruction of youth—a duty to which they have ever been attentive, more especially since the dispersion of the Jesuits. At the time I am speaking of

(1783) that order had the entire management of the twelve royal and military schools of France, among which Sorèze, by its size and talented teachers, stood conspicuous.

The letter from the Marquis de Vaudreuil of which I was bearer, and those sent on from Bordeaux by Mr. Bethman, together with the personal introduction by the Chevalier de Chalvet, could not fail to procure me, on the part of the principal, a most cordial reception. Cheered as I was by the fine buildings of the college, the lovely landscape that surrounds them, and already accustomed to the manners of the French, I entered upon my studies with a light heart and contented mind. The venerable and learned superior, Dom Despaulx, embraced me with parental affection, and recommended me to the protection of the sub-director, Dom Crozal, who acted as my prefect, and never intermitted the kindest treatment of a friend and father during our connection of more than four years. Very able layteachers assisted the monks, and taught everything fitted to give a solid education, intermixed with every variety of ornamental or pleasing instruction. Thus, besides the ancient and modern languages and exact sciences, drawing, music, dancing, riding, fencing, military exercises, etc. were a part of our daily occupation; so that notwithstanding we were at our lessons during ten hours and a quarter every day, except Sundays, a judicious interchange of the serious with the lighter matter prevented fatigue.

About the second year of my residence at Sorèze, the Marquis de Vaudreuil arrived at his castle, and as

a very particular favor I was permitted to accept of an invitation to pass two or three days with the marquis's family, the rules of the college, except on special occasions, not allowing a departure from its walls for a night. The Castle de Vaudreuil is a real fortress, with moat, wall, gateway, towers, etc. It was not more than eight miles from the college. Previous to the day appointed for this visit I had been required to study a part assigned to me in a play that was to be enacted at the castle as an item in the programme of amusements getting up in honor of the arrival of the lord of the domain. About a mile from the castle we saw conspicuously erected the marquis's escutcheon, to denote the commencement of his estate, and as we came in front of the main gateway a very considerable village. from the name of which the admiral took his title, was seen stretching along the foot of the hill on which the castle stood. I was associated in the play with the three daughters of the marquis, all of whom were exquisitely pretty and possessed of manners the most fascinating.

The eldest, who was afterward married to the eccentric Marquis de Valady (of whom more by and by), was not more than seventeen, and a more bewitching girl was seldom seen. Her sisters wanted only the development of her years to equal her in grace and beauty. A young brother, Comte Philip, and another sprig of nobility, his friend, made up the *dramatis personæ*. A stage was erected in a building in the courtyard, and here we rehearsed before the marchioness

while she was at her toilet in the pit. There sat that remarkable lady whose subsequent history was so full of adventure. She was endowed with a commanding presence and dignified manners. Scarcely past her middle age, her features assumed almost the loveliness of her daughters as her Abigail powdered her dark hair and decorated it with a toupillion of pearls or diamonds, and more especially when a delicate tinge of carmine was spread upon her cheek and her temple-veins were pencilled with blue. While the wonder-working art of the dame d'atours was going on we went through our piece. My share was to narrate, interlocutorally, the naval exploits of the good admiral on the American station. How these speeches were composed I cannot recollect, but it is very certain that there must have been a large proportion of fiction in them to have made them at all complimentary; for the principal achievement of De Vaudreuil after De Grasse's capture was to bring a division of the defeated fleet to Boston. We went through, nevertheless, taut bien que mal, and in the afternoon mingled with the peasantry of the surrounding country, who came in great numbers to huzza and dance in front of the castle. In the evening our theatre was crowded, and we again did our best. This was rare sport for a boy who had been shut up between four walls at hard study for eighteen months; it was too delightful to last long, and the third day I was led back to prison. Ah! how long did the sweet image of those young ladies haunt my mind and unfit me for my books! But time, that cures most wounds, healed all mine. Notwithstanding, I was permitted afterward to converse occasionally with them at the college concert, to which they sometimes came on a Sunday evening.

Not far from the castle and village of De Vaudreuil is to be seen the great basin of Saint-Feriol, which is a vast reservoir of water, covering more than five hundred acres, from which the Canal of Languedoc is supplied. These objects, joined to fertile fields, high mountains and ample vineyards, create views of picturesque beauty and specimens of art of extensive utility; all contributing to justify the character and fame which Languedoc has long possessed for the industry of its people and the richness of its soil.

Education at the College of Sorèze was exceedingly cheap, being for natives of France only seven hundred livres (about one hundred and thirty-seven dollars) a year, including clothing, lodging, board, physician, etc., etc. For those scholars who came from abroad the price was one thousand livres (one hundred and ninetyfive dollars). This difference arose out of the necessity of taking foreigners whenever they presented themselves, which sometimes created an inconvenience that could not occur with natives, because they were made to wait until a vacancy took place. The king paid for about fifty boys, the sons of officers of decayed fortunes. A number of scholars who did not study the dead languages were denominated pas-latins (or non-Latin students), and were separated into four divisions, each division applying itself for a year to some one of the following objects: history; geography; mathematics, including engineering, surveying, fortification for defence and attack; the theory and practice of perspective; every variety of drawing, from the human figure to topography; architecture; natural philosophy; natural history; astronomy; the French, English, German, Italian and Spanish languages. Chemistry was not taught in my day, but mineralogy and geology were included in the mineral kingdom of natural history. To these were added military tactics, fencing, riding, music, dancing, swimming, etc.

With such various means for a good education, without Greek or Latin, many of the merchants, Creole planters and small land-owners gave to their sons competent instruction; nay, very many of the children of poor officers, as already mentioned, were by the bounty of the king, like Napoleon,\* taught here, who, although enrolled with the pas-latins, rose subsequently to posts in the civil and military departments of government of the highest dignity. Very long experience in that seminary has shown that the Latin and non-Latin classes can go on with kindred feeling and perfect harmony in the study of various branches common to them both under one and the same collegiate government. I prefer, undoubtedly, an education bottomed on a full knowledge of the dead languages; yet it may not be deemed indispensable.

Everything was abundant and exceedingly cheap in this fine country. In good seasons it was customary at the vintage to fill a barrel of wine in payment for an

<sup>\*</sup> In referring to Napoleon Bonaparte I do not mean to say that he was educated at Sorèze, but at one of the twelve colleges (Brienne) under the special control of the king, and regulated by one and the same system.—S. B.

empty cask of like capacity; and the retail price of a small-bodied red wine was two sols, or a little less than two cents, a bottle. The fine, large marron chestnuts were brought to us, on days of recreation, for a cent a hundred, all hot and roasted; a hundred English walnuts were purchased for the same price; so that four cents a week-which was the usual sum allowed each scholar for pocket-money—was, trifling as it appears in America, sufficient for the purchase of those luxuries which our table did not supply. My excellent and ever-indulgent father chose to allow me half a dollar a week, and nothing could give the scholars, and even the monks, a greater idea of my father's boundless wealth, as they said, than this munificent pension. With it I had a small carriage built, in which, on days of recreation, when we walked into the country in classes accompanied by a Benedictine, I caused myself to be drawn by half a dozen boys, who made a frolic of it, and partook afterward of my ample purchases of fruit

Our college life was always diversified by the variety of our studies, and sometimes by transient visits of distinguished strangers, itinerant showmen, and once a year by the dreaded arrival of the king's inspector. This last was a severe man, and in the eyes of the scholars a surly tyrant. He generally suggested some unpopular regulation, and appeared to execute his duty in a rough and discourteous way, which contrasted very strongly with the mild and truly parental demeanor of the good monks. When a great man paid the institution a visit these very reverend fathers made every

effort to please him; thus, on the arrival of M. de Brienne, Archbishop of Toulouse, a general jubilee prevailed, and it was on that occasion, I think, that we raised the first balloon in that section of France.

Aërostation was the topic of the day. The two brothers, Messieurs Stephen and John Montgolfier, had exhibited in the fall of 1783, before the Academy of Sciences at Paris, several experiments showing that bags of linen, lined with paper and filled with heated air, would fly upward, and carry with them a great weight. A vast machine was next constructed at Versailles for the entertainment of the court, the height of which was sixty feet and diameter forty-three. It was finely decorated with water-color paintings, and had appending a wicker cage in which were placed a sheep, a cock and a duck. These animals, the first that ever took an excursion in the air by the agency of man, ascended to the height of fourteen hundred and forty feet, and after sailing about two miles came down uninjured. The method of inflating the balloon was by burning chopped straw and wool under the aperture; and, encouraged by the successful voyage of these animals, M. Pilatre de Rozier proposed to make a new aërostatic machine of a larger construction, and offered himself to be the first aërial adventurer. His attempt was prosperous, and frequently repeated afterward, when balloons were filled with inflammable air; but at last he and a Mr. Romane were killed by the machine taking fire at a height of three-quarters of a mile. There is a monument erected to these unfortunate men or to the two brothers Roberts somewhere on the road between Paris and Calais, which I recollect

seeing in 1791. Our college balloon was a globe of some fifteen feet diameter, and after being filled with hot air went off to a great distance.

The bravest aërial traveller of those days was the celebrated Blanchard, whom I knew personally, and who ascended in 1792 at Philadelphia.\* I was likewise intimately acquainted with Doctor Jeffries, who crossed the British Channel in a balloon with Blanchard on the 7th of January, 1785. The doctor was a native of Boston, and died in America. Nothing ever undertaken with balloons was so daring as this, nor executed with more skill or amid greater danger. Two or three times the travellers were brought down almost to the water, and rescued from drowning only by throwing out, along with their ballast, their books, provisions, anchors and clothes. Thus lightened, the machine brought them safe to land. I have heard the account of this trip from Blanchard given with feelings of asperity that were not reciprocated in my hearing by the doctor. The Frenchman was from some cause or other displeased, and being intent upon revenge took a very public manner of insulting his companion. He employed Fielding, the best coachmaker of Philadelphia, to build him a vehicle that was to go without horses. The machinery that moved it was worked by a man standing on the footboard behind, who by the alternate pressure of his feet set the wheels going and expanded

\*Blanchard's ascent at Philadelphia gave him occasion to print an amusing account, which he dedicated to President Washington; the account is full of grimaces, shrugs and literary posturings. The ascent, however, created a most lively interest in Philadelphia, both among the people and the savants.

the wings of an eagle, that by constantly flapping them seemed to draw the carriage along by its flight. On the panels of this carriage, which was exhibited in all the large towns in the United States, he caused the doctor to be painted in the balloon, with a bottle of brandy to his mouth, intimating by the motto beneath that without the aid of this Dutch courage his fortitude would have wholly forsaken him.

Blanchard was a petulant little fellow, not many inches over five feet, and weighing about one hundred and twenty pounds, thus physically well suited for vaporish regions. He married after he returned to Europe a woman who eclipsed all others by her bold feats in the air, until one night she made an ascension over Paris for the purpose of playing off fireworks, when the balloon suddenly exhibited a universal blaze, and to the dismay of the numerous spectators the poor lady was dashed on the roof of a house, from which she rolled dead into the street.

It so happened that I had never been present at the balloon ascension of a human being—and I used sometimes to regret it—when one day, about the year 1816, being at dinner at Sweetbrier, the servants informed me that a balloon was sailing over the lawn. On running out we were very unexpectedly gratified with the sight of a man swinging to and fro in a car attached to a handsome globe, and waving a flag with great spirit and confidence. He did not appear to be more than three hundred feet high, and after a short stay near our house desended in a field at Mantua, about three-quarters of a mile from us.

70

During my residence at Sorèze we were visited, I think, by Doctor Mesmer himself, or one of his pupils, at the time when animal magnetism was in great repute in France. It was said that many cures had been effected by its means. This magnetism was then called "an universal fluid constituting an absolute plenum in nature, and the medium of all mutual influence between the celestial bodies, and betwixt the earth and animal bodies." "The animal body is subjected to the influences of this fluid by means of the nerves, which are immediately affected by it." This was part of the theory. A commission was given by the king to several learned men, at the head of whom was our celebrated countryman, Doctor Franklin. After many experiments they reported against it in every respect; but the members of the French Academy, who likewise examined the subject, made one exception to its utter uselessness, and in these words: "It constitutes one fact more to be consigned to the history of the errors and illusions of the human mind, and a signal instance of the power of imagination." Whoever the magnetizer was that visited our college, the credulous peasantry rushed upon him from all quarters; the lame, the blind, the diseased of every sort who could get abroad threw themselves in his way and entreated him to cure them, as he had done their countrymen wherever he had travelled.

These poor people were not so willing to avert the electric fluid from their houses as they were to receive the magnetic fluid into their bodies. The fact was this: Our professor of natural philosophy was desirous to

erect on the old lofty tower that stood near the church mentioned as having been built by Pepin le Bref a lightning-rod, very properly called at that time a "Franklin;" but the prejudice and superstition of the people prevented it. "God casts his thunderbolts," said they, "where He lists, and it is presumption in man to endeavor to turn them aside." Nevertheless, these poor people had, from time immemorial, made use of the bell in the tower to drive away the lightning, so that whenever a thunder-cloud approached the bell was rung to keep it off. After much altercation with the curate and his people, the professor caused a tower to be built, resembling in miniature the one that stood by the church, and having charged his electric machine invited the curate to witness the practical effect of the conductor. Having placed a rod to his tower properly pointed, he brought the electric flash to it, and carried it along the rod to a basin of water, where it was extinguished without doing the least injury to the tower. This he repeated several times in order to convince the good curate of the perfect efficacy of the conductor. When he had made some impression upon his mind he removed the lightning-rod, and directed the electric spark to the tower thus unprotected, which it demolished in a moment; and with it fell all the curate's objections, who forthwith aided in the erection of a rod on the old tower. This was done while I was at college. It was a signal triumph of science over deeprooted ignerance and prejudice.

One Sunday, as we were going to church in the afternoon, attended by a monk, we saw a man climbing up

that very rod. He had got out on the top of the high tower, and was ascending the slender conductor that projected beyond it about twenty feet. His situation was perilous in the extreme, and our good monk, expecting him every instant to fall, stood with his right arm stretched out, in order to give him a blessing when on his way to the other world; but the fellow, who, we afterward heard, was a sailor, had his frolic out and descended uninjured.

Among our scholars were several foreigners of very distinguished rank. I found there on my arrival the four Seras from Genoa. Whoever has visited that city of palaces must have seen the palace of Sera. These sons of that ci-devant wealthy family were known apart by the comparative designation of Maximus, Major, Minor and Minimus. The eldest was a brilliant scholar, and left a great reputation for good conduct when he graduated. But his life was short, for he caught cold at a ball soon after his return home, and died. From Italy we had likewise the Prince de Carignan, under the borrowed name of De Baige. This young gentleman had a Sardinian chamberlain to attend him as governor. I lived under the same prefect with him, and upon intimate terms. He was about fifteen years old, of a kind and social disposition, and wholly devoid of pride. He has been dead many years, and left a son, the present Prince de Carignan, who is heir to the throne of Sardinia, which he came near forfeiting by his participation in the revolutionary commotions of 1818. The Duke de Cassano in the kingdom of Naples had two sons there, and the Count O'Reilly, governor of Cadiz, sent two of his sons there likewise. The usual number of students was about four hundred and ten.

While I was at college the famous La Pérouse, to whom I have already briefly alluded, departed from the port of L'Orient on the voyage of discovery that terminated so fatally. He had recently visited Boston in the frigate Astræa, and was particularly intimate with my father. I have a rich snuff-box, very beautifully ornamented with gold and precious stones and a basrelief of exquisite workmanship representing the King of France reviewing his guards. This box was given by him to my father, as the family suppose, and as I think I have heard from that worthy parent myself, when speaking of La Pérouse, as he often did, in terms of warm friendship, describing him as kind, well-bred, and fitted by his courteous manners to inspire universal respect and regard. The printed fragment of his voyage from L'Orient to Port Jackson in Australia, and the recent discovery of the island where he lost his two ships and every soul of their numerous crews, have made his name known to all the world.

This is a proper place to mention a very curious passage in the life of my prefect, the reverend monk Dom Crozal, who was preparing to accompany me on a tour through France. That very worthy gentleman was the sub-director of the college, and possessed great authority. It happened one afternoon that the class of geography to which I belonged was left alone in the room without a teacher. More than half an hour passed, and no master came. This was enough to put mischief into the boys' heads, and some one suggested that we might

74

have a good deal of fun by turning the front of the map to the wall when poor Dom Dupain, who was as blind as a bat, should come into school. This reverend Father could see no object that was not brought up to the point of his nose. He was a good-natured man, and the boys frequently made a jest of him with impunity. Something had detained him that day, and before he arrived the large map of Europe was turned wrong side out. At length he came and placed himself in front of the naked back of the map. He held in his hand a short stick and a volume of La Croix's Geography. He whose turn it was went on with a description of Germany until he came to Vienna. There the young rogue stopped and declared he could see nothing like Vienna. "Poh, poh, child!" said the monk, putting his stick to the bare canvas, "there it stands on the Danube. Don't you see it?"-" No, my father, I assure you it is not there." The monk persisted in affirming it must be there, and as he spoke he thrust the little rod most vehemently against the map. It was impossible to suppress our smothered laugh any longer, and the room echoed with a loud burst. Upon this the good Father approached the map so very near that he discovered the trick. Indignant at such conduct, he seized with both hands the two boys nearest to him. These happened to be a tall lad by the name of Quétain and myself. I made no resistance, but went upon my knees as ordered by Dom Dupain. Not so Quétain, who was a stout fellow, and refused, alleging that he had nothing to do in the business. It so happened that in the scuffle a piece of iron hoop fell out of the side-pocket of Quétain, which the exasperated monk supposed he meant to use against him. This he always maintained, and it was one reason for Quétain's subsequent expulsion.

Meantime, the well-known public whipper, Dujardin. arrived, and without form or process was directed to chastise me. To this I stoutly objected, bawling out that I had never yet been whipped, and begged the kind Father to pause and discriminate between the guilty and innocent before he inflicted an unjust punishment on me. My expostulation being listened to, Dujardin was turned over to Quétain, who, however, persisted in his resistance, and was sent to prison. This poor fellow was the son of an indigent officer, and was one of the fifty scholars paid for by the king. These royal pensioners were not much in favor with the governors of the college, probably because they were less profitable to them than the other boys, and very likely, too, because they were poor. Be that as it may, they were on all occasions severely judged, and on the present one Quétain was expelled. Now, to a royal pensioner an expulsion from college closed against him for ever the patronage of the Crown. No post could afterward be obtained for him under government; so that when driven from Sorèze he might be said to have all his prospects ruined. In this expulsion Dom Crozal had a principal hand. The complaint was referred to him, and connecting, as he no doubt did, this offence with the poor fellow's general conduct, he chose him for an example, and sent him home.

The Revolution broke out in a few years after, when Quétain, finding himself precluded from any chance of

advancement under the royal government, did what discontented people generally do—became a violent oppositionist and a flaming patriot, a republican by principle in proportion to his interest. I have seen at home, in my own day, many such. His nobility availed him nothing after the loss of fortune and patronage. The Revolution broke down stronger barriers than lay between him and the tiers état, or people, for he only belonged to la petite noblesse. To side with the people, then, under his circumstances, was the best thing he could do.

He joined the army accordingly, and rose pretty rapidly. The tempestuous year 1793, the worst in the bloody annals of Robespierre, found him commandant of some frontier-town near Italy. One day a traveller going out of France called upon him to have his passport endorsed. The times required extraordinary vigilance, for thousands were endeavoring to emigrate. Quétain took the passport, and after looking at it cast a scrutinizing eye on the stranger. His gaze was long and earnest. When satisfied that he knew him he said, "Citizen, this is not your name that I see written here. How dare you attempt to impose upon a public functionary of the sovereign people?" The question was appalling, and made the traveller tremble. "No," continued the commandant, "such an offence in these times is too serious to go unpunished. Your trepidation alone convicts you. Counterfeit as you are, answer me one question: do you know me? did you ever see me before?" The traveller replied that he did not recollect ever having seen him; neither did he know his name.

"Well, then," said Quétain, "if you do not remember me, I can assure you that I have not forgotten you. I am the scholar who was banished from Sorèze, and you are Dom Crozal, who put that disgraceful punishment upon me." The ex-monk started with affright. A disguised Benedictine could not expect to escape the guillotine under any circumstances; how, then, was he to do it when placed in the power of a man whom he had so greatly injured? But Quétain was not destitute of magnanimity. A single word from him would be a sentence of death if he chose to pronounce it. He took, however, another course, and, endorsing the passport, facilitated the escape of Dom Crozal, who reached Piedmont, where the Prince de Carignan received and protected him.

We had now reached the 8th of March (1787), the day fixed for my departure from Sorèze, where I had spent more than four years in contentment; and on taking leave I can truly say my heart was filled with gratitude toward those kind monks, who ever treated me with parental tenderness and the most watchful solicitude for my happiness here and hereafter. If my good maternal grandmother, who belonged to the old colonial and intolerant sect of Presbyterians,\* refused to kiss me and reluctantly gave me her blessing when I left home, because I was going to a popish country, what would she have said had she known that I had turned Roman Catholic, went to mass and to confession?

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Breck falls here into a common error of confounding the Presbyterian and Congregational churches. There was no Presbyterian church in Boston at the time of which he writes.

Yet such had been my practice for nearly two years, but without the monks having used the smallest effort to turn me from the religion of my fathers. They fulfilled their contract in that respect most honorably, and the change was the act of a young man of the greatest piety and application. Studious, orderly, every way exemplary, he was my most intimate friend, and swayed by his advice I addressed myself to the Superior, Dom Despaulx, and asked for a confessor. That considerate ecclesiastic bade me pause and take a week to reflect upon the subject. I did so, and not having changed my opinion, he named a monk to whom I regularly confessed until I left college.\* I may add while I am on this subject that my friend, whom I forbear to name, and who was so good and happy a Christian at Sorèze, became perverted by the free way of thinking of Voltaire and the philosophers of his school. I met him at Nismes, where he went a few months before my departure, and I was sorry to find him almost an infidel.

Preparatory to my final departure from Sorèze, it was arranged to send me to Toulouse, in order to bid adieu to my old protector and travelling-companion, the Chevalier de Chalvet, and to get me dressed in the fashion of the day. I accordingly quitted the college uniform, which was blue with a red facing, and in which a miniature likeness of me was drawn, now, I hope, in my possession. I have before me the original journal of

<sup>\*</sup> After his return to America, Mr. Breck relinquished such hold as he had on the Roman Catholic Church, and later in life was confirmed in the Protestant Episcopal Church, in which communion he died.

the journey I took at this time. It is written in French, and commences at Toulouse the 10th of March, 1787, about forty-three years ago, and will aid my memory of course in the account I am going to give of that tour.

[The journey referred to was from Sorèze to Narbonne, on the Gulf of Lyons, thence along the coast as far as Toulon, up the left bank of the Rhone to Lyons, and from there by Mâcon, Autun, Auxerre and Fontaine-bleau to Paris. The journey was taken in a *chaise de post*, which he bought for the purpose, and accommodated two persons, himself and Dom Crozal, who travelled at his expense, according to Mr. Breck, Sr.'s, desire. As the itinerary contains only such brief facts as would be jotted down by the young traveller, it is omitted, but the personal incidents of his stay in Paris and his return to America follow herewith in Mr. Breck's narrative.]

We took lodgings in the Faubourg St. Germain, at the Hôtel d'York, Rue Jacob, the most fashionable section of the city. The Princess de Carignan had just left a suit of rooms fronting on the street. We were not ambitious to take her place, but looked at them in our round, and then hired three apartments in the rear. Having located ourselves in the most agreeable manner, we began to look about us. It was our intention to stay here one month and visit the raree-shows of town and country. The political excitement at this period (about the middle of April, 1787) was very considerable. The Notables—or not-ables, as they proved to be—were assembled at Versailles, pre-

pared to mend the affairs of state by taxing *les tiers état*, or commoners, and exempting the nobility, or themselves; and here I may boldly say that if the noblesse and clergy had at this early period acted a just and disinterested part, by participating equally in the contributions required by government, the Revolution would not have happened.

Thomas Jefferson was our plenipotentiary, but he was travelling in Italy. A young Virginian, Mr. Short,\* received us as his secretary, and made us acquainted with a very amiable Frenchman who had resided in the United States and written two volumes entitled Letters from an American Farmer, couched in terms the most kind and flattering. This gentleman's name was Hector Saint-John de Crevecœur. The fame acquired by these letters was a passport for him to the highest circles. and the romantic descriptions in which he had indulged in painting my country made some of the great lords and ladies desirous of seeing a native American; among others, a Polish princess requested him to take me to dine with her. This noble lady was related to the king of Poland, and, as the French say "all the roads in the world lead to Paris," she and her family had found their way along one of them during the preceding autumn. and had settled themselves down in considerable state I listened with some astonishment to the frivolous conversation at dinner. It was the first peep I had ever taken behind the curtain of high life connected with royal pretensions. At the Marquis de la Fayette's

<sup>\*</sup> William Short, afterward a resident of Philadelphia. (See Simpson's Lives of Eminent Philadelphians.)

table, and at others of the nobility where I had dined, I saw nothing beyond genteel simplicity; but here were pages (young gentlemen generally) to wait on the ladies. During dinner there was much talk about jewels and finery, and soon after an exhibition of diamond rings. One cost so much, and was bought at Constantinople; another here and another there; so that these sprigs of nobility (for the old lady had two or three married daughters at table) were much amused with their costly toys. After dinner we retired to a kind of arbor at the entrance of a garden, and there the ladies sat down to music. When they withdrew from the dining-room, and whenever they moved, the pages held their long trains. They played very pleasantly on the harp and harpsichord.

M. de Crevecœur took me another day to dine with M. de Beaumanoir, governor of the Hôtel des Invalides. He resided in that splendid edifice. His apartments looked toward the river, and there we dined. One object in making me acquainted with the governor was to introduce me to his daughter, a young lady who was to sail on the 15th of May for New York under the care of Saint-John de Crevecœur, who was appointed consul-general, and whom I intended to accompany as a fellow-passenger. Of this lady I will say more by and by.

Saint-John was by nature, by education, by his writings and by his reputation a philanthropist. The milk of human kindness circulated in every vein. Mild, unassuming, prompt to serve, slow to censure, ex-

tremely intelligent and universally respected and beloved, his society on shipboard could not but be a treasure.\*

About this time I became acquainted with the sonin-law of my worthy friend, the Marquis de Vaudreuil. His name was De Valady, and he too was a marquis, an officer in the French Guards, and a wild enthusiast in matters of political freedom. His marriage had been forced upon him for family convenience by his rich father, and although Mlle. de Vaudreuil was one of the most beautiful girls I ever saw, he was not of a temper to submit to an arbitrary measure. De Valady refused to consummate the marriage, and never lived with his wife. The church ceremony was the only connubial tie that ever bound them together. He fled to England. Thither the old Marchioness de Vaudreuil followed him, and brought him back to his regiment. At the commencement of the French Revolution he became a flaming republican; was elected to the Convention; joined the Brisotin and Girondist parties; was compelled to fly with Pétion, Barbarroux, Louvet and others, and after a series of the most extraordinary adventures was seized, identified and executed near Bordeaux. He gave

<sup>\*</sup>De Crevecœur was born in Normandy in 1731, and being sent early to England, acquired a mastery of the language and familiarity with English customs and life. He came to America in 1754, and settled on a farm upon the Hudson. His affairs became embarrassed, and he returned to France in 1780. Afterward he received an appointment as consul in New York, and returned to America in 1783. Besides his Letters from an American Farmer, he published Voyage dans les États Unis d'Amérique, in eight volumes.

me some books, and wrote me several letters on my return home.\*

Saint-John introduced me to Brissot,† who was an officer in some civil capacity in the palace of the Duc d'Orleans, where he lodged, and where we called upon him. I afterward saw him at my father's house in Boston. He wrote a book of travels in America, in which he condemned the use of carpets and other comforts among us as unsuitable to republicans. Neither did he like to see the New England children bow on the road to travellers. He said it looked slavish; so that republicans, according to him, must deny themselves the courtesies as well as the comforts of life. Such refined nonsense as this filled the Spartan heads of the French reformers. Brissot de Warville in his book complains of our having too much manners, while Moore the poet, who visited us shortly after and caricatured our country in verse, declares we have no manners at all.

> De Warville says we bow, and that Republicans should doff no hat, Should scorn such courtly tricks; But Thomas Moore pretends to show That royalists alone can bow— That we're as stiff as sticks.

At the monastery, or residence, of the priests of

- \* De Valady's adventures will be found in the latter part of this volume.
- † Brissot de Warville took the name, it is said, as an Anglican form of Ouarville, his father's home. He was one of the founders of the Moniteur newspaper, and is characterized by Carlyle as "a man of the windmill species, that grinds always, turning toward all winds; not in the steadiest manner." His travels in America were translated by Charles Brockden Brown.

Saint-Sulpice I found a Mr. Thayer, a Bostonian, who had been a Protestant clergyman, but was now about taking deacon's orders as a Roman Catholic. The Superior of the community received me with very great kindness, and permitted Mr. Thayer to converse a short time with me—an indulgence seldom allowed to candidates for holy orders during the probationary period, at which time they are secluded from the world, and from books except such as are rigidly theological. He was designed for a missionary effort among the sturdy Presbyterians [Congregationalists] of his native town, and, hopeless as the task appeared, he undertook it two years after, and succeeded in laying the foundation of a flourishing Roman Catholic church and diocese, which was for more than twenty years governed by M. de Cheverus, who is now archbishop of Bordeaux and a peer of France. As I had a hand, albeit a very humble one. in executing this work, I shall in its proper place recur to the subject.

About the 9th of May we left Paris, and on the evening of the 13th we had the happiness of seeing the Atlantic and of arriving at Havre, my place of embarkation. Dom Crozal, who had been my companion during a journey of two months' duration and about eight hundred miles' distance, now left me and passed over to Honfleur on his return to Sorèze. All his expenses were defrayed by my father, including those now about to be incurred. I parted from this worthy monk with gratitude for his uniform kindness and suitable protection, which was neither irksome by rigid superintendence nor lax by inattention. The

French government had established monthly packets, in imitation of the English, and I was now embarked in one of them, named the Courrier de l'Europe, commanded by a naval lieutenant named Fournier. We had on board this ship several distinguished passengers. Among the gentlemen was Paul Jones, the celebrated sea-captain. He was admiral in the Russian service, and wore several crosses at his button-holes. His manners were genteel and gentle, and his demeanor polished, although reserved—I might almost say taciturn. Next to him in importance was Saint-John de Crevecœur, of whom I have already spoken. Then came a Mr. Rucker, a merchant; Mr. Mumford of New London; Mr. Joseph P. Norris of Philadelphia; Mr. Holker; and a French Canadian marguis, whose name I have forgotten. I will say a few words of each.

Rucker married Miss Marshall of New York. He had been in trade in Holland, and failed. He was a silent man of good manners. He did not live long. Mumford was a handsome man of cheerful conversation. He became a politician, and was several times elected to Congress, where he made some figure. I believe he is still alive. Joseph P. Norris lives in Philadelphia, possessed of a large estate, surrounded by a numerous and amiable family, and enjoying the respect and love of all who know him. Holker was the son of the French consul at Philadelphia, and being about my age we became intimate. He was rather a blunt man for a Frenchman, but as kind-hearted a fellow as could be. He had a quarrel with the first lieutenant of the ship during the passage, which induced the captain (a

low-bred, supercilious man) to order him into confinement. This was resented by the other passengers, and he was soon released. Four or five years after, the rich Thomas Russell died at Boston, leaving a beautiful young widow. In due season she was addressed by Holker and by Sir Granville Temple at the same time. Sir Granville was an English baronet, son of the late Sir John Temple, who married a daughter of Mr. Bowdoin, former governor of Massachusetts. Russell's fortune was between two and three hundred thousand dollars, and her mind and manners were fascinating. These powerful attractions inflamed the two rivals and brought about a bloodless duel, which ended in the baronet's victory with the lady, whom he married and carried to Naples, where she resided some years and died. The Canadian marquis had a seigniory in Canada, and was a man of some consequence there. He was a great economist, and to save paper wrote a copious account of our voyage on a single half sheet in a handwriting too small to be read without a magnifying-glass; and to save washing (being an extravagant snuff-taker), he hung on the shrouds every night his filthy flag of abomination, which, after being well rubbed next morning, was pocketed for the day's use.

Of the ladies I will now say a few words. Mademoiselle de Beaumanoir was a woman of commanding asspect, fine person and good features. Her manners were quite Parisian, and much too free for the American ladies on board. When I first came on board I chose a very good berth adjoining the one taken by this lady, but after we were all assembled at sea it appeared

that there was no vacant sleeping-room for Mademoiselle Victoire, the chambermaid of Mlle, Beaumanoir, What was to be done? Mlle. Victoire was young, pretty and very useful to her mistress. The nearer she could be placed to her the better. Now, suppose Monsieur Breck should give up his cabin? It was close by, and would be so convenient for mistress and maid; it would be delightful. But where was Monsieur Breck to be stowed? Oh, Monsieur Breck was very gallant, in good health, and the youngest passenger in the ship; he would not mind sleeping below. This was all very disagreeable to me, but there was no help for it; so, to accommodate the fair couple, I went into a dark, dirty hole, where nothing was to be seen without a lantern, and everything was comfortless, wet, confined and filthy. Mlle. Beaumanoir, however, was pleased, and showed her gratitude by many little attentions during all our subsequent acquaintance.

Mlle Beaumanoir came to New York and married Monsieur de la Forest, who was then French consulthere, and has been since repeatedly employed by Napoleon on foreign embassies, and was by him created a count. He and the countess are, I believe, both alive. Mrs. Rucker married Alexander Macomb, the father of the present commander-in-chief of the United States army. She is still living, and so is her half-sister, Miss Betsey Ramsay, who was a fellow-passenger in this ship with Mrs. Rucker.

The Courrier de l'Europe was a fine vessel of six hundred tons, manned by forty sailors, and making her passage in the month of May; yet our timid captain took us to the tropic in search of the east or trade wind, instead of steering a straight course for New York across the Banks of Newfoundland. The consequence was a passage of forty-seven days and the loss of some spars off Virginia. We had there a heavy blow, and saw the propriety of the seaman's caution in that latitude: "Bermuda past, take care of Cape Hatteras."

## CHAPTER III.

New York after the Fire.—From New York to Boston.—Fourth of July, 1787.—Mad-caps.—Entrance into Business.—Business Morals and Revenue Reform.—Mr. Joseph Marryat and Charlotte Geyer.—Tristram Dalton.—Journey to Philadelphia.—Captain Phipps.—Society in New York.—The Roads.—William Knox.—Two Insane Gentlemen.—Family Servants.—Eccentric Tradesmen.—Mrs. Jeffrey.—Wigs.—Whitfield's Great Toe.—The First Mass in Boston.—An Atheist's Temple.—John Quincy Adams and his Early Passion.—La Fayette's Aid to Boston.—Captain Booby.—French and English Discipline.—Washington's Visit to Boston.—Hancock's State Pride.—Entertaining Indians.—Lord Whickham.—Governor Sullivan.

THE city of New York, now so large and well built, was in ruins in the year 1787. It was in the last days of June in that year that we anchored opposite to a filthy wooden shed called the Fly Market, and when our boat reached the shore we had to climb up a wharf that was tumbling to pieces. Some twenty or thirty vessels lay at the other wharves, and those shores that now exhibit a forest of masts and a stir of commerce, surpassed in the whole world by two cities only (London and Liverpool), were then naked and silent. As a colonial town it was a place of considerable trade, but having been in the hands of the enemy for seven years, and visited during that time by an extensive conflagration,\* we found it in a state of dilapidation, and not at

<sup>\*</sup>The great fire took place Sept. 21, 1776, while the town was occupied by General Howe. All the western part of the town was con-

all recovered from the effects of the war. In Broadway, from Wall street to the Battery, the great fire had swept away almost every building, including Trinity church, and the rest of the town was made up of miserable wooden hovels and strange-looking brick houses, constructed in the Dutch fashion, and often with yellow bricks brought from Holland. They presented a narrow front to the street, and exhibited their gable-ends. These have all disappeared, and indeed they contrast very disadvantageously with our modern manner of building. In short, the city of New York, which now displays so much elegance, comfort and wealth, and contains about one hundred and eighty thousand inhabitants, was in 1787 a poor town with about twenty-three thousand people.

In those days there were two ways of getting to Boston: one was by a clumsy stage that travelled about forty miles a day, with the same horses the whole day; so that by rising at three or four o'clock, and prolonging the day's ride into night, one made out to reach Boston in six days; the other route was by packet-sloops up the Sound to Providence, and thence by land to Boston. This was full of uncertainty, sometimes being travelled in three and sometimes in nine days. I myself have been that length of time (nine days) going from New York to Boston. Now, travellers go by the steamboat between the two cities in a day and night!

sumed, and the course of the fire was stopped by King's College grounds on Barclay street. No evidence exists to prove that the fire was other than accidental, though at the time some violence was done to the Sons of Liberty, upon the ground that they were incendiaries.

On my journey to Boston I chose the water-conveyance, and reached my native town on the second of July, 1787, after an absence of four years and a half. I found my dear parents and family well. I spoke English with the accent of a foreigner. My long residence among the French had made their language more familiar than my own. On the Fourth, being a national holiday, there was a great parade on the Common opposite to my father's house, and a vast assemblage at the beautiful residence of the governor of the State, the celebrated John Hancock. This distinguished man lived in a spacious stone house, built by his uncle, I think, and superbly situated, substantially constructed and fancifully ornamented. My father introduced me to His Excellency and to all the principal people of the town. Five or six hundred militiamen paraded in rifle-frocks and queer dresses in honor of the day; a public oration was delivered by Harrison Gray Otis, I believe; and in the evening squibs and fireworks closed the fête.

A few weeks after my arrival, and before I had become acquainted with the boisterous manners of the young men of those days, Isaac Parker, the present chief justice of Massachusetts, invited me to dine with him. He was then a law-student, and the company was composed of lads under age who were preparing for various pursuits in life. There was more noisy mirth after dinner than comports with good taste; but it was the fashion of the day to drink hard and then kick up a row. Parker resided at the north end of the town, and being in the neighborhood of Charlestown,

it was agreed by the company to adjourn to a drinkinghouse on Breed's Hill. Thither we went, a good deal tipsy, making a zigzag course over the bridge, and ascending the hill by a steep and narrow street. I do myself injustice by saying we, for I had not yet cast off my habits of French temperance, and could neither relish nor participate in a debauch. I was sober; most of our party were otherwise, and by their noise and insolence in passing a tailor's house raised the choler of the whole shopboard, who swore they would cuff and trim us, and send us home with a stitch in our sides. Down jumped half a dozen slipshod snips, who threw at our heads glass bottles, stones and other missiles, and after a short contest drove us back to Boston somewhat sobered. Near the concert-hall we met an acquaintance named Minot, who prided himself on his spirit in an affray. We told him what had happened, and such was his rage at our defeat that he went off determined to avenge it. Having reached the bridge, he met two men who smelt of cabbage, as the boys said, and very unceremoniously asked them where they were going.

"We are going," said they, "to take out writs against a parcel of wild chaps who have insulted us."

"You are?" cried Minot. "I am happy to meet you;" and while he spoke he laid one fellow over the head with his cane, which brought him to the ground, and drove the other back to Charlestown; after which, proud of his victory, he returned home. And so did-I, without thinking any more about the business. The next morning, however, my father came up to my

chamber with a very grave countenance, holding in his hand a newspaper in which our party was lampooned in verse and strongly censured in prose. Nor was this the worst.

"Prepare yourself," said my father, "to pay a heavy fine and spend a few months in prison, for there is a criminal prosecution on foot, which will end in the punishment you all deserve." I soon convinced that excellent parent that I was a non-combatant, which was confirmed by my name being omitted in the suit that was brought against all the others, including Sam Minot, the volunteer. They were summoned to Concord, about twenty miles from Boston, and condemned to pay twenty dollars each. Minot, some three or four years afterward, I met at Amsterdam, where he had been engaged unsuccessfully, I think, in commerce. He was the same harum-scarum fellow then as before, and died young. Most of the other boys of that frolic who grew up, distinguished themselves in their various walks in life, and those who survive are now the magistrates, legislators, fathers and venerable square-toes of the community wherever they reside.

In the course of the year 1787, or beginning of 1788, my father, finding me inclined to become a merchant, engaged a place in the counting-house of Mr. John Codman, brother-in-law to the great Thomas Russell. The terms of my admission I always thought excessive. I paid one hundred guineas, and this when money was extremely valuable, and worth more than double the same amount of this date. On the first day of my going to Mr. Codman I carried to him in gold this entrance-

fee, and continued with him until August, 1790. The lessons taught in this counting-house in reference to trade were of the most immoral character, chiefly owing to the disturbed and feeble state of the old Confederation government, and in execution of the revenue laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. So soon as a vessel arrived, one-half the cargo was hoisted into the upper part of the store, and the other half only entered at the custom-house; and thus we were initiated into the secret of smuggling. To ask one hundred guineas of young gentlemen educated in honorable principles to teach them this low fraud and disreputable course of trade showed the times to be sadly out of joint. Yet persons who until then (and then too, I hope) despised all tricks and deceptions were made principal agents in this vile imposition. The only apology was the universality of the custom. The laws were a dead letter; the States, collectively and individually, were bankrupt; the public debt at ten or twelve dollars for a hundred! Each State was pulling against the other, and the fruit of our seven years' war for independence did not then appear to be worth gathering. Disunited from Maine to Georgia, the elements of self-government seemed to be lost, and we were fast sinking into anarchy and confusion.

From this alarming situation we were delivered in 1789 by the adoption of the present excellent Constitution, which has carried this great nation in the course of forty years from a fearful state of poverty and disorder to its present high station and unrivalled prosperity. At the very moment of its organization smug-

gling ceased, and the American importer, intimidated by some extensive seizures and animated by a spirit of patriotism and honor, made correct entries. He has been carefully watched, I grant, and the laws have been rigidly executed; yet much praise is due to the merchant, who by his good-will has aided the efforts of government; so much so that during these forty years, when seven hundred millions of dollars have been collected, the defalcation by non-payment of duties has not amounted to the one ten-thousandth part of the sum paid into the treasury; and this fact is officially stated in a document sent to Congress from the Treasury Department.

During my stay with Mr. Codman there came addressed to him a ship from Grenada, chartered by Mr. Joseph Marryat, a resident merchant of that island, who came to Boston with this ship for a load of lumber. The manners of Mr. Marryat were pleasing. He was about thirty-five years old. I introduced him to my father's family and to that of Mr. Frederick Geyer. This last gentleman had three very fine daughters. The second, Charlotte, had been educated in England, possessed a well-cultivated mind and fascinating manners. Dignified yet cheerful, reserved but not taciturn, she was a woman of most engaging conversation. Her person was fine, and she moved and danced gracefully. Without the symmetry of a beautiful face, her countenance was enlivened by intelligence and sweetness of expression, with fine eyes and the complexion of a dark brunette. To this young lady I was warmly attached. Now, it so happened that Marryat

lost his heart to her almost at first sight, and without any encouragement on her part asked her in marriage of her father. Nobody knew Marryat. He was a stranger, recommended simply as a person in search of a cargo of boards. Gever would not have lent him a thousand dollars, yet he immediately consented to the match. Charlotte was exceedingly opposed to it, and urged me to interfere to prevent it. This I would have done most willingly, most joyfully. I was scarcely nineteen (she was about six months younger), and no interference short of marriage could avail; and to this my father positively objected, informing me that he intended to send me to Europe shortly. and represented the folly, as he called it, of entering on life abroad saddled with a matrimonial engagement, This sort of philosophy I did not relish, although I was obliged to submit. In short, I lost Charlotte, who was importuned into a marriage with my rival. Marryat took her to the West Indies, whence, after a few years' residence, he removed to London, became a successful underwriter at Lloyds', accumulated a vast fortune, and was repeatedly elected to Parliament, where for several years, and until his death, he distinguished himself as a useful member and tolerable speaker. Living at the West End of the town in handsome style, he spent his summers at a villa that cost him thirty thousand pounds sterling, which was described by a lady who visited it as a palace within and a paradise without. He made an excellent husband, and became the father of ten children, one of whom has within a few years dined with me at Sweetbrier, and another, who is post-captain in the British navy, has lately distinguished himself in the Burmese war. These children inherited a large fortune from their father and an uncle, Mr. Samuel Marryat, who was a small lawyer when I knew him in London in 1791, and died lately, leaving them three hundred thousand pounds, amassed by his extraordinary attention to his profession. The widowed and amiable Charlotte is still living in affluence, and, as I sincerely hope, in perfect health and happiness.

During the year 1787 I made many excursions around the country, and among them one in company with my sister Hannah-now Mrs. Lloyd-to Newburyport, to visit our friend Tristram Dalton.\* That gentleman lived in elegance and comfort at a very beautiful country-house four miles from Newburyport during the summer, and in winter occupied his spacious mansion in that town. I do not recollect any establishment in our country, then or now, that contained generally so many objects fitted to promote rational happiness. From the piazza or front part of his country-house the farms were so numerous and the villages so thickly planted that eighteen steeples were in view. This villa was large, well built, and surrounded by an excellent dairy and other outhouses. His family, consisting wholly of women, was extremely hospitable, and no man in Massachusetts had more dignified or polished

<sup>\*</sup> There is a sketch of Mr. Dalton in Samuel L. Knapp's Biographical Sketches of Eminent Lawyers, Statesmen and Men of Letters. Mr. Breck omits to state that Mr. Dalton lost his property mainly through the rascality of a partner, and was himself partly provided for by an office which was bestowed on him by the government.

manners than Mr. Dalton himself. It was among these good people we went to spend a few days, and most happily did we pass them. Respectable and amiable family, how enviable was your situation at that time! And who would have thought that in a few years all this elegance and contentment were to give place to sorrow and poverty? In 1789 the establishments were broken up. Mr. Dalton became a politician; popular favor flattered him, and step by step ambition lured him from his delightful abode. Happening to be a member of the State legislature at the time it was called upon by the new Constitution to choose a Senator to Congress, he was unluckily elected. Then came the bustle and expense of a suitable outfit. Home, that dear home where so much felicity had been enjoyed, was forsaken —temporarily, as they first supposed, but everlastingly, as it turned out. The whole family removed to New York, where Congress then sat. A large house was taken and a course of fashionable life adopted. Expenses increased with dissipation; a relish for gay and foolish extravagance became habitual; and Mr. Dalton, who thought himself elected for six years, drew in the classification of Senators that took place in the first Congress the lot which terminated his Senatorial career in two years; and he was not re-elected. Then was the time for him to have returned home. But caressed by President Washington and fascinated by the gaudy pleasures of a city life, he followed the government to Philadelphia, and afterward (in 1801) to the city of Washington. There he gradually consumed his fortune, dwindled into a dependent man, died insolvent, and left his lady-like and amiable widow so poor that she was obliged, at more than seventy years of age, to open a boarding-house in the neighborhood of Boston. I was attached by feelings of respect and warm regard to that estimable family, and very sincerely regretted its downfall.

It was on our return from this visit that a thundergust came suddenly upon us, and obliged us to take shelter at a farm-house. A well-looking countryman ran across the road, and opening his barn-doors invited me to drive in. After we had secured the horse and gig—or chaise, as it was then called—we crossed over to the dwelling-house and received a hearty welcome. Grateful for his attention, I asked his name, and found him lineally descended from Sir John Holt or Sir Matthew Hale, I forget which, but it was one of those great English jurists, who were both, I think, chief justices of the court of King's Bench. Our kind host was named either Holt or Hale, and seemed well acquainted with the fame, rank and virtues of his celebrated ancestor. He owned a pretty good farm, and was intelligent for a man in his station.

In the month of August, 1789, I made a journey South, as far as Philadelphia, principally to recruit my health. A friend lent me a sulky, which was nothing more than a common arm-chair placed on leather braces, and suspended over a couple of wheels. The whole carriage was scarcely heavier than a wheelbarrow. For a shilling a day (seventeen cents) I hired a horse and started for Worcester. How different the inns and roads then from the present day! The western hills were traversed

100

by a road steep and rocky, and the large rivers, now universally bridged, were then passed in boats or at fords. In these respects all the United States north of the Potomac are greatly improved; to the south of that river all that has not retrograded remains *in statu quo*. At New Haven, I became tired of the roads, and hearing of a packet-sloop in port bound to New York, I left my horse and embarked. I found the city gradually recovering from its Revolutionary wounds. Several fine houses had lately been built, particularly a row by Mr. Macomb erected on Broadway, where they now stand unrivalled in beauty by any block of a more modern date.

Captain Phipps of the British navy was a fellow-passenger from New Haven. He was brother to Lord Mulgrave, and possessed the manners of an unassuming, well-bred gentleman. He was the descendant of an American whose singular history is as follows: William Phips—says his biographer, Cotton Mather—was born Feb. 2, 1650, at a despicable plantation on the river Kennebec. His mother had twenty-six children, of whom twenty-one were boys. He very early discovered the energy and enterprise of a superior mind, and to prepare himself for seeking his fortune on the sea he bound himself to a ship-carpenter for four years, and afterward constructed a vessel with which he went to Boston. The great cause of his prosperity in life was his good fortune in finding the wreck of a Spanish plateship that had been lost fifty years before on the coast of Hispaniola. The hope of recovering this treasure took strong possession of his mind, and he went to England to solicit assistance in the undertaking. Charles II. gave him a ship, with everything necessary for the project, but being unsuccessful he returned in great poverty. He then endeavored to procure another vessel, but failing, he got a subscription, to which the duke of Albemarle contributed. In 1687, Phips set sail in a ship of two hundred tons, having previously engaged to divide the profits according to the twenty shares of which the subscription consisted. At first all his labors proved fruitless; but at last, when he seemed almost to despair, he was fortunate enough to bring up so much treasure that he returned to England, Mr. Mather says, with about three hundred thousand pounds, of which he received only sixteen thousand himself. The duke's share was ninety thousand. Phips was knighted by the king and sent out governor of Massachusetts. Thus was this poor lad and son of a blacksmith enabled to lay the foundation of a family, one of the members of which was subsequently created Lord Mulgrave.

The new Federal Constitution had just been put into operation when I visited New York in 1789. General Knox was Secretary of War, and lived in one of Macomb's beautiful houses. He was my father's particular friend, and insisted on my residing in his family. I was introduced to General Washington. That great man had been unanimously elected President of the United States, and was inaugurated on the 4th of the preceding month of March. Mrs. Knox introduced me likewise to Mr. Jay's family, and I made an excursion to the Passaic Falls in company with a daughter of General Saint-Clair and my young fellow-passenger from

France, Miss Ramsay. We found at the falls only one house, the tayern, and now there stands on that spot a prosperous manufacturing town named Paterson containing five thousand inhabitants. Newark, where we breakfasted, was a small village, with some pretty villas scattered about the vicinity; now it is a city numbering twenty thousand people. I likewise accompanied Mrs. Knox to Elizabethtown on a visit to a very amiable family by the name of Richet. We spent two days there. I returned to New York alone, and set sail in the regular ferry-boat in the morning. The distance is fifteen miles, and is traversed now in steamboats in a little more than one hour, yet we were out in a calm the whole day, when at sundown, thinking I should have to spend the night in our undecked boat, I hired a man who was catching oysters to take me ashore in his canoe. These facts denote great improvement.

On my journey to Philadelphia I had the whole stage to myself, and this too in the month of August, when at the present day the roads are so crowded. But then we knew nothing of mineral springs and fashionable watering-places. Such rendezvous for the rich and idle had no existence, and although two lines of stages were kept up, and these in opposition at a two-dollar fare, yet they had very little custom. In the present year (say 1829) in August, and indeed all summer, there run between Philadelphia and New York forty-four coaches, connected with steamboats, which carry, going and coming, a daily average of three hundred and fifty to four hundred passengers! In a journey from Boston to Philadelphia in the year 1789 the

following rivers were passed in ferry-boats: the Connecticut at Springfield, Housatonic at Stratford, Hudson at New York, Hackensack and Passaic between Paulus Hook and Newark, Raritan at New Brunswick, Delaware at Trenton, and Neshaminy near Bristol—making eight streams, all of which are now substantially bridged except the Hudson, where steamboats are used that are perhaps superior to bridges.

In Philadelphia I spent a few days very agreeably. Governor Mifflin honored me with his notice. The city was scarcely one-third its present size, and did not contain much more than one-fourth of its present number of inhabitants. No pavement extended south of Chestnut street beyond Fourth. Mr. Joseph P. Norris, with whom I had crossed the ocean two years before, lived in a venerable-looking house standing where the Bank of the United States now is. I dined with him there. He was then cutting up his garden into building-lots. It extended to Fifth street, and on it the City Library in that street was built, and the fine row of brick houses in Chestnut street lately converted into the most splendid shops in America, and which may stand a comparison with any in London or Paris.

On my return to New York I became acquainted with William Knox, brother of the general. He was a well-bred gentleman, extremely well educated, but possessed of feelings too sensitive for his future happiness on earth. He had been American consul at Dublin, and became deeply enamored of a lady there who did not reciprocate his love. It was a wound that neither time nor absence could cure. It preyed upon his

spirits until it brought him to a mad-house. He lost his reason, and such was the cause assigned.

This leads me to relate a circumstance of an affecting nature which in its conclusion was closely associated with poor Knox. In one of my rides into New Hampshire, accompanied by my sister, I passed through Andover, a town where insane people are well nursed and comfortably boarded. Suddenly a man darted through the gateway of a good-looking house and ran up to my carriage. I knew him. He was a Mr. Searle, a merchant of Newburyport, whom I had frequently seen at Mr. Codman's. He recollected me immediately, and after some conversation inquired for news, I happened to have a Boston paper of that morning, and gave it to him. He thanked me and retired. We pursued our journey, asking each other what could have brought Mr. Searle there. On our return we heard for the first time the cause. It was a singular one. Searle was connected in maritime commerce with a Mr. Tyler, by the firm of Searle & Tyler. In the prosecution of their business they had been so extravagantly successful that Searle's mind was overset. The first symptoms of a disordered intellect were shown by a purchase which Searle made on his return to Newburyport from Boston of all the property between the two places—a distance of forty miles. His malady soon increased, but I thought no more about it.

A year or two after, being in Philadelphia, some members of Congress invited me to accompany them to the Pennsylvania Hospital. On entering the long room down stairs, the first object near the door was a

man clad in a blanket with one leg chained to a block. I looked on him with pity, and immediately recognized Searle. He knew some of the gentlemen. One he called his Tully, another his Cato, but he addressed me by name. "Samuel Breck," said he, "I have to thank you for the newspaper you lent me at Andover." He had scarcely pronounced my name when I heard it very loudly repeated in a distant part of the room." On looking round I saw a sick person in bed beckoning to me to go to him. I approached the bed, and to my sorrow and astonishment found William Knox in it. The occurrence was unexpected and melancholy. The poor fellow did not detain me after begging a cent to buy snuff. Both these unhappy gentlemen were soon relieved by death, Searle dying first in consequence of a wound in his thigh, and Knox following a month or two after

Before the Revolution it was lawful to hold slaves in Massachusetts, and my father had three in his house when I was a boy—Waterford, a coachman; Cato, a house-servant; and Rose, the coachman's wife. Three greater plagues, as my good mother called them, could not easily be found. So she thought, yet other families were not better off. When I returned from Europe in 1787 this trio was dispersed. Waterford threw himself into the sea and was drowned, after having lived several years separate from his wife, and Cato had likewise ended his days in the briny deep. His behavior in the family was so uniformly bad that he was sold or given away to some sea-captain, who lost him by the small-pox. The white women were too often loose in their

morals, and although less disgusting than Waterford and the Irish gardener, who were taken to bed drunk two or three times a week, they were dissipated and incontinent. The successor of Waterford was the most finished villain of his day. He was an Irishman, and had married in Boston, and was the father of a large family. One day, accidentally, a letter fell into my father's hands written by a wife he had left in Ireland. She bitterly complained of his desertion—running away, she said, not only from herself, but from six children that she was obliged to provide for. He was immediately discharged. But no sooner was he gone than bills flowed in from butchers, fruiterers and others to a very considerable amount. It turned out that this rascal (Brown was his name), who had for many months been sent to market with money, kept the cash and ran my father in debt for the supply of his table. When asked for payment he put the claimants off by telling them that Mr. Breck was so much pressed for money that they must wait.

Judge of my father's astonishment—I may say consternation—at finding himself defamed among a class of people from whom he would take no credit, always paying them, as indeed he did every one else, with the most exact punctuality! I perfectly remember the afternoon when four or five victuallers came to him with their unpaid bills. "My friends," said he to them in his usual tone of gentleness—"my friends, I owe you nothing; you have been grossly imposed upon. You have no verbal or written order from me to trust Brown; if he has robbed you, he has injured me, for his false

representations are more painful to me than the loss of money. Yet I must divide the loss with you; it is too heavy for you to bear alone. Hand me your bills and I will pay one-half their amount." To this they readily assented, and in that way all Brown's unauthorized debts were settled. We had the satisfaction to hear a few months after, that the rogue was caught in some criminal offence and hung at New York.

There are some bright spots in this dark picture. Two sisters by the name of Polly and Sukey Hall would have won the highest premium in any country for fidelity, genuine piety, industry and devoted attachment to the family. These invaluable women lived in my father's house—the one as housekeeper, the other as seamstress—Sukey twenty-five years, and Polly twentytwo. They both survived my father, who left them a small legacy of two hundred dollars apiece. On my father's removing his residence from Boston to Philadelphia—the cause of which shall be noted hereafter he took with him six servants who had lived a long while in the family, but in a few months the two most useful men were spoiled by the free negro population of Philadelphia (that Paradise of the blacks). A most excellent waiter was dismissed in consequence, who went to the West Indies and died; Thomas Thomas, the coachman, became a drunkard after living several years as a public waiter, lost his reason and died in the hospital.

My own experience in housekeeping for more than thirty-four years offers a mixed list of very good and very bad; and I am sorry to add that the bad lie in the heaviest scale. Yet during this long period, with no very vigilant watchfulness, I have not lost ten dollars' worth of property by the dishonesty of house-servants. The fate of some of these hirelings has been calamitous. One left me to engage in a privateer. Her commission was not regular, and he was hung as a pirate; another, a most excellent cook, got drunk on her way home from town and was frozen to death in the road. I have noted elsewhere many other fatal occurrences that have happened to people of this class who have been in my service, and which I need not repeat here; it is sufficient to say that the demeanor of servants at this day (June, 1830) is improved, and, I hope I may with justice add, improving, for there is still ample room for amendment.

We had a medley of eccentric tradesmen in Boston in 1788, who were a compound of flat simplicity in manners and acute eleverness in conversation, shrewd, perhaps somewhat cunning; often witty; always smart and intelligent. Such was Copley, my tailor; Billings, of the same trade; but above all, Balch, the hatter.\* His shop was the principal lounge even of the first people in the town. Governor Hancock, when the gout permitted, resorted to this grand rendezvous, and there exchanged jokes with Balch and his company, or, as sometimes happened, discussed grave political subjects, and, tout en badinant, settled leading principles of his administration. Such, as late as 1788, was the unso-

<sup>\*</sup> The writers of the day frequently make mention of this man. Sidney Willard, in his *Memories of Youth and Manhood*, gives him a place in his gallery of worthies.

phisticated state of society. But we must not believe that intrigue was banished from this artless association; on the contrary, every little boon in the governor's gift was bestowed upon him who could work the wires with nimblest fingers. Perhaps, after all, it is impossible to resist the voice of friendship when soliciting for favor, although, it may be, unqualified. Certain it is that Hancock often yielded from feeling rather than from judgment. One flattered, and another chronicled the news of the day, a third bespoke the good-will of the people for his patron, and a fourth supplied little pecuniary wants that not infrequently occurred. These friends were generally provided for, and notwithstanding they were sometimes thought to be unsuitable for the posts assigned to them, yet Governor Hancock's well-deserved popularity silenced every croaker.

The higher circles were not less singularly constituted. The principal star was Mrs. Jeffrey. She was sister to the celebrated John Wilkes, and the widow of Mr. Hayley, who had been lord mayor of London. No one could more exactly resemble her brother than she did, except in the double squint, which she had not; and as he was the ugliest man in England, the family likeness so strongly stamped on the face of the sister left her without any claim to beauty. Yet her highly-gifted mind and elegant manners much more than balanced that deficiency. Mr. Hayley had been a merchant, and large sums were due to him in New England. At his death his widow fitted up a fine ship and took passage in it for Boston for the purpose of collecting her late husband's claims. Pleased with the

place, she purchased a beautiful house in Tremont street, formerly the residence of the Vassal refugee family, whose villa on Clapham Common, near London, I remember seeing in 1791, and who are related to my brother-in-law, James Lloyd. Thus splendidly lodged, she formed her whole establishment in a style suitable to the mansion. The gayest liveries and equipage, the richest furniture, the most hospitable and best-served table,—all these were displayed to the greatest advantage by the Widow Hayley. She had certainly passed her grand climacteric, and in her mouth was a single tooth of an ebon color. Her favorite dress was a red cloth riding-habit and black beaver hat. In these she looked very like an old man. Thus attired on some gala-day, she was paying a visit to Mrs. Hancock when Van Berkle, the Dutch envoy, happened to be in Boston. He came, of course, to salute the governor, with whom, however, he was not personally acquainted. On entering the room he saw a venerable head decorated with a hat and plumes, belonging to a person robed in scarlet, and seated in an arm-chair in a conspicuous part of the room; and knowing that Governor Hancock was too gouty to walk, he very naturally concluded that the person before him was the master of the house. He accordingly approached, and, bowing, said he hoped His Excellency was better-that, being on a visit to Boston, he had ventured to introduce himself for the purpose of testifying in person his high admiration, etc. Before his compliment was finished the lady undeceived him, but in such a manner as put the minister perfectly at his ease.

This most excellent woman had surrounded herself with a menagerie, so that her courtyard and garden were filled with cockatoos, poll-parrots and monkeys; yet she felt herself lonely, and set her cap for a husband. There was a young Scotsman then in Boston who was agent for a British mercantile house. His name was Jeffrey (uncle to the famous editor of the Edinburgh Review), a man well educated and of gentlemanly address. To him Mrs. Hayley gave her hand and fortune. Out of sixty or seventy thousand pounds sterling she did not reserve a shilling for herself, but in a fit of girlish love poured the whole into the pocket of this young stranger, whose age could not have been one-half her own. Of this act of egregious folly she lived long enough to repent. Three or four years, however, passed in apparent peace, and Jeffrey made out to conform to her custom of sleeping winter and summer with the bed-chamber window open, no matter how stormy or how cold; the snow or the rain, the freezing blast from the north-west, all might blow into the room and on the very bed, for the window was never permitted to be closed. But gradually discontent, jealousy and discord arose between them. Undoubtedly, the great disparity of years was the main cause. At any rate, there was a separation. All those who had the happiness of living on a social footing in her family regretted this sad division. Her style of entertaining united comfort to splendor. She gave frequent dinners, at which I was often invited. We were sometimes annoyed by her monkeys and other pets, which, like spoilt children, were brought into the parlor

at the fruit-dessert to gather nuts and gorge with raisins and apples. It was the custom at her table to place a well-filled punch-bowl in the centre as soon as the last cloth was removed. Surrounded by the choicest wines, there stood the huge vessel, always brought in with a little parade. On one occasion, when this ample bowl occupied its accustomed place, a mischievous monkey who was skipping about the table seized the wig of an Amsterdam merchant, old Mr. de Neuville, and running to the bowl soused it in.

The story of this wig puts me in the mind of two occurrences, not very dissimilar, that took place at no great distance of time from this. Catharine Macaulay, the historian, when past her middle age married a very young man by the name of Graham, and came with him to Boston about the year 1786. They were much noticed. It was the fashion then for men and women to wear long head-dresses, with well-frizzled hair covered with powder, having previously been curled with hot irons and stiffened with pomatum. Decked in this manner, Mrs. Graham, accompanied by her young husband, went to dine with a large party at my Aunt Hichborn's country-house in Dorchester. My father and mother were there. Just before dinner, when the company was assembled, and sat in the expectation of its being immediately announced, a period always grave and formal, some one near Mrs. Graham made a remark that caused a sudden surprise, and occasioned her to throw her head back rather violently, when down fell all its counterfeit honors, and exposed her bald pate to the view of the astonished company. Mrs. Graham's headgear was false, and so unskilfully fixed that it tumbled to the floor behind her chair, The affrighted lady raised her hands to catch her wig, exclaiming, "My God! my God!" She might have added—

"Was it for this I took such constant care
The bodkin, comb and essence to prepare?
For this these locks in paper durance bound?
For this with heated irons wreathed around?
For this with fillets strained the stranger hair,
And shaved my own, these foreign curls to wear?"

As it was, her always obsequious husband flew to her assistance, when, retiring to another room, she soon made her toilet for dinner.

The other circumstance alluded to was this: A stranger came to Boston and took lodgings at the best boarding-house in town, and somehow or other was introduced to a few of the best families. His acquaintances were increasing (he had not yet obtained footing in our family) when one evening at supper at Mrs. Ingersoll's, where he boarded, a servant passing suddenly behind his chair hooked the button of his coat into the hind part of a scratch worn by the stranger, and carried it off, leaving a bare poll, and oh, shocking to relate! a poll without ears! Both had been clipt close to the head. The caitiff recovered his wig and cleared out.

To conclude here at once what I recollect of Mrs. Jeffrey, I will briefly state that she retired to Portsmouth in New Hampshire, where she lived expensively at an inn, while her young husband kept possession of his fine house in Tremont street. They did not, however, come to an open quarrel, but lived at separate

board and bed, without ceasing to see each other. Indeed, he would not allow any other cause for his wife's removal than a change of air for the benefit of her health, and to keep up appearances he established a relay of horses along the road, on which he galloped down to Portsmouth, a distance of sixty miles, every Saturday.

I happened to be travelling in that part of the country in the summer of 1791, in company with a Mr. Waldo and two Englishmen recently arrived. We put up at the hotel where Mrs. Jeffrey lodged. The moment she heard I was in the house she sent her butler to offer me her carriage to show my friends the town. and invited me and my party to dine with her. The carriage we declined, but we waited upon her to dinner, where my John Bull companions behaved with a freedom and vulgarity sufficiently indicative of the Cockney society they had been accustomed to keep at home. In the fall of that year Mrs. Jeffrey embarked for England. Soon after she went on board in Boston Harbor there came on a head wind and violent storm. Her husband accompanied her to the vessel, that lay at anchor some distance from the shore. Here he expected to take leave of her for ever, but the adverse gale prevented it, and postponed the final separation three days, during which he was compelled to stay by her, as she refused to land. At length he was released, and she went to Bath, where she settled upon a meagre allowance, according to the report of the day, and died there five or six years after. Jeffrey himself remained in America, launched out boldly on the troubled sea

of commerce, formed a mercantile connection with Mr. Joseph Russell, and in a few years lost his large fortune, retired dispirited to his country-seat at Milton, and died there long before he was an old man.

It was on one of these excursions into New Hampshire that, stopping at Newburyport, I was invited to breakfast with Mr. Joseph Marquand. While we were at table a man brought to him a small packet, which was laid aside until our meal was finished. As soon as that was over Marquand opened it, and showed me a piece of black garment which he said was a fragment of the cassock in which the celebrated George Whitefield was buried; "And here," continued he, "is his great toe."

"Indeed!" said I. "And pray tell me why you caused the corpse of that distinguished man to be mutilated?"

"It is," he replied, "done at the request of Lady Huntingdon, whose chaplain Whitefield had once been; and she has commissioned me to obtain a relic of him. He died, you know, in this town in the year 1770, and lies buried in you meeting-house, the sexton of which I hired to procure what you see he has just brought to me, and which I shall send to the dowager countess by the first opportunity."\*

<sup>\*</sup> This story I have not been able to verify in its particulars, but it is a well-known fact, recorded in Mrs. E. Vale Smith's History of Newburyport, that there was at one time a successful making off with some of Whitefield's bones—the bones of the right arm, it is there said. "In September, 1849, the pastor of the First Presbyterian church, Rev.

When I was in Paris in 1787 I met there a Roman Catholic abbé by the name of Thayer. He was a native of Boston, had been a Protestant clergyman, went to France, became a Roman Catholic, and was now a sub-deacon in the clerical seminary of St. Sulpice at Paris. While at college among the good Benedictine monks, I changed to that mode of worship myself, and of course was well received by the Superior when I visited the Rev. Mr. Thaver.\* He made me promise to assist the young deacon whenever he should arrive in Boston for the purpose of opening a Roman Catholic chapel. With this understanding I received the Superior's blessing, and returned to America. It was not long before I had letter upon letter from the abbé announcing the consignment of trunks of books. They came in safe and were carefully housed. This was in 1780, just as the disturbances in France and the West Indies threw a few well-educated Frenchmen into Boston. By and by, Monsieur l'Abbé himself made his appearance, after my zeal for the pope's Church had

Jonathan Stearns, received from England a mysterious box which on opening he found to contain the lost members, accompanied by a letter satisfactorily explaining how they came into the writer's possession and vindicating the genuineness of the restoration. In the presence of the session and elders of the church the stray bones were restored to their proper place in the coffin, from which there is little chance of their again escaping."—Page 374.

\* John Thayer, son of Cornelius Thayer, was converted to Romanism in 1783, received priest's orders at Rome, and began his mission in Boston June 10, 1790. His work in Boston was signalized by a series of controversies in which he was easily involved, and which remain recorded in scarce tracts. (For a list of them see Finotti's Bibliographia Catholica-Americana.) Thayer died in Limerick in 1815.

cooled off, and I was now again a Protestant. I had the consent of my family to aid the new priest in establishing his chapel, which was done with all manner of solemnity and without the smallest opposition, for persecution in Boston had wholly ceased. We fitted up a dilapidated and deserted meeting-house in School street that was built in 1716 by some French Huguenots, and it was now converted into a popish church, principally for the use of French Romanists. A subscription put the sacristy or vestry-room in order, erected a pulpit and purchased a few benches. A little additional furniture and plate was borrowed. At length everything was prepared to solemnize the first public mass that was ever said in Boston--in a town where thirteen years before the Pope and the Devil were annually promenaded through the streets and finally burned together, leaving it doubtful then which was the greater rascal of the two. I attended the mass and carried round the begging-box as quéteur. This was the commencement of the Roman Catholic Church in Boston. Thayer was succeeded by M. Martignon, and he by the celebrated Cheverus, now archbishop of Bordeaux. That pious, prudent and learned prelate governed this infant congregation as priest and bishop for twenty-seven years, and was so attached to his flock, his diocese and his place of residence that he refused to comply with Louis XVIII.'s summons which called him to the diocese of Montauban in Languedoc, and that king had to lay his commands upon him before he would consent to leave the United States. From Montauban he was translated to the archbishopric of Bordeaux, where he now rules with great usefulness and popularity. He is a peer of France, of course.\*

While I am on the subject of churches I may mention that a gang of atheists opened a temple in Philadelphia in 1706 or '97, which they dedicated to Reason, so that, throwing off entirely the Christian creed, they took Tom Paine and Robespierre's Goddess of Reason and suchlike for their idol. This effort was associated with a licentious newspaper called the Temple of Reason. I am happy to say that public opinion soon after put the whole down. In the year in which I am writing (1830) a pupil of Robert Owen, a female named Fanny Wright, has been lecturing to crowded audiences in one of the Philadelphia theatres upon agrarianism and infidelity. She is an itinerant Englishwoman, who meets with support from those only who were confirmed irreligionists before she began her career. Nobody is persecuted in this country, so that palpable infidelity or sublimated social doctrines fall to pieces before the all-powerful disapprobation of public opinion.

\* De Cheverus was born Jan. 28, 1768, and was the last priest to be ordained (Dec. 8, 1790) before the breaking out of the Revolution. He fled in disguise from France to England, where he taught and ministered, and in 1796 went to Boston at the invitation of the Abbé Martignon. He and his associate lived down the prejudices which met them, and gained the respect and admiration of all classes and sects. De Cheverus was honored in public ways, and when he opened a subscription for a church, President John Adams was the first to subscribe. He was one of the most prominent promoters of art, science and literature in Boston, and one of the founders of the Boston Athenæum. He was recalled to France in 1823, to the bishopric of Montauban, from which he was transferred to the archbishopric of Bordeaux; he also received the cardinal's hat in 1836, and died the same year.

In the year 1788, to which I now return, we were sometimes visited by Miss Thompson, the daughter and only child of Sir Benjamin Thompson, afterward so well known by the title of Count Rumford. That great philosopher was born in the township of Rumford in Massachusetts or New Hampshire, and rose to great distinction by his military and scientific knowledge, particularly in Bavaria, where he was prime minister many years.

In this year (1788), on a visit to Newburyport, I first became acquainted with the late President of the United States, John Quincy Adams, and was subsequently brought into considerable intimacy with him when a fellow-member of a select club of twelve. But at the time I knew him at Newburyport he was reading law in the office of the celebrated jurist, Theophilus Parsons. Mr. Adams intermixed with his law-studies a moderate indulgence in belles-lettres composition. Among others, he wrote a satire on the female society of the small town in which he resided. The airs and graces and follies of some of the girls were lashed severely. He lent me this poem, written in his own compact hand, as easy to read as any print. I kept it long enough to read to my Aunt Andrews, a blue-stocking of Boston. It offended her greatly. She is still alive, and is an accomplished lady and good poetess. She did not criticise the versification, but was indignant at the cutting sarcasm that pervaded the entire composition, and which she thought was aimed at the whole of her sex. I know not whether she has ever forgiven this juvenile attack. For a long while she held the

author in aversion. In his poem the *larmoyant* girls were told that

"The surest female weapon was a tear."

Belinda, the heroine, was romantic,

"Ever with a senseless novel in her hand."

There was an exception \* to this widespread vituperation. Her name was Frazier; she was so exquisitely beautiful, so faultless in feature, complexion, expression, that she had but one rival in all New England, and that

\* This satire and the exception are probably among the matters in Mr. Adams's diary which his son does not think it worth while to include in his record of the President's life and writings. It is a little curious that Newburyport should have kept alive this society warfare. The town enjoyed a celebrity as the home of a good many bright people after the day of Judge Parsons. Miss Hannah Gould enjoyed a reputation as a poet not wholly local, for one of her poems, on "Jack Frost," has found a permanent place in reading-books and anthologies. But in her own society she was known, and indeed feared, for her habit of making rather sharp epigrams on her neighbors. One of her shafts was shot at Caleb Cushing in the shape of the following epitaph:

"Lie aside, all ye dead,
For in the next bed
Reposes the body of Cushing;
He crowded his way
Through the world, as they say,
And perhaps now he's dead he'll be pushing."

To which Mr. Cushing retorted with some gallantry and quite as much truth:

"Here lies one whose wit
Without wounding could hit;
And green be the turf that's above her.
Having sent every beau
To the regions below,
She has gone down berself for a lover."

This arrow also probably shot home, since Miss Gould had lived so far single that there was every prospect of her outliving any eligible candidate for her hand.

was Miss Ellery of Newport. I knew Miss Frazier well, and can testify to the mildness of her blue eyes, the plumpness of her cherry lips and her carmine cheeks, but above all the fascinating charm of her eyes—

"Les yeux noir, ce sont de jolis yeux; Mais les plus beaux ce sont les bleu."

Les yeux noir disent aimez-moi; mais les yeux bleu disent aimez-moi, et je vous aimerai. The language of mutual love was not, however, understood by Miss Frazier and Mr. Adams. He was exceedingly in love with her, but she did not respond to his passion. His was a passion of unusual violence. Six-and-thirty years after, Mr. Adams and I sat together at dinner when my venerable neighbor, Judge Peters, entertained La Fayette. I spoke of our early acquaintance at Newburyport. He said, when I adverted to Miss Frazier, that "it was a consuming flame kindled by her. Love such as I felt for that lady," continued he, "is a distressing malady: it made me restless, sick, unhappy; indeed, I may say wretched. It was a long while before I was cured, or able to transfer my love to another object, which I did very sincerely when I married my present wife, who has fulfilled by her kindness and affection all my expectations and wishes in reference to connubial happiness."

When I was in Congress (the 18th Congress, sessions 1823-1825) I saw Mr. and Mrs. Adams frequently, and gave him my vote in the House of Representatives when his election came before that body. On that eventful occasion I alone, of all the Pennsylvanian delegation, voted for him, every one of my colleagues voting for

General Andrew Jackson. Mr. Adams told me that although he knew my vote could not be operative, on account of our voting by States, yet he felt more anxious about it than about any other. "I thought of James Vila's,"\* said he, "where we held our club; our early

\* Jemmy Vila was at one time host of the celebrated Bunch of Grapes tavern, but afterward removed to Concert Hall in 1789, and it was there that a club met of which Mr. Adams and Mr. Breck were members. Another member was the late Josiah Quincy, who makes some playful reference to it in a letter which he wrote to Mr. Breck in 1858, when the writer was in his eighty-seventh year and his correspondent in his eighty-eighth. "I am indebted for your letter," writes Mr. Quincy. "I approve of every word of it, and am delighted except with the last epithet, venerable. What is venerable? I am sick of the term, it is so often desecrated. Why, I have seen it applied to young fellows not more than sixty or seventy years old! I pray that Nestors such as you and I should be above such juvenilities. You ask if I remember Vila's? Who that ever knew can ever forget that prince of good eating? I see him now, short, rosy-gilled, with white apron and napkin, with ineffable grace and good humor laying upon the table beefsteaksah! such steaks as are not seen in these degenerate days, since cookery is done by ovens and steam-boilers-but smoking and rising proudly on the plate by the heat and depth of their own gravy; -not burnt, not swimming in an oleaginous mixture, but with the juice of the main body; not overdone, but red with the vital principle of the animal. Alas! when shall you and I see such steaks again? I fear never. Although we mutually rejoice in these reminiscences, I think we never enjoyed them together; when you were luxuriating with John Quincy Adams during the years preceding 1790, I was hammering on Greek and Latin at Harvard; but I remember and delight in the remembrance of all your enumerated friends and many more. You were at least two years in advance of me, and that makes an awful difference in early life. But who that once knew can ever forget the amiable and intelligent Frazier, the ever-jocund and witty Crafts, the noble Thomas Handasyd Perkins, the staid and solid James, his brother John Wells, the good and faithful, and Thomas C. Amory, everybody's friend and favorite?" friendship occurred to me." I replied that my vote was given both to satisfy my judgment and gratify my feelings. He made a good President, and conducted the affairs of the nation well for four years.

Things in 1787 were in a declining condition in every part of the United States, and poor Boston, the population of which was reduced to eighteen thousand, lost this year by fire several hundred houses in the south part of the town. La Fayette, accidentally hearing of this calamity in Paris, wrote to my father to draw on him for three hundred pounds sterling, and distribute the amount among those who stood in need of aid.

In the fall of the year 1789 a French squadron came to Boston. It consisted of two ships of the line and several frigates. The Patriot (seventy-four) was commanded by Monsieur de Ponderez, who was the admiral, and the Leopard (seventy-four) by M. de la Gallisonière, and one of the frigates had for captain my old friend the Marquis de Traversé, with whom I went to France in 1782. For two preceding years French squadrons had come to Boston in August and September, in order to be out of the reach of the hurricanes of the West Indies. On one occasion the captains of two frigates obtained leave to visit New York and Philadelphia. During their absence there came an unexpected order for the squadron to depart. It had been gone about a week when the travellers returned. I was sitting alone in the parlor, just before candlelight, when a servant told me there were two strangers in the kitchen who wished to see me. On going to meet them I heard them speak French, and found that they were our friends

the forsaken captains. They had just arrived, and were so chagrined at the awkward position in which they found themselves that they had sneaked in the back way to consult my father. But he was abroad. I endeavored to console them by telling them that frequent opportunities offered for France. One of them, Captain Booby (spelled in French *Boubée*), was very much laughed at on account of his name, as associated with the loss of his ship.

The Patriot, commanded by M. de Ponderez, was a fine vessel, and somewhat distinguished for having taken Louis XVI. on a short excursion to sea when that king visited the great works at Cherbourg. Ponderez always connected this event with the loyal sentiments which he so strongly felt and expressed for his sovereign. News came daily of the progress of the Revolution and consequent humiliation of the court. He shed tears when I translated those passages that were affrontive to the king or queen. This amiable man eventually lost his health and life by the constant anxiety produced by the subversion of the old despotism. De Ponderez loved the king with chivalric ardor, and held in veneration the monarchy and its institutions. He died of grief the year after, as I heard, at Martinique.

La Gallisonière's ship, the Leopard, was one of the finest models in the world. She sat on the water like a swan. She rode majestically at anchor about a mile below the Castle, at the same time that a British frigate named the Penelope lay in the inner harbor, under the command of Samuel Lindsey, Esq. Her officers, with whom I was well acquainted, were not on sociable terms

with the Frenchmen, and none of them would go on board their ships. They would sail round them and applaud their finished naval architecture, particularly that of the Leopard, but they kept aloof from the officers. The British captain's son, Samuel Hood Lindsey, was a midshipman on board the Penelope. He was rather younger than I. An intimacy, however, grew up between us, and I prevailed upon him to let me introduce him to La Gallisonière. Having fixed a day, we went together on board the Leopard. The captain, who was a very kind-hearted man, received us with his usual courtesy. We walked up and down the starboard quarter-deck, all along which were seated common sailors, some in groups playing cards, others reading or sleeping. This looked strange enough to an officer of the British navy, accustomed to consider the quarterdeck as a kind of sanctum sanctorum consecrated to the special use of the captain and officers. If this easy discipline astonished him, how much wider did he open his eyes when a sailor who belonged to a party who were chasing each other round the mainmast dodged his pursuer by jumping behind La Gallisonière, whom he seized by both arms! The captain stopped, and turning round to the sailor, said very good-naturedly, "Qu'est que c'est donc, mon enfant?" To which the tar replied very familiarly, "Ce gaillard là veut m'athafer, et je me cache derrière vous pour l'empêcher." ("What's the matter, my child?"—"That fellow wants to catch me, and I hide behind you to prevent it.") This scene was not new to me, because I had been much accustomed to French men of war, but to Lindsey it seemed past belief. And when we had left the ship the young middy, in adverting to it, exclaimed, "Damn them! it is no wonder we beat them."

This officer was the son of a martinet, and under the most rigid discipline on board his father's ship. The contrast was indeed striking. In the war that took place with France a few years after, the midshipman rose rapidly, and in the vessels he commanded showed himself a true chip of the old block. To such a pitch of exasperation did his tyranny drive his men that when cruising off the Tagus in the Tiger (ninety-gun ship), which he commanded, a sailor, having asked leave to speak to him on the quarter-deck, plunged a knife into his bosom. It did not, however, kill him. He died off the Cape of Good Hope, I think, a few years after.

The senior Captain Lindsey was a native of Boston, patronized, I think, by Lord Hood. He was a good officer and most exact disciplinarian, the terror of his crew. Two or three years after I knew him he retired from the service of the king of England, brought his family to Boston, and settled there. His wife, an amiable woman, soon after died. At her death the eccentricities of the captain assumed the appearance of mental derangement. He retired to a small box in the neighborhood of Milton, where he lived entirely by himself, rode out armed, and tapped his cider-cask by firing a ball into the head. As he was seldom to be seen at home, he fixed a parcel of hooks in his kitchen for the butchers to hang their meat on, giving a standing order to put daily a joint upon one of the hooks. It so happened on one occasion, when he was detained in Boston about a fortnight by sickness, that he found on his return home fifteen or sixteen pieces of meat hanging around the walls of his kitchen. His daughter married Mr. Thomas C. Amory, an old and intimate friend of mine. Several of his younger sons became Americans, and I hope good republicans.

At the time when Admiral de Ponderez was lying with his fleet in the harbor of Boston, the great Washington, who was President of the United States, arrived in the town. He like a kind father was visiting the vast country he had been called upon to govern. His reception was most cordial. A broad arch was purposely erected, with appropriate mottoes, across Marlborough street, opposite to the old State House, under which he passed in great state, and entering the State House showed himself from the balcony to the thousands who stood below. I placed myself on this occasion in the front window of a handsome brick church situated almost opposite. That church \* had a fine steeple, and was a fresh, substantial-looking edifice, and belonged to the successors of the first congregation that was formed in Boston in the year 1628 or '30. But the rage of speculation levelled it to the ground, and put in its place a lofty row of warehouses and shops. From that church I saw everything,† heard the fine anthems composed

<sup>\*</sup> The First Church had been removed from State street in 1640. It was again removed in 1808, giving place to what is now known as Joy's Building, and rebuilt in Chauncy street. A third change was made when the brick church in Chauncy street was taken down, and a stone church built at the corner of Marlborough and Berkeley streets in 1868.

<sup>†</sup> The spot was well chosen, if we may judge from the interesting

for the occasion, and gazed upon the majestic person and beneficent features of our immortal and unique President—beloved, admired by everybody. The procession moved from the State House to the house selected for his residence. It was a handsome brick building at the corner of Tremont and Court streets.\* A beautiful company of light infantry, commanded by Harrison Gray Otis, served as a guard of honor and escort.

Governor Hancock had prepared a great dinner at his house, to which he invited the French admiral, the officers of his fleet and the principal citizens. A notion had got into Hancock's head that the governor of a

reminiscences of another old gentleman who was present on the occasion-Gen. W. H. Summer: "I was a boy then of between nine and ten years of age, and a pupil at Master Lane's West Boston writingschool. Master Lane's boys were placed in front of Mr. Jonathan Mason's hardware store, near the bend in Washington street (then Cornhill) opposite Williams' Court. I well remember the laugh which our salute created when, as the general passed us, we rolled in our hands our quills with the longest feathers we could get. From our position at the angle of the street we had a fair view of the procession as it approached and after it passed us. A select choir of singers, led by Rhea, the chorister of Brattle street church, was placed on the triumphal arch under which the procession was to pass, and which extended from the old State House to the stores of Joseph Pierce and others at the opposite side of Cornhill. The arch was decorated with flags, flowers and evergreens, so that the musicians were not seen until they rose up and sang the loud pæan, commencing as Washington first came in sight at the angle where we stood, swelling in heavy chorus until he passed from our sight under the triumphal arch and took his station upon it."-" Some Recollections of Washington's Visit to Boston," in the New England Historical and Genealogical Register, for April, 1860.

\* The house, at that time of two stories only, was a boarding-house kept by Joseph Ingersoll. It is now Pierce's grocery store, and bears a tablet on its face inscribed "Occupied by Washington in 1789." State was a kind of sovereign in his own territory, and that it would be derogatory to his station to pay the first visit to any one, even to the President of the United States; and acting always by this rule, he sent an invitation to General Washington to dine with him, but excused himself from calling on him, alleging that sickness detained him at home, thus covering by a lante apology the resolution which he dared not openly exercise toward the President, but which his Democratic friends, who always surrounded him, advised him never to abandon so long as he valued State rights and State dignity; forgetting the absurdity of exalting the chief of a part above the chief of the whole.

Washington, who had received some hint of this intended etiquette, was not very likely to submit to it; therefore, when he arrived at his residence he dismissed Captain Otis's company, and instead of going to dine with the governor, sent his aid-de-camp, Major William Jackson, with a message declining the invitation, and intimating that if Hancock's health permitted him to receive company, it would admit of his visiting him.\*

\* Hancock's fiasco has been frequently related, and always with substantially the same interpretation. The assumption of superior dignity began indeed when the governor failed to meet the President on his entrance to town, which angered Washington and rendered his bearing less gracious than usual. He would not be induced to ascend the balcony at the old State House prepared for him until assured that the governor was not there. The correspondence that afterward passed between the two dignitaries is amusing when read by the light of the facts. Sunday, 26th October, half-past twelve o'clock, the governor, brought to his senses, writes: "The Governor's best respects to the President. If at home and at leisure, the Governor will do himself the honor to pay his respects in half an hour. This would have been

My father dined at the governor's that day, and about sunset brought home Admiral de Ponderez and several officers, who spent the evening with us. The dinnerparty went off heavily, as every one was disappointed at not meeting with the President. Meantime, the French ships of war in the harbor were illuminated with variegated lamps, and bonfires blazed in every direction. The ladies wore bandeaux, cestuses and ribbons stamped and worked in with the name of Washington, some in gold and silver, and others with pearls. The utmost joy and enthusiastic affection pervaded all classes. Every honor and attention was lavishly bestowed on the distinguished guest.

About ten o'clock in the evening I accompanied the admiral to the wharf, where he took boat for his ship. As we passed the residence of the President, De Ponderez expressed his surprise at the absence of all sort of parade or noise. "What!" said he, "not even a sentinel? In Europe," he added, "a brigadier-general would have a guard; and here this great man, the chief of a nation, dispenses with all military show, so much insisted on with us!"

The next day was Sunday, and immediately after morning service Mr. Joseph Russell, an intimate acquain-

done much sooner had his health in any degree permitted. He now hazards everything, as it respects his health, for the desirable purpose." To which the President, at one o'clock, replies: "The President of the United States presents his best respects to the Governor, and has the honor to inform him that he shall be at home till two o'clock. The President need not express the pleasure it will give him to see the Governor; but at the same time he most earnestly begs that the Governor will not hazard his health on the occasion."

tance of the governor's, called at our house and told my father that His Excellency had swallowed the bitter pill, and was then on his way to visit the President; to which step he had been urged by a report that people generally condemned his false pride. Associated with this subject is the conduct of John Langdon, then governor of New Hampshire, the State which the President was to visit next. It contrasts strongly with that of Hancock. The former, instead of waiting for the first visit, left his capitol with an escort of horse and rode to the line that divides his State from Massachusetts, and there received the President, whom he accompanied to Portsmouth, which was at that time the seat of government.

Hancock, who was a distant relation of ours, possessed winning manners and fascinating conversation; yet with a hospitable heart and all the suavity of polished breeding, he was so much swayed by State importance that he forfeited occasionally his claim to those amiable qualities. An example has just been given in the case of Washington; and a few months later the same thing occurred with the French ambassador, Comte de Moustier, who when visiting Boston was not noticed by the governor, because the minister would not pay him the first visit. It may be that the governor was right here. but it was an idle piece of etiquette, which disgusted De Moustier with Boston-so much so that he dined nowhere, I think, except at my father's. It is but fair to add that this Frenchman was a coxcomb, full of prejudice, and very apt to assume airs and sport opinions very offensive to my countrymen. When at New York,

where he resided, and which was then the seat of government of the United States, he used to send his dinner and wine to the houses at which he was invited, even to Alexander Hamilton's. I dined with him once *en famille* at New York, and his whole discourse was a strain of abuse of America.

But to return to Hancock. I remember another occasion on which he showed an unkind feeling toward the general government, from an idea that it withheld from him that deference which his post of governor of a sovereign State entitled him to. He attached mighty importance to the station of chief magistrate of an independent State, forgetting that a portion of that lofty character was relinquished when Massachusetts became a component part of the Federal Union. His solicitude upon this subject brings to my mind four verses to the tune of "Yankee Doodle" often sung by the British officers during the Revolution:

" Madam Hancock dreamt a dream;

She dreamt she wanted something;

She dreamt she wanted a Yankee king,

To crown him with a pumpkin,"

This official heartburning led him to neglect all those who had anything to do with the Federal government. Thus it was that a party of Indian chiefs and their squaws who were sent to Boston to see the town were totally unnoticed by him.

I happened to meet with those children of the woods on a journey from New York to Boston, and spent some time in the same tavern on the road. They

travelled in two carriages under the care of Captain Prior of the army. A Mr. d'Hauteville, a Creole French planter, was with me, and we agreed to show some attention to these strangers when arrived at Boston. Accordingly, we went to see them, and made arrangements to give them a dinner at our lodgings. Expecting that the governor would entertain them, we waited several days. He, however, took no notice of them, and on the appointed day they came to us. Mrs. Eaton's house, where we lodged, was spacious, and the courtvard was large and retired, and well suited to accommodate the crowd of spectators by which our red guests were followed. We had eight or nine savages in full dress and daubed with paint. Mrs. Eaton's tablelinen received abundant marks of their toilet-pots. The queen had but one eye, and, besides being of a certain age, she used her cosmetics but too successfully to increase her ugliness. This royal dame sat on my right hand, and whenever a health was drunk, Her Majesty turned most condescendingly to me, and after a familiar nod sipped through her painted lips about half the wine in her glass, and with an amiability truly savage poured the other half into my glass, signifying that it was her wish I should swallow it. Who could refuse so fair a lady? With what stomach I had I gulped it down.

The principal chief was named *Trois-fesse*, which for modesty's sake I translate "Three Sides;" I called him by that name. His French appellation had been given him by the Canadians or voyageurs of Lake Superior, near the waters of which this band resided. *Calamung coro ho* are the Indian words for "I drink your good

health," and they were often repeated that day. After the cloth was removed I asked the chief for a toast. He rose with solemnity and addressed me as follows: "Brother, I divide my toast into three parts. First, I drink reverence to the Great Spirit, our Father in heaven; secondly, to our Great Father on earth, the President of the United States; and thirdly, to our travelling father and friend, Captain Prior." All this was delivered with suitable emphasis and great gravity in the Indian language, and translated by the interpreter of the government, who dined with us. They stayed about three hours, and conducted themselves very well, retiring loaded with eigars and reasonably sober for Indians.

In the same house where this feast was given there came to lodge in 1789 or thereabout—perhaps a year later—Lord Whickham,\* eldest son of the marquis of Lansdowne. The father of this young nobleman, better known among us by the title of Lord Shelburne, having made peace with us in 1783, wished his heir to become acquainted with a country to which Great Britain had been compelled to give independence. I met him two or three times at parties in Philadelphia, and heard of him when he lodged at Mrs. Eaton's at Boston. The day after he arrived at that lady's house, when he was introduced at the breakfast-table by the name of Lord Whickham, his fellow-lodgers never having seen a nobleman, and being wholly unused to titles, took it

<sup>\*</sup> More stylishly spelled Wycombe by the gentleman himself, though the pronunciation by his lordship's valet may have agreed better with the name in our text.

for granted that "Lord" was his Christian name, so that he was addressed as Mr. Whickham, except when a rough Salem-man by the name of Barton happened to speak to him, and then he blunderingly called him Mr. Whackhim.

In Philadelphia I dined with him at Mr. Bingham's, and spent an evening with him at Mr. William Smith's, member of Congress from South Carolina, who gave a ball in compliment to him. At this ball a great belle, Miss Sophia Chew, teased him so much to dance with her that he at length very reluctantly consented. The poor man, high born as he was, had never learned to dance; yes, distinguished as was his birth, he did not know a single step. No performance, of course, could be more awkward, and he seemed in agony the whole time. But Miss Chew, privileged as all pretty women are, had determined to dance with a lord; so she said, and so persisted until, bon gré, mal gré, the stranger was obliged to submit. He was a tall, thin, gawky man of twenty-three or twenty-four years of age, mentally well endowed, though eccentric. On his return to England he sat in the House of Peers a few years as marquis of Lansdowne, and died about 1805. Lord Henry Petty, his brother, and present marquis of Lansdowne, succeeded him.

Among the Bostonians who were intimate at my father's was James Sullivan, afterward governor of Massachusetts. That distinguished gentleman grew up to manhood uneducated. He was the son of a farmer in the district of Maine, and had the good-fortune (for so it turned out) to break his leg when felling

a tree. While he was confined in consequence of this accident he occupied himself in reading, and gradually acquired a taste for study, which led to the subsequent cultivation of his mind and eminent standing at the bar. He married an accomplished lady from Portsmouth, who had previously been married to a gentleman from whom she obtained a divorce. By Mr. Sullivan she had many children. Mrs. Sullivan was possessed of a dignified person and urbane and even elegant manners.

## CHAPTER IV.

Second Voyage to Europe.—A Gale in the Irish Sea and a Shelter under the Isle of Man.—Dublin.—An Irish Bull.—A Hungry Traveller.
—Liverpool.—By Stage to London.—Drury Lane.—Binneau.—The Chevalier d'Eon.—Frederick Geyer.—A Lord Mayor's Show.—A Parliamentary Debate.—Burke.—Nicholas Ward Boylston.—A Ball at Bath.—En Route for Paris.—A Well-preserved Barber.—The Revolution.—De Noailles.—A Debate in the National Assembly.—Mirabeau.—A Glimpse of the Royal Family.—Spongers.—Barlow.—Browne Cutting.—Return Voyage.—A Dinner at Mr. Jeffrey's.

N a Sunday about the 16th of August, 1790, I met in the Public Walk at Boston, Mr. John Higginson, who commanded one of his father's merchant-ships. the course of conversation I inquired when he intended to sail, and where he was going. He said he should be ready for the sea by the 20th, and that he was bound to Dublin. "Now, Breck," said he, "I have a snug stateroom in my brig Sukey; the season is fine; you have nothing to do here; get yourself ready for a trip with me, and take another look at the old country." The proposal was quite unexpected. I had no thought of visiting Europe. "Your invitation," I said, "is very tempting, and if my father does not object to it I will be ready to accompany you." On consulting my father I found him disposed to gratify my wish, and we immediately commenced our preparations. I say our, because that excellent parent, having a large claim on Daniel Parker, who resided in London, put his papers in order and gave me full power to settle it. He provided me likewise very amply with bills of credit and money in gold; so that on the day appointed I was on board the Sukey, sailing down the harbor to Nantasket Roads in company with several friends, who spent a jovial day with us and bade us an affectionate adieu in the evening. But we were wind-bound two days before we got to sea. Our passage was unmarked by a single occurrence of the smallest consequence until we came in sight of Cape Clear, the southernmost part of Ireland, on the 18th of September. It was a fine afternoon, about four o'clock, when we approached the land and when two fishingsmacks boarded us. With them we exchanged some tobacco and rum for fresh cod. On asking "What news?" they informed us that England was arming against Spain, in consequence of a dispute about some American territory on the Pacific Ocean, called Nootka, and, pointing to a sloop of war then steering toward land, told us that she was a cruiser sent out to impress men. This intelligence alarmed two Irish steerage passengers who were in our vessel, and liable to be forced into the king's service. The critical season of the year (being the autumnal equinox) saved us from a visit; for, being late in the afternoon, the cruiser kept on her course and went into the Cove.

The next day, contrary to our expectations, was clear and serene. A gentle breeze, perfectly fair, had favored us all night, and was so delightfully mild that it lulled the whole crew of a fishing-boat to sleep. We came very near sending them to the bottom. Aroused, however, just as we were upon them, they screamed out so lustily that our helmsman scraped by them. They hailed from the "auld Head of Kingsale," and in truth the old head was directly opposite. With this favorable wind we coasted along the southern shore of Ireland, passing by Cork Harbor, Youghal Bay and the mouth of the river Barrow, on which stands the town of Waterford. Toward evening we came in sight of the Saltees, which we weathered during the night, and steered northerly for Dublin, our port of destination. At daylight on the 20th the beautiful storm-breeding weather of the preceding day disappeared, and was succeeded by dark and angry clouds, a swelling and strongly-agitated sea, howling winds-all ominous of a gathering storm. It was, in truth, the commencement of a furious equinoctial gale. Our position was extremely dangerous, confined to a narrow sea bounded on all sides by lofty hills and bestrewn with shoals, sandbanks, and sunken rocks. We had, however, the whole day before us, but it became necessary to make every effort to reach Dublin before dark. Captain Higginson, aware of our perilous situation, spread his sail and pushed his heavilyladen vessel through the bobbing waves of St. George's Channel. But our brig was a clump, and made but small way through the short though lofty billows. A man was stationed at the masthead, with orders to keep a sharp lookout for breakers that are occasioned by a series of sandbanks extending along the eastern coast of Ireland from Dublin Harbor to Wexford Haven. One among them, called in our charts the Kish, and represented there as covered by one foot of water only.

140

gave us great uneasiness, as it was laid down ten or twelve miles from land, so that nothing could save us in stormy weather should we happen to run upon it. We were fast approaching it, yet Higginson was unwilling to tack before twelve o'clock, on account of the irregularity in the nautical division of the day, which a note of that manœuvre in the logbook would produce. So we sailed on until about eleven, when we saw a brig standing to the southward, which we spoke. She was a trader from Bordeaux to Dublin. Arrived that morning just at the entrance of her destined port, she had been compelled to bear away and relinquish the attempt to enter. Taught by this example, our captain consented to steer east. We tacked about then, and made stretches across the Channel of eight hours each. The night passed in anxiety, the wind increasing. On the 23d the gale became furious and blew to rags our foresail, so that we had to beat about the whole day under bare poles. About an hour before dark a thick mist that hung round us cleared away and showed us a bluff of rugged high land to leeward. This we supposed to be Holyhead, and to avoid getting landlocked and losing the vessel and our lives on the coast of Cornwall, it became necessary to make sail. Fortunately, we had bent a few days before the gale a new foretopsail of Boston-manufactured duck, and on the strength of this we wholly depended. The storm did not abate, and a desperate effort was made to weather the high land. The sail was spread, and the brig moved slowly over the rough sea. Higginson and I were in the cabin anxiously inspecting the charts. Opposite to Holyhead

we found many sunken rocks laid down, and expecting every moment to feel the vessel strike some of them, we prepared ourselves for the worst. I placed my gold and letters of credit about my person and arranged my dress for swimming. We had approached the land so near that, in the sea-phrase, "we could chuck a biscuit on shore." The mate was stationed in the shrouds looking out for the Skerry lighthouse, which ought to open to view as we doubled Holyhead; but nothing of the kind appeared, notwithstanding the great service our Boston foretopsail was doing us, for we were squeezing round the high and frowning point, and in good time wholly weathered it and got into an open sea to leeward, where we moved with less anxiety, keeping the brig's head nearly north. In this manner we continued until four o'clock in the morning, when the watch called out, "Land close ahead!" The ship's course was instantly changed, but being perfectly bewildered, we knew not which way to steer. It was extremely dark, and meeting with land in a northerly direction, we thought we might avoid it by putting our prow south-east. So we continued until daylight. The gale had not abated at the dawn, and we began anew to consider of our safety, even by stranding our vessel. With this intention we surveyed the long line of coast by which we were embayed, using the spyglass to search for a flat shore. Imagining that we saw one about eight miles off, at the very bottom of the bay, we fixed the cables to the anchors and steered for it, determined to anchor and let the vessel drive ashore if she would, rather than spend another night in the midst of these inland seas

142

Scarcely had we shaped our course in conformity with this resolution, when three or four vessels then in sight put themselves in our wake, and, taking us for their pilot, seemed willing to follow us. They were Dutchmen, and apparently as bewildered as ourselves. While sailing thus at haphazard, and wondering at the seeming confidence placed in us by these strangers, we perceived a small sloop come round the high land that we doubled amid so much uneasiness the preceding night. We watched him attentively, and saw him sail along shore with great boldness. Concluding that it was a coaster well acquainted with the bay, we prepared to profit by his knowledge. Higginson waited until he got nearly opposite to us, and then told me that it was his intention to follow him, with the hope that he would show us the way to a safe port. He accordingly ordered the helmsman to take the coasting-sloop for his guide.

No sooner had we done this than the strange vessels that were following us changed their course in like manner; so there we were, a string of ships in close pursuit of an unknown vessel, by whose compass we all steered without the smallest knowledge of the place she was bound to. During five hours we kept within a quarter of a mile of our file-leader, taking the precaution to heave the lead when we approached the shore, as we frequently did within the length of a cable, for our little pilot darted along with so much assurance, notwithstanding the violence of the wind—which, however, had somewhat abated—that Higginson resolved not to deviate a point from his course. Scarcely had we come to this resolution when we saw him approach

a point of land so very near that I trembled when the captain bade the steersman keep precisely in the same track. The lead, which was anxiously watched, indicated, however, a sufficient depth of water. It was a cape of no great breadth, and we soon sailed round it. On a sudden there opened to our view a spacious bay filled with ships at anchor. A small town lay at the foot of a lofty hill cultivated to the very summit. The transition from a boisterous sea to a calm anchorage was delightful, and to us a most joyful deliverance. We sailed into the midst of the fleet, consisting of twenty-seven square-rigged vessels, and dropped anchor. "Where are we?" was the question Higginson and I put to each other. Neither of us had the smallest idea of the place's name. It was now about twelve o'clock, and as we had not had a regular meal for three days, we chose to take a comfortable dinner before we went in search of information. As soon as we had dined the boat was hoisted out, and I took the mate with me to a Liverpool collier that was moored near us, and asked the name of the bay and town. The crew told us that we were in Ramsay Bay in the Isle of Man. With this information I returned to our captain, who was greatly surprised to find himself at least one hundred miles farther north than he supposed. On looking at our charts we discovered that the town in front was Ramsay, and that the land we had weathered in the dark of the preceding night was Calf Island, instead of Holyhead, and the land that turned us out of our course in the morning was the coast of Scotland. We spent the afternoon in the quiet contemplation of

the beautiful landscape around us and the perfectly sheltered harbor, now unusually full of shipping that had, like ourselves, sought protection from the storm.

Being all of us temporary visitors, we availed ourselves the next morning of fair weather and a light breeze to endeavor to get out of the bay, and if possible by the southern cape, so as to avoid the very near approach to land that we made on entering it. But the wind opposed our efforts, and had nearly determined us to drop anchor again when the same little fellow that piloted us in, loosened his sails and prepared to depart, he having run into port only to avoid the storm. Confident of his skill, we again followed, and ran along with him down the north of the island, passing Peele Castle.\* We spent the night in the Irish Channel, and at daylight on the 26th saw Ireland's Eye, and soon after Howth Head, opposite to which we were boarded by a pilot who had just put his companion into the Bordeaux trader that we spoke four days before. That vessel, he told us, had been very roughly treated, having lost her quarter-deck railing and spare spars, and been driven on shore near Whitehaven.

With our pilot we entered the river Liffey, or rather the harbor of Dublin, and anchored about four miles from the city. In the afternoon Higginson and I landed a few roods from the brig on a vast dike composed of earth and faced with stone. It is a mighty breakwater

<sup>\*</sup> If Mr. Breck read Wordsworth fifteen or twenty years after this voyage, he must have lighted with great interest on "Elegiac Stanzas, suggested by a Picture of Peele Castle in a Storm, painted by Sir George Beaumont."

three or four miles long, and forms the southern barrier of the harbor, which, after all the labor of this stupendous work, is shallow and unsuitable for large ships. Having walked the whole length of this pier, we entered the suburbs of the Irish metropolis, and with some difculty found our way to the house of Mr. Wilson, the American consul, to whom our brig was consigned; but he was from home. By the kindness of some of his family we were directed to a fashionable lodging-house, kept by a Mrs. Harris in Capel street. Although I had spent several years in France, I found much novelty in this quarter of Europe, particularly among the vehement, light-hearted and hospitable Irish. I had, however, seen a good many strange samples of this nation in sponging abbés in France and blundering servants at home; but being now in the Emerald Isle itself, I looked attentively at what was passing there.

Just after we had taken possession of our rooms, and while making our toilet, Higginson, who was under the hands of a Dublin hairdresser, sent forth a horse laugh that announced some discovery. I opened his door to see what it was, when he cried out, "A bull! a bull! To be sure we are in dear Ireland for certain." He then told me that on asking the hairdresser what news, he replied that the lord chancellor had just received a present of a coach from England of a construction so magnificent that it cost three thousand guineas. "Poh! poh!" exclaimed my friend: "it is impossible." "Excuse me, sir," rejoined the *frisscur*, "it is very possible and very true; and you will think so yourself when I assure you that the very irons of it are gold!" This

was the first and only bull we heard in Ireland, a country whose people, by their vivacity accumulating thoughts faster than words, may be permitted to speak twice when they blunder. They never had occasion for this indulgence from us, for we did not catch them in a mistake after this. With regard to the coach with gold irons, it is certain that a carriage of unparalleled splendor had just arrived, which was the subject of much talk, and had been exhibited for money at Longacre's in London, and was now advertised to be seen gratis at the lord chancellor's stable.

During a week that I spent in Dublin I visited many of the remarkable things usually shown to strangers, such as the College, Castle, Parliament-house, Exchange, Custom-house, Rotunda, the markets, etc., and on Sunday attended divine service at St. Patrick's church, of which Swift was formerly dean. Dublin is a splendid city, containing between two and three hundred thousand inhabitants. The new Custom-house, just then finished at an expense of five hundred thousand pounds, is an edifice of extraordinary magnificence. Dame street, Leinster Green or Square, and various other parts of this noble city appeared very beautiful. Lord Westmoreland was lord lieutenant. I had a letter to Captain Fitzgerald, one of his aides, but not meaning to stay long in town I did not deliver it. On visiting Trinity College chapel I perceived in a gallery through which the guide took us a large picture turned to the wall. On asking the reason, I was told that it was a full-length portrait of the celebrated Grattan. This patriot and orator, to whom Parliament gave—in 1782,

I think—a gratuity of fifty thousand pounds, was now out of favor, and his portrait thrust aside by the government of the college. We were not allowed to see it. I was feasted with true Irish hospitality by Mr. Wilson, Mr. Forbes, etc., and spent my time merrily enough. The custom of hard drinking, so prevalent among the gentry of Ireland, was well kept up by the merchants too. Claret and other French wines were consumed most copiously. I played my part pretty well for a young man, and without once losing my balance. I know not whether that foolish and injurious habit still exists there. In America at this day (August, 1830) I am happy to say it is banished from good company. The upper class in the United States is commendably temperate.

The time arriving for me to embark for England, I went on board a Liverpool packet, and paid a guinea for a berth in the cabin. The vessel was a brig, and tolerably spacious. I found several passengers, male and female, on deck. It was the first day of October that we embarked, just after breakfast, and by the usual dinner-time we were well out at sea. Admonished by a hungry stomach of the arrival of four o'clock, I anxiously waited to be called to table. Yet no summons came; neither did I see any preparations except a few plates used by the passengers for a lunch from their private stores. I inquired of the steward when dinner would be ready. "Dinner, sir?" said he. "The ship furnishes nothing; every passenger provides himself with provisions." "So ho!" thought I, "this is an appalling piece of news for a hungry young fellow to

learn in the middle of the Irish Sea, and on a voyage that frequently lasts four days. But something must be done." I was tormented with too keen an appetite to stand still, so I went in search of the captain. From him I received no consolation. His own stores, he said, were exactly suited to his own wants, and he had not a mouthful to spare. "Worse and worse," said I to myself; "by this strange regulation I shall be left to starve with my pockets full of money and almost within hail of plentiful Ireland." While grumbling to myself. and now and then muttering my complaints aloud, I was accosted by a young gentleman, who told me that he had heard from the captain that I was without provisions in consequence of not knowing the custom of the ship, and that he had hastened immediately to offer me a share of his basket. Upon my begging him to permit me to club the expense with him, he said that he had much more than he and his companion could consume, and requested me to follow him to the table and partake of his plentiful store. I complied with many thanks. This friendly youth was a student at Cambridge named Wright, who during the vacation had been on an excursion to Ireland. He was a man of fortune, and, like many of his countrymen, not a little eccentric. Either for a bet or to gratify an odd humor he had taken with him as travelling companion the college barber. This, however, I did not discover until we were about to separate some days after at Liverpool. Meantime, I was introduced to him, and we all messed together.

We had a pleasant passage, and reached Liverpool

on the morning of the second day. I intended to stay only three days, and having sent my heavy baggage by a slow conveyance to London, I took a seat in the mailcoach to start at ten o'clock on Saturday night, and to travel two hundred and two miles in thirty hours to the British capital. At dinner that day I exchanged my gold with Mr. Wright for three ten-pound notes of the Bank of England, preferring paper to coin. These notes had endorsements on them precisely alike. I put them in my pocket, and spent the evening at the theatre. A little before ten I took leave of Mr. Wright, thanking him for his friendly attentions, and promising to let him know of my arrival in London and place of residence there; and then passing through the market, which was full of people, being Saturday evening, I went to the stage-office close by, and gave the clerk in attendance one of my three ten-pound notes to pay my fare, which came to between three and four guineas. He took the note and gave me the change in gold and silver. The stage drove to the door with several passengers, and I was going to take my seat when the clerk told me that I had not given him the bank-bill. I insisted upon it that I had, and drawing forth two ten-pound notes, showed him that these were a part of three that I had when I came into the office, and the other was in his possession. But my man was a true John Bull in make and in manners, being a rubicund. round-bellied fellow, with a scarlet broadcloth waistcoat. He stormed mightily, affirming that I had not given the note to him, and swearing that I should not stir a step until I paid him. With this he closed the door and

summoned his daughter. Meantime, the guard of the mail blew his trumpet; several market-people, hearing the noise, had already pressed into the room, and my situation became very embarrassing. The man's daughter arrived, and hearing her father's story, asked him if he was sure he had searched his pockets well. "Be sure, girl, I have," said he, "and you may look yourself if you will." Upon saying this, he turned his huge stomach to the young woman, who, casting her eve toward his pocket, exclaimed, "Why, father, there is the note sticking to the cloth!" And, sure enough, there it was. The man in attempting to put the note into his jacket pocket had left it adhering to the woollen cloth, from which the subsequent motion of his hand in searching for it did not remove it. Then came apologies the most humble. I forgave him, and entered the coach just as the driver's patience was exhausted.

At daylight on Monday we reached London. After reposing a few hours at the stage-inn, I visited Mr. Thomas Amory, a native of Boston. That gentleman received me in the most cordial manner, and never ceased his attentions during my stay in England. He was a wealthy merchant settled in London. Accompanied by him, I hired apartments in Norfolk street, a broad though short street running from the Strand to the Thames. It is pretty nearly in the centre of this great city, retired, comparatively silent, in the neighborhood of the theatres, Parliament-house and St. James's Park. The whole nation was in black for the recent death of the duke of Cumberland, brother or uncle to

the king. I was soon equipt in the sable uniform by paying double tailoring on a suit of clothes, for this is a little perquisite of the snip fraternity on the death of any individual entitled to the compliment of a general mourning.

In the evening I went to Drury Lane Theatre, and was astonished at the difference of behavior in the audience between the English and French. In the playhouses of the latter every one is uncovered and silent; in the former there is much rudeness, noise and selfishness. The company of performers, however, was good -indeed, excellent. Here was Mrs. Jordan, afterward the chère amie of the duke of Clarence (now King William IV.), to whom she brought a family of seven children, who took the name of Fitz Clarence. Next was that beautiful and accomplished actress, Miss Farren, now the countess of Derby, with whom were associated Richard Palmer, King, Incledon, Dignum, Suett, Banister, Jr., etc., and occasionally Mrs. Siddons. To these I ought to add an admirable actor named Parsons. The company at Covent Garden was not so able. Mrs. Siddons I saw in Isabella, a favorite character, but I was too far back to hear. It was, nevertheless, in the old small house in which Garrick performed. Her voice did not seem to fill the hall—at any rate, not sufficiently to electrify me by a single passage in the play. Her figure was beautiful. I could admire nothing more.

We had no national representative at the British court—none whatever; nor at Paris either, nor in Holland; so that our countrymen had to get along as well as they could, and with such protection as they were

able to find. But in England, Americans feel always at home; identified as they are with the natives in language, customs and manners, their country is to us as our own. As to London, a short residence makes one familiar with its din, which indeed does not extend beyond the main streets. I was as quiet at the bottom of Northumberland street, to which I had moved, as if I had lodged in a village. Mr. Duncan Ingraham, a native of Concord in Massachusetts, and uncle to my ci-devant flame, Miss Charlotte Geyer, lodged in my neighborhood, and was about paying a visit to Holland. He invited me to accompany him, and I consented.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Mr. Binneau, a French emigrant from Bordeaux, whose acquaintance I made at The Hague, called on me at my lodgings in Northumberland street as soon as he reached London. He found me in a very pleasant apartment, consisting of a parlor, dressing-room and bed-chamber. I was better lodged than in Norfolk street, and nearer the fashionable part of the town. These furnished rooms cost me only one guinea a week. I breakfasted at home, and when not invited abroad dined at the Oxford Coffee-house, close by in the Strand. Binneau and I visited several of the curiosities and manufactures of the town and vicinity, and rambled arm in arm much together. One day, on leaving my room, he told me he was engaged to dine in company with an individual who was the lion-or rather lioness-not only of London, but of all Europe. I allude to the Chevalier d'Eon, a long-lived and successful impostor. Binneau was not a little proud of being introduced to so distinguished a person, and spoke of the party with delight afterward.

In order to understand something about this D'Eon, I transcribe the account given of him in the year 1791 by the celebrated Anna Seward: "This is the period of inconceivable characters as well as of unexpected and prodigious events. The modern Thalestris is now in Lichfield. Mademoiselle le Chevalier d'Eon exhibiting for two shillings admittance her skill in the art of attack and defence with the single rapier! Melancholy reverse of human destiny! What a humiliation for the aide-de-camp of Marshal Broglie! for the ambassador during five years from the court of France to that of Russia! for the envoy to ours, and the principal planner and negotiator of the Peace of 1782! In the German war she lived five years in camps and tented fields, amidst the pride, the pomp and circumstance of high trust and glorious contest. In the American war she was in five battles-four against General Elliot-and received six wounds, and all this before her sex was discovered! I learned from herself," continues Miss Seward, "that a destiny so astonishing was not originally the result of voluntary choice. Her parents bred her as a boy to avoid losing an estate entailed on the heir male. She seems to have a noble, independent, as well as intrepid mind, and the muscular strength and activity of her large frame at sixty-nine are wonderful. She fences in the French uniform, and then appears an athletic, venerable, graceful man. In the female garb, as might be expected, she is awkwardly though not vulgarly masculine. In three days she was to have

sailed for France by the order of the late unfortunate monarch, to have resumed the male dress and to have taken military command as general, when the massacre at the Tuileries and imprisonment of the king lamentably frustrated that design and probably dropped an eternal curtain over her career of glory."

Such was Miss Seward's account of that mysterious person of doubtful gender when she saw D'Eon at Lichfield, her place of residence. The chevalier was showing herself off then as a woman. But at his death, which happened not long after, the warrior-lady was found to be of the masculine sex. Binneau saw her likewise as a petticoated old man, deceiving him and everybody else. A queer fancy skilfully executed!

I was very agreeably surprised one morning at my lodgings in Northumberland street by a visit from Frederick William Geyer, an old friend and fellow-townsman. He had just finished the tour of England, Scotland and Ireland. I gave him a hearty welcome, and contrived to keep him with me by converting my dressing-room into a bed-chamber. We lived together many months. He was a young man of fine appearance and easy manners, and we agreed most perfectly in everything. In giving me an account of his tour he mentioned a circumstance strongly illustrative of the hospitality of the Irish. Frederick had taken to Dublin a letter of introduction to a gentleman whose name I forget. It was delivered, and he was very kindly received. He spent a week in that city, during which time the greatest attention was paid to him by that individual, and at his departure, learning that his guest intended to go to Scotland by Port Patrick, he presented him with letters for the towns on his route. But what was Frederick's surprise when, on taking leave of this kind Irishman, he was told that he had no knowledge of the person who wrote the introductory letter presented to him, which was intended, he did not doubt, for a merchant of his name! "But I knew," continued he, "that I had more leisure and better means of entertaining you than he had, so I did not choose to undeceive you."

Soon after my return from Holland I was very favorably placed to see two grand processions. The first was on the 9th of November, the day of the Lord Mayor's Show, when I received an invitation to dine with a gentleman who lived near Guildhall. From his drawing-room windows I saw the pageant. The second was when King George IV. went in ceremony to open Parliament. On this occasion my friend Binneau, who was an ultra-royalist, accompanied me. We went to the Park early, and placed ourselves close to the gate that opened into the courtyard of St. James's Palace. There were assembled in the Park at most a thousand people when the procession entered it. Some of the great officers of the Crown preceded the king in coaches drawn by six horses. His Majesty rode in a splendid state carriage with eight cream-colored Hanoverian horses. Binneau and I both bowed. Not another hat was moved. The king seemed to remark this, for he turned toward us and saluted us, as it were, personally. The procession moved on amid profound silence. No huzzas, no particular marks of affection, or even respect, were noticed by us. My French companion was chagrined at this cold behavior. "In France," said he, "when our king in the good old days of royalty showed himself to the people, every hat was tossed in the air and every voice was raised to greet him."

The king, whom I had seen before with his family at the theatre, was a fine-looking man, about fifty years old and in excellent health. Several noblemen sat in the carriage with him, and the speech he delivered that day elicited a good deal of eloquence from Pitt, Fox, Burke, Sheridan and others on the dispute with the Spaniards about Nootka Sound. I went with Gever and a party of Americans to hear that parliamentary debate. We took some sandwiches in our pockets, and going to the House of Commons as early as one o'clock P. M., we obtained a pretty good place in the gallery, for which we each paid five shillings. Here we waited until four, when the mace appeared, followed by the Speaker. The house filled slowly until five, when Burke rose and made some desultory remarks about Somerset House, then newly built in the Strand. He was urging the passage of a bill providing for the repair of this edifice, which, although just finished, was constructed so slightly in the flooring as to be unsafe, and to "crack horribly," as he affirmed, when exposed to any great weight. Mr. Burke was a fat man, dressed in a drab-colored suit, and notwithstanding what he said was very commonplace, he was listened to attentively. The newspapers the next day reported his "horrible crack." Just behind me sat the famous Woodfall, learning every word of the debates as it were by heart, and with his unique talent carrying them in his

memory to his office after the adjournment, and then very correctly writing them down for his press.

Shortly after Burke took his seat, a division was called for on some question about malt, which, by the rules of the House, required the gallery to be cleared. We were, in consequence, all turned into a small room adjoining, where, huddled together, we remained a quarter of an hour. The crowd was excessive, and in the rush that was made for the gallery when the door was opened, I stepped aside and lost my place, hating then, as ever since, to fight my way to sight-seeing in company with a confused multitude. With this disinclination to elbow mobs, whether genteel or vulgar, I withdrew from the contest, and being left nearly alone in the room, I inquired the way out. The doorkeeper told me that the usual entrance was shut, but seeing that I could not squeeze into the gallery, and taking pity on me, he said he would permit me to go out through the hall in which the House of Commons was assembled. I accordingly descended a carpeted stairway, at the foot of which were seated on the steps three or four members of Parliament, who moved to let me pass. Here I found myself on the floor of the celebrated chapel of St. Stephen's during the session of the Commons. Turning to the right, I came to a large folding door in front of the Speaker's chair—the very door through which Cromwell drove the Rump Parliament-and out of it I passed down to the street.

Among my London friends was Ward Nicholas Boylston, a gentleman of great respectability and a native of Boston. He was particularly attentive to me. When a boy he was intimate at my maternal grandfather's, and fond of my mother, who was about his age. During our Revolutionary troubles he travelled through Asia Minor, and visited, with his Bible in his hand, Palestine, Syria and Egypt, and verified, greatly to his satisfaction, the truth of the sacred volume, both as to the physical formation of the country and the manners of its inhabitants. Of the particulars of this journey he would often speak, and I recollect several interviews that had their chief charm in conversations on those Eastern countries. I remember being at breakfast with him one day when a messenger came from Sir Joseph Banks to inform him that he had concluded to take an Egyptian statue, consigned to the care of Mr. Boylston, at the price of three thousand pounds sterling. This statue was very ancient, but had lost its nose. The empress Catharine II. of Russia had an agent in London ready to pay that sum if Sir Joseph should decline to do it. That gentleman purchased it, no doubt, for the British Museum.\*

Mr. Boylston had an uncle residing in London who was likewise a native of Boston. He fled to the mother-country at the commencement of the war for Independ-

\* Ward Nicholas Boylston was born Hallowell, but changed his name by desire of his maternal uncle, Nicholas Boylston. He went abroad for his health in 1773, and, engaging in business in England after his Eastern travels, did not return to America until 1800. One of his first acts on his return was to confirm a bequest of £1500 made by his uncle in 1772 to Harvard College, and since lapsed, amounting in 1800 to \$23,200, giving the money for the endowment of the chair of rhetoric and oratory, to which John Quincy Adams was called. He added valuable gifts to the college and medical school.

ence. Already rich when he left America, he had by commerce and economy greatly increased his wealth in England, and gave his nephew reason to believe that he would make him his heir. Thomas Boylston, the uncle, was a bachelor and a miser. To save house-hire he had nestled in the corner of the upper story of a lofty sugar-factory, five or six floors high. There he slept and made his scanty meals. Here his nephew visited him, and sometimes superintended the extensive operations of the sugar-refinery and other concerns belonging to his uncle. On one of these occasions the old man took to his bed very sick, as he said. My friend, sacrificing every comfort, imprisoned himself in the dreary cocklost and nursed him assiduously. The hypocrite, who only feigned sickness, left a will formally executed on a table in the garret, in order to invite his nephew to peruse it. Ward saw this paper and read He discovered that not one penny was left to him. Disgusted at this breach of promise, and at a loss to account for it, he chose upon reflection to remain silent and continue his attentions. The old sinner, perceiving that his malignant design had been accomplished, was not slow to leave his bed and show himself in health again. No sooner had this taken place than Ward reproached him for his duplicity, and left him for ever. This separation occurred a short time before my acquaintance with Mr. Boylston, who told me of it, and communicated the following fact at the same time: Thomas, finding the consumption of farthing candles too expensive in his dark residence, requested the nextdoor neighbor to permit him to open a window toward

his property. The neighbor, who despised the covetous sugar-baker, and moreover was not of a very obliging disposition, refused. Boylston, the uncle, whose factory was close by the river Thames, set about contriving some mode of revenge, for, notwithstanding his parsimony was great, it yielded to his love of vengeance. Cost what it would, he determined to injure his unaccommodating neighbor. The strip of ground between his neighbor's dwelling-house and the river was for sale. Boylston bought it, and immediately commenced building a brick wall on it. The wall rose higher and higher until it wholly intercepted the view of the water from every part of his disobliging neighbor's house. In vain did the poor man offer every accommodation to the incensed Boylston. He would not listen to any compromise. "Open," said the affrighted citizen, "twenty windows, and let me see the river."—" No, no," replied the sugar-baker; "I'll live in darkness myself most willingly, now that I have eclipsed your own fair prospect;" and thus did he ruin, at great cost to himself, the poor Londoner's estate. This vindictive man subsequently lost his fortune by having invested forty thousand pounds in the capital of a commercial house, upon which he was to receive a certain dividend without being considered as a partner. Boylston was legally declared one of the partners, and besides losing his forty thousand pounds, he was stript of the residue of his vast estate to pay the creditors of the bankrupt house.\* As to my friend, Ward Nicholas, he lived to

<sup>\*</sup> John Adams said of Thomas Boylston, who was a kinsman, "Tom is a firebrand, Tom is a perfect viper, a Jew, a devil; but is orthodox in

a good old age in the neighborhood of Boston, and besides being a benefactor to his native city and the college at Cambridge, he left a fortune of more than one hundred thousand dollars.

In January, 1791, I went to Bath and Bristol, and spent eight or ten days between the two places. I met at the New Rooms a British officer who had been entertained often at my father's, and appeared desirous to return the civilities by his attention to me. He introduced me to the master of ceremonies, Mr. Tyson. Here my republican notions of equality were wholly out of place. The manager introduced me to a young Irish lady, with whom I stood up to dance pretty near the head couple, but we found ourselves crowded down toward the bottom. "How is this?" said I to my little Hibernian partner. "Oh, it's all right," replied the submissive and fair plebeian; "the lady at the top is a duke's daughter; those next to her are the nieces of the archbishop of York; and after them come cousins and half-cousins of peers and M. P.'s." All this seemed so much a matter of course that I conformed to it easily enough; and indeed, upon the safe principle of doing at Rome as the Romans do, it was but making a virtue of necessity, for two of the printed rules are as follows: "Let two rows of seats at the upper end of the room be reserved for peeresses and ladies of precedence;"

politics, however." He was among the citizens of Boston who were detained by Governor Gage in consequence of the imprisonment of Jones and Hicks in the jail at Concord, and was released by exchange August, 1775. He fell off, and went to England. He is said to have died of a broken heart in London in 1708.

"Let a reasonable time be allowed between the minuets and country dances for ladies of rank and precedence to take their places at the head of the country dances," "Aha!" thought I, "if we ever eatch any of these sprigs of nobility in America, we'll teach them better manners." A junior brother of the celebrated Major André was pointed out to me in a cotillon. He had lately been made a baronet in consequence of his brother's execution. He was offered five hundred a year or a baronetcy. He took the latter, knowing that the title would procure him a wife with a thousand a year.

On the 3d of February 1 left London for Paris, and adopted a mode of conveyance that was newly established and promised to save trouble. It was a line of coaches established between the two cities that took passengers for five guineas apiece, and found them in everything on the road. In one of these carriages I took my seat, and breakfasting, got along badly enough with one inside companion, the vulgar wife of Mendoza or some other scientific boxer, who was on the top of the coach, bound with his precious rib to Canterbury to exhibit his pugilism. The fare at this city was sufficiently plain, so much so as to induce me to provide for myself at Dover. Although we were now in the middle of winter, the weather was exceedingly mild. Our passage to France was made in less than three hours. At Calais things were in strong contrast with those in England—a few alterations for the better, and many otherwise. I went to Maurice's Hotel, where the common sitting-room was filled with a troupe of dancers going over to perform at the opera in London, We had

to stay a day for the diligence, which gave me an opportunity of walking round the ramparts and looking in at Desseing's establishment, so celebrated since the days of Sterne's *Sentimental Yourney*. To this great inn is attached a theatre, which we attended in the evening, having previously received a visit at our lodgings from a fat monk, who came, as in the time of Sterne, to solicit charity.

On the morning of the 5th we were roused at four o'clock and stowed away in the centre division of an enormous diligence drawn by six horses. At a very moderate pace we arrived at Boulogne in time for a late breakfast. We continued our journey through Montreuil to Abbeville, where we arrived long after dark and took supper. We left Abbeville at ten o'clock at night with three postilions and ten horses-rats of things, to be sure; with these we were to conquer the unpayed roads that lay in our way to Amiens, Our company in the centre was reduced to a Frenchman and a Turk. The night was cold, and the Mussulman invited me to partake of his large blue cloak, which he wore over his Eastern costume. I accepted his offer, and, lolling almost in each other's arms, we fell asleep. In about an hour after we were suddenly waked by a loud clatter in the rear of the carriage. On inquiring the cause, one of the postilions told us that the coach was fast on the side of a hill, and that the horses were trying to drag it back to the foot of the hill. Here was a grand display of French vivacity. The ten horses were hitched to the after part of the huge diligence, buried deep in the slough, while their five drivers cracked

furiously at them with their long-lashed whips and capered through the mud, jackboots and all, screaming in loud chorus every oath in use by the fraternity. But the coach moved not. Exhausted and at their wits' end. they held a consultation, which resulted in their despatching three of the drivers back to Abbeville for more cattle. As they had a distance of ten miles to go and come, we settled ourselves again for a three hours' sleep. At length, toward three o'clock, we were pulled up the hill by sixteen horses conducted by five postilions. With this formidable reinforcement of cattle we travelled many miles until we reached the great paved road, when six horses and two drivers were discharged. In general, the main roads in France are fine, but we had the wet of winter, weak cattle and an overloaded carriage to excuse our detention that night.

On arriving at Paris I took lodgings at the Hôtel d'Angleterre, Rue du Mail, and hired a valet-de-place named Lapierre. My apartment consisted of three small rooms in the third story, sufficiently large and convenient for me, who dined abroad every day and ate but one meal, breakfast, at home. The first thing was to send for a hairdresser. Lapierre brought a middle-aged man, whose features seemed familiar. While under his hands I asked him how it was that I should feel as if he were an old acquaintance. "Sir," said he, "permit me to look at your face." After considering me a few moments he exclaimed, "Ah, monsieur, you are the young American whom I dressed four years ago at the Hôtel de Yorke, when you travelled with a Benedictine monk; and to convince you that I am not mistaken I will remind you

of the boot you tore when trying it on one morning when I was in the room." I perfectly well remembered the circumstance, and could not but think it strange that at the distance of several sections in a city of half a million of people, after a lapse of four years, I should engage the same barber. This man had been busy in the Revolution, and was then a member of the far-famed Jacobin Club. By his advice I put a huge tri-colored cockade in my hat and spoke little about politics.

The Revolution was going on pretty well. No very heinous excesses had yet been committed, except the massacre of a few unpopular men when the Bastile was demolished and the Guards were vanquished at Versailles. Nobility had been abolished, on motion, I think, of the Vicomte de Noailles, with whom I became intimately acquainted in Philadelphia, where he resided for eight or ten years during his exile in the Reign of Terror. He was brother to La Fayette's excellent wife, and a member of a family of very high rank. Possessed of a handsome person and great bravery, he had acquired considerable reputation as an officer under Rochambeau, particularly at the siege of Yorktown, when Cornwallis was captured. Most distinctly do I recollect his coming to Boston to embark for France after that event, and his answering my childish questions about the fate of the English general after the capture, by telling me that he carried him off behind him on horseback. Fond of children, he took delight in amusing us with military wonders invented at the moment to please us. No amateur in Paris danced so perfectly as he did, and at the court-balls he was frequently the

partner of Oueen Marie Antoinette. It was the custom among the young men of fashion who were distinguished for agility in the ball-room to wear shoes with leaden soles all the day long when they expected to dance in the evening, so that on dressing in light pumps for the party they acquired great buoyancy and cut their entrechats à sixe like a veritable artist. Poor Noailles danced rarely in Philadelphia, but he sometimes showed us his graceful steps. On one occasion, when teaching the Misses Bingham a pas that required a lofty caper, he sprained his ankle, and became lame ever after. In the beginning of this century he took a commission from Bonaparte when First Consul, and joined General Le Clerc's army at St. Domingo. That officer entrusted De Noailles with the defence of Cape Nicholas, a fortress that he held for several months, until the climate had killed Le Clerc and most of his army, and the negroes obliged him to evacuate it. He then embarked with a few troops on board a small vessel, intending to go to the Havana, but when at sea he fell in with a British sloop of war. Having no means of defence, he proposed to his followers to run alongside of the Englishman and carry her by boarding. They agreed to it willingly, and De Noailles, putting himself at their head, scaled the sides of the ship, and as he reached the deck received a mortal wound. It was this gallant nobleman who, from a pure love of liberty and equality, moved in the National Assembly the abrogation of titled and hereditary nobility.

This truly august assembly held its sessions in the riding-school near the Tuileries. Among its members

of my acquaintance were La Fayette, De Noailles, and my venerable friend, Admiral the Marquis de Vaudreuil, of whom I have spoken several times in this book. obtained a ticket of admission, which I did not use, having got into the gallery without it. I had arrived late, and could not get a place, so I had to wait on a rough stairway erected for the occasion only, and leading to the gallery. Here I was desired to take a seat and be patient until some person should come out. While thus stationed I fell into a conversation with the soldiers on guard, and chatted with them familiarly for a quarter of an hour, so that when the door opened they good-naturedly admitted me without asking for my card. When I entered I found myself in the best place in the house, being just behind and above the president, and almost within reach of the far-famed Mirabeau. He was seated close by, acting as one of the four secretaries. The tribune from which every speaker was obliged to address the house was in front, and to crown my good fortune there happened to arise just as I entered a most interesting discussion. The subject was this: The king's aunts, having emigrated with an intention to go to Rome, had been arrested near the frontier, and a notarial statement of the business was sent to the Assembly. The receipt of it occasioned a very animated debate, which commenced by the wellknown Abbé Maurey rushing to the tribune, into which he entered after a scuffle with several other members, who strove to keep him out. He had a huge muff, which he shook in the contest, while the president rang a bell to keep order. At length he put his foot on the threshold and darted in. The battle ceased and silence was restored. The abbé was on the side of the court. His oratory was fine and his talents of the first order. He condemned the arrest as irregular, because the princesses had passports. "It is time," said he, "to tell the people that if they claim to be the source of power, we claim to be its reservoir. From us it is distributed according to our judgment, and when we have authorized by passport the departure of any person, high or low, the people have no business to interfere." He moved, therefore, that orders be sent forthwith to release the royal travellers.

As soon as he had left the tribune Mirabeau rose in his place to reply. It was a privilege the acting secretaries had of addressing the house without going to the tribune. I heard him very distinctly, on account of his being close by where I stood, yet his voice was husky and his articulation thick; in short, he spoke as if he had something in his mouth. Notwithstanding this, such was the clever arrangement of his words and popularity of his theme that he was listened to with great attention. He was dressed in powdered hair, and three curls were over each ear. He was great in courage, genius and vice. He lived but about a year after this, while the Abbé Maurey escaped the dangers of the Revolution and rose to be a cardinal, and I think archbishop of Paris, under Bonaparte. He came very near losing his life in the beginning of the Revolution, when the mob executed whom they pleased at the lamp-post. Having seized him, they were about hoisting him up, when he saved himself by a bon-mot, "Suppose," said he, "you put me up instead of the lamp, will you be more enlightened?"

My valet-de-place, Lapierre, lived near the Tuileries. and knew many of the soldiers who mounted guard at the gates of that palace. On Sunday he told me that if I wished to see the royal family at their devotions, he could get me a seat in the private chapel of the castle. I gladly took advantage of his offer, and was by his means introduced to the small chapel of the royal residence. Not many minutes after I had been seated, the court entered the galleries. The king, queen, the dauphin, his sister, the present Duchess d'Angoulême, and Monsieur, afterward Louis XVIII., stood in the gallery opposite to the altar; the courtiers filled the small side-galleries. There happened to be nobody in the chapel down stairs except the officiating priest with his attendants, an old woman, and myself. Mass lasted perhaps twenty minutes, at the conclusion of which the humbled Marie Antoinette took the little dauphin in her arms and showed him to me and the old woman, who represented on this occasion the sovereign people. That proud and beautiful lady had been so sharply visited by grief that at thirty-six years of age her hair was gray. The dauphin, as well as his royal parents and relatives, was dressed in plain clothes. with a white handkerchief tied à la créole on his head. The king had a velvet suit, and looked very like the impression on his coin. His body was in constant motion, rolling from side to side while he read his prayers. He was lusty and in good health. His brother, Monsieur, resembled him very much, and his

daughter, the Duchess d'Angoulême, now so ugly, was then a lovely-looking girl of about fourteen.

Paris abounds in spongers—fellows who are well dressed, but live by their wits; chevaliers d'industrie, who never could dine if some flat did not pay for their dinner. I had a couple of hangers-on at both my visits to the French capital. In 1791 it was a little Irish abbé named Maccarty,\* who had a knowledge of all that was going on in town, and could make himself useful. I paid the price of a dinner with pleasure now and then for the sake of his company, but I do not recollect his borrowing money of me. His little friendly services were always rendered with a readiness and zeal characteristic of his countrymen. This abbé brings to my mind a visit that I paid to two or three of the monks of the College of Sorèze who happened to be in Paris. Some of them had cast the frock and cowl aside, and were dressed in citizens' clothes, availing themselves of the Revolutionary laws that had emancipated all the regular clergy from their monastic servitude; others did not think the government competent to give any such dispensation, and continued to wear the convent costume. The fraternities were all dispersed, however, and the elder monks thrown upon the world in a state of great unwillingness and unhappiness. It was Dom Dufour, I think, upon whom I called one morning, and who received me in his monk's dress with much kind-

<sup>\*</sup> This Abbé Maccarty rendered himself celebrated during the Restoration of Louis XVIII. by his counter-revolutionary writings and sermons, and died May 3, 1833. He was born at Toulouse of Irish parents in 1760.

ness. Penetrated with sorrow at the events that were passing around him, and which were fatal to his worldly hopes, he spoke of them in language the most dejected. While mournfully holding forth, a knock was heard at the door, and when it opened in came a gayly-dressed young man, who approached with buoyant step the aged and depressed father. When, after the usual salutations, I was named to him, he took me by the hand with the cordiality of an old acquaintance. On further investigation I was greatly surprised to find one of the Benedictine monks of the college in this dandified gentleman. It was the young and handsome Dom Dusau, who was now a good Revolutionary citizen. A Dom Barreau of our college was also in Paris. He perished in the horrible massacres of the month of September of the next year, when the prisoners of the abbey of St. Germain, of which he was one, were nearly all killed by the mob.

We had in Paris at this period a few Americans, all of whom were poor, and anxiously watching the times in order to cut in and carry off a slice, either by preying upon or administering to the wants of the disordered state. They were in general successful, two or three of them becoming rich. At the head of these my countrymen I must place the poet Barlow, who lived with his amiable wife in the highest story of the quadrangle of the Palais Royale. I frequently visited them in the evening to pass away an hour or two at loo, and had the pleasure to meet here Mr. and Mrs. Swan of Boston, Mr. and Mrs. Blackdon of Connecticut, and a Doctor Howell of Pennsylvania. In order to reach the

apartment of Mr. Barlow, I was obliged to pass through the door of a great gambling establishment that occupied the floor immediately below his. This door was attended by a porter, who kept it locked, so that to get admittance I had to announce myself as a visitor to Mr. Barlow. A man ought to be cheaply lodged to be induced to reside behind such a barrier. The poet's poverty consented rather than his will. Barlow was a very estimable man, and I am happy to say that prosperous circumstances soon removed him from this attic prison to comfortable quarters, and a few years after he was enabled to display the suitable magnificence of an ambassador in one of the best hôtels in the city when he represented our republic at Bonaparte's court. His excellent wife partook of his good-fortune. He lost his life in a zealous effort for his country's good, in undertaking a journey in winter for the purpose of meeting Napoleon on his return from the disastrous Russian campaign. At Wilna he fell a victim to fatigue.\*

Having lost the fine health that I brought from London, I soon grew tired of Paris. Indeed, it never had any charms for me. I greatly preferred the English metropolis, and was anxious to return to it; so, after a residence of nearly a month, I found through the means of the Abbé Maccarty a gentleman, a Londoner, who was going home, and who agreed to take a postchaise

<sup>\*</sup> More accurately, he was on his way to a conference with Napoleon at Wilna for the purpose of negotiating a treaty of commerce and indemnification for the French spoliations, when he was taken ill from the exposure of the journey, and died Dec. 22, 1812, at Zarnawica, a village near Cracow.

with me to Calais. My travelling-companion was an invalid, and so was I; we therefore arranged our route in a way to avoid stopping on the road between breakfast and supper by putting a roast capon into the carriage, on which we dined for two days. The day of departure having arrived, and being anxious to leave Paris, we started before breakfast. Just as we were about losing sight of the steeples I took a last look at them, and bade them farewell without the remotest wish ever to visit them again; nor has that feeling altered from that time to this.

There was among the ten or twelve Americans in London in 1791 a very eccentric man named Browne Cutting. Doctor John Browne Cutting he called himself, but where he got his medical diploma I know not. He did not pretend to practise medicine, yet "Doctor" was his titular distinction everywhere. He possessed a fluency of speech, a vivacity of manner and a boon companionship that made us all court his society. His residence was on a first floor in St. James's Square, and although without visible means of subsistence he contrived to live very well. He was not supposed to be very scrupulous in the use of his invisible means, and by one of these he raised a considerable sum and sought to make it much larger, but he was detected and foiled. The fact was this: We had no public agent in London, not even a consul, so that destitute seamen knew not where to apply for relief. They were few in number and their wants very small; a pair of shoes and a few slops, with now and then a petition for release from impressment, were all the goods they stood in need of.

Cutting undertook to constitute himself American agent. and volunteered to supply the sailors who asked for succor. Every one knew that the doctor was unable to make advances, yet he talked daily of the heavy sums he was disbursing, and to Mr. Thomas Smith of South Carolina, a student at the Temple, and to me when we dined together at the Oxford Coffee-house, Cutting would repeat the amounts of money he had advanced. "When shall I get paid," he would ask, "the twenty guineas I have given to those poor sailors?" The very next day, if we happened to dine together, he would cry out, "Those forty guineas due me by the government would be very welcome if reimbursed now." In a few days more the advances were swollen to a hundred pounds. In short, he ended by claiming of the government several thousand dollars, and received, as I think, two thousand, when Smith, who happened to hear of it four or five years after, put the Secretary of State upon inquiring into the matter; and at that late day the doctor was asked for vouchers or the repayment of the money. The vouchers, he said, could never be obtained from wandering sailors, and the money he would not return.\* A suit ensued that, I believe, was never prosecuted to trial. It was notoriously an imposition, which

<sup>\*</sup>Cutting's claim is set forth and justified in his pamphlet entitled Facts and Observations justifying the Claims of John Browne Cutting, citizen of the United States, against the United States, in a Letter addressed to the Secretary of State, Philadelphia, December, 1705. His proceeding seems to have been to borrow money from his friends, pay out small sums to sailors and others, and then represent himself to have been at enormous expense, especially in the way of paying bribes and secret-service money.

Cutting's conduct made evident to Smith and me in London, where both of us took notice of it; but the government deserved to lose the money for not keeping itself represented at the British court.

On the 12th of March, 1791, I bade adieu to London, and came to Gravesend in a postchaise and four in company with Captain James Scott, who commanded the ship Neptune, in which I was to return home. That vessel was at anchor in the Thames, and after dining at Gravesend we went on board and fell down the river. Adverse winds detained us in the Downs opposite to Deal fourteen days, during which more than a hundred sail of merchantmen had collected. Several times the whole fleet was induced by a flattering change of wind to get under weigh, when the sight of so many ships, many of them large Indiamen, unfurling their sails and heaving the anchor simultaneously, was uncommonly fine. Yet were they baffled, and after striving in vain to double the South Foreland obliged to return to their moorings. At length a propitious breeze put us to sea. and carried us pretty well along the southern shore of England, when it ceased. I took advantage of the calm to board a French fishing-boat occupied in taking mackerel with a seine, and this in the open sea out of sight of land. I gave them a dollar for six dozen fine fresh mackerel that would have been worth six times as much in the London market. This was about the first of April, and earlier by a month than they are to be found on the coast of the United States, and where they are not at all esteemed or thought fit for the table until the month of June. It seems that in the natural history

of this fish they are led across the Atlantic by instinct and without eyesight, so that when they begin their annual course at the Floridas and travel north, they have a film over the eye which prevents them from seeking sufficient nourishment, and keeps them poor. Thus, when caught off the Capes of the Delaware in May and brought to the Philadelphia market they are not considered a delicacy, but in June this film falls off and restores them to sight, about which time they reach Boston Bay. There they can see to find their food, and there they become fat and delicious, so that the very extensive mackerel-fishery of that bay and the coasts farther north has obtained a great name and is proportionally flourishing.

Our voyage was tedious, owing to head winds and the dull sailing of our ship, heavily laden with a cargo valued at eighty thousand pounds sterling—so tedious, indeed, that we met near the Banks of Newfoundland a ship on her way to England that left Bristol at the same time that we sailed from London; she had been to New York, discharged and reloaded, and was thirteen days out on her return voyage. She warned us to look out for icebergs, many of which we saw the next day. At length, on the 25th of May, we entered the harbor of Boston, after a passage of seventy-five days.

It happened to be election day, and Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey gave a great dinner. The party had just left the table and walked out. On the wharf I met one of them, Robert Hallowell, father of Admiral Hallowell, the friend of Nelson. He told me that my father, mother and family were on a tour of pleasure to Phila-

delphia, and invited me to accompany him back to Mr. Jeffrey's. On our way we met the justly-celebrated Fisher Ames, who inquired with great eagerness for French news. At Mr. Jeffrey's I met with all the associates of our family, and once more trod the soil of my dear native town.

12

## CHAPTER V.

Boston in 1791.—A Sunday Journey.—A Theatre in Boston.—Started in Business.—Dabbling in Stocks.—Unjust Taxation in Boston.—Removal to Philadelphia,—Society in Philadelphia,—General Washington's Style.—Tradesmen.—Eccentric Characters in Boston.—James Allen.—Mrs. Smith.—Frederick Khone.—The Yellow Fever in Philadelphia.—A Well-prophesied Death.—Congress.—Talleyrand.—Volney.—De Noailles.—Walking Stewart.—Baring.—The Binghams and their Style.—Morris.—Cobbett.—Clayton.—General Knox.—Hamilton.

BOSTON was very nearly stationary. She had not yet felt the impetus which the French Revolution was destined to give to her trade, in common with that of the whole Union, and enable her to remodel the town and convert her wooden houses into incombustible palaces and treble her population. She had not yet recovered from the effects of the long civil war. Her inhabitants, numbering only eighteen thousand, were unemployed—so much so that several gentlemen who associated for the purpose of building three ships had solely in view the occupation of the carpenters and tradespeople. When these ships were finished they were sold at twenty-five per cent, under their cost, and the subscribers to the benevolent association, of which my father was one, bore the loss. The town under these circumstances contained of course a good many loose characters, who preyed upon the community. A fellow

was seized one night in the act of robbing and attempting murder on the Common, not far from our house. He was carried to prison, and turned out to be a rogue who had that very day taken a pair of silver buckles from the shoes of my little brother Charles, whom he had found playing near the Mall. The thief was executed. About the same time a servant-maid in our family was afflicted with the toothache and unable to sleep. Her bed was in the nursery with the children, and while seated on it at midnight in great agony, with her eyes directed toward an entry that communicated with my sisters' room, she saw the woolly head of a negro who was creeping on all fours out of their bedchamber. She gave a sudden shriek that woke my eldest sister, who saw the villain get out of the window close by her. It was in hot weather, and the garden steps were found standing under this open window, placed there by the black man.

In the course of a few days I received letters from my father, informing me of his intention to be at Worcester on the next Sunday evening, and inviting me to meet him there. I accordingly set off on the morning of that day in a sulky, and dined about twenty-five miles from Boston. At dinner the landlady or some of the family told me that if I attempted to travel in that section of the country, the deacons or wardens of the puritanical meeting-houses would arrest me. Desirous of avoiding any interruption in my journey, and anxious to embrace my parents that evening, I thought best to take some precautions against an arrest, and determined to try what could be done under the assumed character

of a Frenchman. Having a letter to deliver at the tavern nearest to the meeting-house, and to which I knew I should be sent in case of arrest. I affected not to understand English when I gave in the letter. The house of worship stood upon a hill, at the foot of which I saw the congregation descending. In the very front came the deacon on horseback, with a long staff in his hand and his wife on a pillion behind. He ordered me to stop, and with a magisterial air inquired why I travelled on the Lord's Day. I answered him in French, upon which he raised his voice to a pitch of authoritative anger and repeated his question. I replied by a string of French words and a shrug of the shoulders, significative of my ignorance of his question; when, finding himself perplexed, he motioned to me to go about my business. I regretted this silly piece of deception as soon as I had practised it, and determined to tell the truth in plain English if anybody else should interfere with me. And so I did when an elderly gentleman, whom I overtook at the top of the hill, going my way, ordered me to stop. Learning from me the cause of my journey and the length of time since I had seen my parents, he told me that he knew my father very well, and should be able to ascertain whether I deceived him or not, and concluded by informing me that he was General Ward, and bade me proceed on to Worcester. I bowed reverentially to this distinguished character when I took my leave, and soon after passed a very pretty house on my left, standing some distance from the road and surrounded by white painted fences in good repair. This was the residence of the general —he who was the first commander-in-chief of the American army, even anterior to Washington.

At Worcester I met my excellent father and family. Their reception of me was, as usual, extremely affectionate. They were just preparing to depart. A coachand-four with two postilions and an outrider in handsome livery stood at the door, and in ten minutes after my arrival we were all on the road toward Boston, intending to sleep at a tavern twelve miles east of Worcester. Gentlemen of fortune travelled then in better style than they do now. They did not get along so fast, but they went more securely, more agreeably and more comfortably. Steamboats have ruined the inns, and in annihilating space have nearly broken up all private genteel travelling. Everything now (1830) is done in vast crowds. Caravans move in mobs, and he who goes abroad now-a-days must submit to the hugger-mugger assemblage of a steamboat on the water and a procession of ten or twelve coaches on the land. Our fathers were not in such haste, nor so fond of kicking up a dust. We have acquired much more speed, but lost the old-fashioned security and comfort.

From the hint I gave the party the postilions galloped past the house of General Ward, and brought us to our night's lodging without further interruption. My good parents had been treated in Philadelphia with unbounded hospitality. That city was now the seat of the Federal government, and was the pleasantest place of residence in the United States. My sister Anna remained there in the family of General Knox, who was Secretary of the War Department, and whose gay wife and

daughter were suited by their dispositions and station in the fashionable world to introduce her into the best society in America.

The severe, gloomy, puritanical spirit that had governed New England since the days of our Pilgrim forefathers was gradually giving way in the principal towns. particularly in Boston, and the younger part of the community made a successful effort to get the law against theatrical exhibitions repealed. An Englishman named Powell had been reciting and singing at Concert Hall for some months with deserved applause. He was an actor of considerable talents, and became subsequently the manager of the first regular theatre. But before funds could be procured for the erection of a permanent edifice a wooden shed of the rudest construction was built in a dirty alley called Board Alley, I think,\* and running from Trinity church in Summer street to Milk street. Here, amidst mud and livery-stables, a parcel of young men met (no women attended) to see farces and pantomimes performed. I went there often, and generally laughed most heartily. The house on one occasion, I remember, was greatly amused. The play was a melodrama, and required the introduction of several wild animals, who were hunted with great spirit by the bipeds. Guns were cracking away in all directions, and the scene was full of animation. The beasts

\* Board Alley is the present Hawley street. The building used by Powell is elsewhere called a stable fitted for the purpose. Plays were illegal, and Governor Hancock called the attention of the legislature to this infraction of the laws. Sheriff Allen arrested one of the performers on the stage, which led to a row and an end to the evening's performance. The law, however, was repealed in a few months.

of the forest were personated by lads of the town, hired for the occasion. Among these was a negro boy belonging to Doctor Jarvis, whose part was that of a black bear. Cuffy, equipt in the shaggy costume of Bruin, danced and hugged to admiration in a contest with a hunter, and might have remained master of the field had not another sportsman come to the hunter's aid. Seeing how equivocal the battle stood, this newcomer took good aim at the bear's hind quarters and discharged his piece. Bruin made a spring to the side scene and fell. There he lay kicking amid a thunder of applause, and we all agreed that he died very well and very naturally. He was hauled out of sight, and the next morning we learned that he was extremely ill, having been severely wounded by the wad on the preceding evening. These gaucheries occurred often, and were not to be wondered at among a people in an incipient stage of playhouse amusement.

Soon after my arrival from London in 1791, although I was but twenty years old, my father gave me in cash ten thousand dollars, and told me to commence merchant with that sum as capital, advising me to be cautious, and to be satisfied if at the end of a year my profits amounted to no more than the interest of the money. Upon this I rebuilt a decayed store on Long Wharf, No. 37, with wooden materials, the whole wharf having on it about seventy stores, all of wood, and received almost immediately after the consignment of a ship and cargo from London, sent to me by my friend Ward Nicholas Boylston. This and a good deal of other business occupied me profitably enough; but as

a type of the times, which was greatly given to speculation, I may mention a transaction of mine this year. On returning home one day about one o'clock, I saw several persons of my acquaintance going with eagerness into Coleman's tavern in State street. I went in with them, and on entering the long room up stairs I perceived, by the presence of an auctioneer, that there was to be a vendue. In a few moments he stepped upon a chair and announced to the company that he himself had nothing to sell, but wished others to sell to him; in short, his object was to buy United States six per cent, stock, and he forthwith proposed to take bids payable and deliverable in sixty days. Several contracts were made at various prices, and all above par, when I, who had not a dollar of stock, offered to contract to deliver ten thousand dollars at twenty-seven shillings and sixpence on the pound. The auctioneer closed with me. The market-price was only twentytwo shillings and sixpence, so that with cash I could easily be ready in sixty days and pocket the difference. When I saw my father at dinner he expressed his disapprobation of the transaction in his usual mild language. If there was no trick, he said, the gain must be certain, but the business was irregular. It would create a gambling propensity, and he advised me not to repeat it.

Before many days I was called upon by John Harbach, a broker, who told me that the purchase of the stock was made by his order for account of New York speculators (Livingstone, Duer, etc.), who had authorized these contracts with a design of monopolizing all the floating sixes in market, so as to get their own price for them when a certain instalment should become due to the newly-established Bank of the United States, which was payable in that kind of stock. "But," continued Harbach, "the project is too mighty for them; they cannot accomplish it, and I wish to make a compromise with you." I readily consented, and he paid me something over two thousand dollars, the whole of which was clear gain. My father's advice, nevertheless, was exceedingly judicious, and I seldom deviated from it while a merchant, but when withdrawn from commerce I have successfully dabbled in stocks.

Harrison Gray Otis, now mayor of the city of Boston, and who was in early life, as at this day, a very distinguished man both by his accomplished manners and cultivated mind, was toiling at his profession with little hopes of becoming rich. He had some urgent business in England about 1792, and engaged the Mr. Cutting of whom I have already spoken to go and settle it. But neither of them could raise the wind, and Otis asked me to lend him a thousand dollars for thirty days. I did so, and with the money John Browne Cutting was equipt and despatched for London. When Otis repaid me the money I perfectly well remember his telling me that the utmost extent of his desires as to riches was to be worth ten thousand dollars. He then had nothing, and that sum appeared so immense as to bound his wishes and expectations. In a few years an enlarged prospect opened before him, and he acquired, as I have heard, two or three hundred thousand dollars, and now perhaps his annual expenditure is ten thousand.

There came out in Boston in the summer of 1702 a system of taxation the most iniquitous imaginable, which by its injustice drove from the town several of its richest inhabitants. It was bottomed principally on guesswork, and as the Yankees are no less privileged to guess than the Irish to speak twice, they made good use of their immunity on this occasion. After rating an inhabitant for watch where there were no watchmen. for lighting streets where there were no lamps, for mu nicipal regulations in general where there was almost an entire absence of police, they put down under the head of "Faculty" just what they pleased, guessing this man to be worth so much, and that other so much, thus laying a heavy and ruinous tax upon him who lived liberally and spent his income amongst his fellowtownsmen in acts of hospitality to them and to strangers; while the rich miser, who kept his money out of circulation, was deemed poor, and scarcely taxed at all. In this way they put down the item Faculty in my father's tax-bill at eleven hundred and twenty-five hard dollars for one year. The same thing happened to all the gentlemen who lived expensively. No redress could be had, and my father and mother, who had recently visited Philadelphia, concluded to remove to that city, where taxation was equal and where nothing but real estate was assessed. That city was, moreover, the seat of the Federal Government, and possessed the most refined society in the Union. Its climate is more moderate than that of Boston, and my parents had been

entertained there with universal kindness and hospitality. Orders were therefore given to purchase the house then numbered 321 High street.\* It was of modern construction, with lofty ceilings; a front of thirty feet; a deep lot with coach-house and stables in the rear, and a carriage-way into Filbert street. For this property my father paid eleven thousand dollars, and as soon as the purchase was made he transplanted his family for ever from his native town to the beautiful city of Philadelphia. This event was forced upon him, but neither he nor my mother ever regretted the removal, notwithstanding he lost fifty thousand dollars on the sale of his house and gardens, which he sold to my uncle Andrews for eight thousand five hundred dollars, who resold them for about sixty thousand. The whole of our taxes in Philadelphia were fifty-five dollars, being just about the amount of the Boston collector's commissions on my father's taxes in that town.

They left Boston in September, 1792, and I followed them in December. The city was all alive, and a round of entertainments was kept up by the following families: Robert Morris, William Bingham, John Ross, Henry

\* In the Philadelphia Directory of 1793 and 1794 the name of Mr. Breck, Sr., appears as "gentleman, No. 321 High street." In that of 1795, which is arranged by streets, No. 321 is described as west of Eighth street, and Mr. Breck is styled "a merchant." A note in Mr. Samuel Breck's handwriting upon one of Birch's plates, giving a view of "High street from Ninth street," is as follows: "The middle house with green blinds on the left belonged to S. Breck, my father, who resided there many years. It was large, modern and convenient, and I sold it for my mother in 1810 for sixteen thousand five hundred dollars. The house adjoining belonged to our family, and was sold for nine thousand dollars."

Hill, Thomas Moore, Walter Stewart, Governor Thomas Mifflin, Ex-Gov. John Penn, Samuel Powel, Benjamin Chew, Phineas Bond, Thomas Ketland, Pierce Butler, Langton Smith, General Knox, Samuel Breck, Alexander Hamilton, etc. Besides these, General Washington, who was President of the United States, and John Adams, who was Vice-President, saw a great deal of company. Philadelphia contained then about fifty thousand inhabitants, and a much larger society of elegant and fashionable and stylish people, than at the present day (January, 1842), with its two hundred and seventy thousand souls in city and county. There was more attention paid then to the dress of servants and general appearance of equipages. Dinners were got up in elegance and good taste. Besides Bingham and Morris and the President, who had French cooks, as well as most of the foreign ministers, there was a most admirable artist by the name of Marinot, who supplied the tables of private gentlemen when they entertained, with all that the most refined gourmands could desire.

General Washington had a stud of twelve or fourteen horses, and occasionally rode out to take the air with six horses to his coach, and always two footmen behind his carriage.\* He knew how to maintain the dignity

<sup>\*</sup> The coach, said by some to have been given him by Louis XVI., and by others to have been Governor Penn's, was "cream-colored, globular in shape, and capacious within; ornamented in the French style, with cupids supporting festoons, and wreaths of flowers, emblematically arranged along the panel-work; the figures and flowers beautifully covered with fine glass, very white and dazzling to the eye of youth and simplicity in such matters."—Watson's Annals of Philadel-phia, I. 582.

of his station. None of his successors, except the elder Adams, has placed a proper value on a certain degree of display that seems suitable for the chief magistrate of a great nation. I do not mean pageantry, but the decent exterior of a well-bred gentleman. The good sense of my fellow-citizens prevents their being dazzled by a showy equipage, yet they are willing to see their President so accompanied as to be distinguishable from the common herd. That levelling philosopher, Jefferson, was the first President who broke down all decorum and put himself when abroad upon a footing with the plainest farmer of Virginia, I say "when abroad," because in his family he lived luxuriously, and was fastidious in the choice of his company. But when he wanted to catch the applause of the vulgar—with whom, however, he was too proud to associate—he would ride out without a servant and hitch his pacing nag to the railing of the Presidential palace. Madison and Monroe followed this slovenly example, and became careless about the appearance of the grounds around the White House, suffering the posts that supported the chains to lie broken on the ground from year to year, which a servant could have mended for a few cents, and in the true slave-holding planter style gathered up the summer grass in the lot that surrounds that beautiful mansion into stacks immediately under the drawing-room windows. This house was, and is always, splendidly furnished at public expense, and immense sums have been spent upon the building and grounds, but it is like throwing pearls before swine to ornament a dwelling for people who want taste to keep it in order.

The tradesmen in 1792 were more expeditious in their work than in 1831. I had an instance of it when on a transient visit to Philadelphia about that time. A gentleman invited me to a party that required a new suit of clothes. I went to a tailor who lived opposite to my lodgings at eight o'clock in the morning, and told him I wanted a full suit for four o'clock that afternoon. He said he was unwell and had just been bled, but that I should have it. I was accordingly measured, and in eight hours the clothes were ready.

As I am now at the period of my narrative (1792) when I left Boston and transferred my residence to Philadelphia, I may say a few words of some of the eccentric characters left there. To begin with James Allen. He was well connected, brother to the sheriff of Suffolk, and a poet of considerable merit, who wrote harmoniously, particularly when inspired by the West India Muses, sugar, rum and lemon-juice; they did more than all the fountains of Helicon, which he seldom courted. Some of his poems, repeated to me by himself from manuscript and from memory, were exceedingly pleasing. I heard them generally over a glass of wine, and could not have criticised them severely had I been competent so to do. Mr. Allen affected the appearance of a ragged and slovenly Grub-street poet.\* He wore ruffles, and they hung in tatters about his knuckles. His conversation was polished, fluent and very amusing. Once a week a Pistareen Club met at

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Allen figures in Mr. Kettell's Specimens of American Poetry, where he is characterized as indolent, careless of fame, and one who "led the noiseless, easy life of a bachelor."

his house, at which no individual could spend more than twenty cents. The members consisted of the first people of the town, and a more witty, smart and intellectually refined association could nowhere be met in the Union. The small stone house near Beacon Hill where they assembled was long celebrated for the conviviality and rich humor of those who frequented it. James was a merry fellow and fond of fun, especially when half-seas over. One summer afternoon, when pretty well primed, he was passing along the fence of the old workhouse, and saw a man in a stooping attitude peeping into the yard through a knot-hole. The day was warm; the man's trousers adhered tightly to him just under his roundabout; the temptation to give a slap was more than James could resist. He swung his hand in the air and left the print of his fingers on the man's posterior. Quick as thought, the fellow, who had a case-bottle of rum under his jacket, turned round and broke it over James's head. The wound was dreadful, and our poet, leaving the field as soon as possible, hastened to the house of the celebrated Doctor Charles Jarvis, who told Mr. Allen that his joke had ended in a fractured skull. And so it turned out. The balmy rum mitigated the evil, no doubt, but it was a long time before he recovered.

Another original was Mrs. Smith, wife of Abiel Smith. Mr. Smith, who had come by his wife rather strangely, was a rich man, well educated, being a graduate of Cambridge in 1764, and left to that college for a professorship of the French and Spanish languages ten thousand dollars of United States six per cent. stock

192

and twenty thousand dollars of three per cent. There had been a degree of trading smartness in Mrs, Smith that made her a valuable partner to Abiel when he was in business as a storekeeper, I think, in some country town. There he married her, supposing her to be a widow. After living with her six or seven years, her first husband, who was believed to be dead, made his appearance and claimed his rib. But she was indisposed to leave Mr. Smith, who was an amiable man, and with whom she lived very happily; so a sum of money was offered to the claimant, and a deed of relinquishment and conveyance signed by him for the consideration of one thousand dollars. Not long after the Smiths removed to Boston. Having an ample fortune, and being desirous to introduce herself into the best company, Mrs. Smith gave balls and suppers at short intervals of time during the gay season for several years. Her style of entertaining was profuse rather than refined, and her costume almost a caricature of the fashions of the day, so that her guests, who were numerous, made themselves merry at her queer appearance and inelegant entertainments. I was often at her parties, and have not to reproach myself for joining the mockers; on the contrary, I always paid Mrs. Smith suitable attention, and danced with her at her own house and at the public assembly.

One other person, who then resided in Boston and has since become distinguished in Philadelphia, I shall mention here. His name was Kohne. He was German by birth, look and manners. He delighted in exhibiting his fine horse, and making him caper, champ and

caracole according to the rules of the European manège. It was on our return from a country inn at Dorchester, where the young men assembled to play tenpins (ninepins being forbidden by act of legislature), that we used to admire the fine horse and good horsemanship of Mr. Kohne. He subsequently removed to Charleston, South Carolina, and made a large fortune in commerce, and then fixed himself permanently in Philadelphia, occupying splendid town and country houses. Frederick Kohne died in that city in May, 1829, leaving four hundred thousand dollars in legacies to religious and charitable societies in Philadelphia and Charleston, besides providing liberally for some relations in Germany, his house-servants and the poor of his neighborhood.

I had scarcely become settled in Philadelphia when in July, 1793, the yellow fever broke out, and, spreading rapidly in August, obliged all the citizens who could remove to seek safety in the country. My father took his family to Bristol on the Delaware, and in the last of August I followed him. Having engaged in commerce, and having a ship at the wharf loading for Liverpool, I was compelled to return to the city on the 8th of September, and spend the 9th there. My business took me down to the Swedes' church and up Front street to Walnut street wharf, where I had my countinghouse. Everything looked gloomy, and forty-five deaths were reported for the 9th. In the afternoon, when I was about returning to the country, I passed by the lodgings of the Vicomte de Noailles, who had fled from the Revolutionists of France. He was standing at the door, and calling to me, asked me what I was doing in

town. "Fly," said he, "as soon as you can, for pestilence is all around us." And yet it was nothing then to what it became three or four weeks later, when from the first to the twelfth of October one thousand persons died. On the twelfth a smart frost came and checked its ravages.

The horrors of this memorable affliction were extensive and heart-rending. Nor were they softened by professional skill. The disorder was in a great measure a stranger to our climate, and was awkwardly treated. Its rapid march, being from ten victims a day in August to one hundred a day in October, terrified the physicians, and led them into contradictory modes of treatment. They, as well as the guardians of the city, were taken by surprise. No hospitals or hospital stores were in readiness to alleviate the sufferings of the poor. For a long time nothing could be done other than to furnish coffins for the dead and men to bury them. At length a large house in the neighborhood was appropriately fitted up for the reception of patients, and a few preeminent philanthropists volunteered to superintend it. At the head of them was Stephen Girard, who has since become the richest man in America.

In private families the parents, the children, the domestics lingered and died, frequently without assistance. The wealthy soon fled; the fearless or indifferent remained from choice, the poor from necessity. The inhabitants were reduced thus to one-half their number, yet the malignant action of the disease increased, so that those who were in health one day were buried the next. The burning fever occasioned paroxysms of

rage which drove the patient naked from his bed to the street, and in some instances to the river, where he was drowned. Insanity was often the last stage of its horrors.

In November, when I returned to the city and found it repeopled, the common topic of conversation could be no other than this unhappy occurrence; the public journals were engrossed by it, and related many examples of calamitous suffering. One of these took place on the property adjacent to my father's. The respectable owner, counting upon the comparative security of his remote residence from the heart of the town. ventured to brave the disorder, and fortunately escaped its attack. He told me that in the height of the sickness, when death was sweeping away its hundreds a week, a man applied to him for leave to sleep one night on the stable floor. The gentleman, like every one else, inspired with fear and caution, hesitated. The stranger pressed his request, assuring him that he had avoided the infected parts of the city, that his health was very good, and promised to go away at sunrise the next day. Under these circumstances he admitted him into his stable for that night. At peep of day the gentleman went to see if the man was gone. On opening the door he found him lying on the floor delirious and in a burning fever. Fearful of alarming his family, he kept it a secret from them, and went to the committee of health to ask to have the man removed.

That committee was in session day and night at the City Hall in Chestnut street. The spectacle around was new, for he had not ventured for some weeks so

low down in town. The attendants on the dead stood on the pavement in considerable numbers soliciting jobs, and until employed they were occupied in feeding their horses out of the coffins which they had provided in anticipation of the daily wants. These speculators were useful, and, albeit with little show of feeling, contributed greatly to lessen, by competition, the charges of interment. The gentleman passed on through these callous spectators until he reached the room in which the committee was assembled, and from whom he obtained the services of a quack doctor, none other being in attendance. They went together to the stable, where the doctor examined the man, and then told the gentleman that at ten o'clock he would send the cart with a suitable coffin, into which he requested to have the dying stranger placed. The poor man was then alive and begging for a drink of water. His fit of delirium had subsided, his reason had returned, yet the experience of the soi-disant doctor enabled him to foretell that his death would take place in a few hours: it did so, and in time for his corpse to be conveyed away by the cart at the hour appointed. This sudden exit was of common occurrence. The whole number of deaths in 1793 by yellow fever was more than four thousand. Again it took place in 1797, '98 and '99, when the loss was six thousand, making a total in these four years of ten thousand

Congress held its sessions in Philadelphia until the year 1800, and gave to the city the style and tone of a capital. All the distinguished emigrants from France took up their abode there. The French Revolution was a paroxysm of rage, if I may so express myself, from 1792 to 1797, and kept by its fury many of the ablest sons of France abroad. I knew personally Talleyrand, Beaumais, Vicomte de Noailles, the Duc de Liancourt, Volney, and subsequently Louis Philippe, the present king of the French, and his two brothers, the Ducs de Montpensier and Beaujolais.

Talleyrand-Périgord, ex-bishop of Autun, stood conspicuous among the banished noblemen. He was about forty years old, rather above the middle size, and lame in one of his legs. I conversed often with him upon the current events of the day, topics both at home and abroad that were full of interest. He was a constant visitor at my father's house, and dined there very frequently; and I may here mention, once for all, that the most hospitable, unceremonious and frequent interchange of civilities took place between that excellent parent and all the noted foreigners, including, some years after, General Moreau. Talleyrand spent part of his time at New York. Being on a visit to that city myself when he was there, he invited me to breakfast with him. He was then about to set out on a visit to the Western country, and such was the wild state of that region in those days that he thought it necessary to equip himself like a hunter; for which purpose he had caused a rifleman's suit to be made, and after breakfast he went up to his bedroom and put it on. When he was fully dressed in the costume of a backwoodsman of the last century, he called me up to look at him. The metamorphosis from the bishop's lawn and purple to this savage garment was sufficiently ridiculous; but he did not think so, for he displayed it with pride and delight. His companion, Beaumais, had a similar habit, and shortly after they explored the forests of the interior with their rifle-guns and hunting-shirts.

Volney was a timid, peevish, sour-tempered man, I accompanied him in a long walk on one occasion, when he entertained me with his hairbreadth escapes from the rapacity of the Mamelukes of Egypt. They were his terror, and easily laid him under contribution. Sometimes they would gallop after him, even at the very gates of Cairo, and oblige the affrighted Frank to redeem himself from fancied danger by throwing behind him a handful of silver while he fled from them at full speed. This solicitous care of Number One showed itself when he was in the United States. Being on board a sloop on Lake Erie, he was overtaken by a storm. Thinking himself in danger, he cautioned the master to have a care how he navigated the vessel, for it contained the celebrated Volney, and he would have him punished by the President if he did not conduct himself with prudence. This story was current at the time, and generally believed. General Washington, who hated free-thinkers, was of course not very much disposed to caress Volney, and indeed, as President, had declined to notice the French emigrants. Volney, however, paid him a visit at Mount Vernon, where he was received bon grè, mal grè, and entertained with the usual kindness shown to strangers. When about to depart he asked the general for a circular letter that might procure him aid and attention on the long tour he was about commencing. Washington wrote a few lines, which Volney considered, it was said, either equivocal praise or much too feeble for his exalted merit, hence the degrading manner in which he speaks of that superlatively great man. As well as I remember, the note was in substance thus: "Monsieur Volney, who has become so celebrated by his works, need only be named in order to be known in whatever part of the United States he may travel." He affected to entertain sentiments of republicanism of a much purer character than those which governed the first John Adams, successor to Washington, and ceased to attend my father's soirées because he saw there none but Adamites, as he called the Federalists of 1798. Meeting him one day, my father inquired the cause of his estrangement. He cast at that worthy parent an angry look, and morosely remarked that he chose to keep aloof from the enemies of French freedom.

De Noailles had been in America with Rochambeau, and was always upon terms of familiar friendship with our family. His sister married La Fayette, and that alliance was a passport for the viscount here. His form was perfect; a fine face; tall, graceful, the first amateur dancer of the age, and possessed of very pleasing manners, he was a general favorite. He had secured a small fragment of his fortune when the Revolution made a wreck of every one's property, with which he became a trader and speculator. It was amusing to see the spirit with which he embraced this new avocation, so foreign from the pursuits of his former life, whether considered as a military man or a courtier. Every day at the coffeehouse, or exchange, where the merchants met, that ex-

nobleman was the busiest of the busy, holding his bank-book in one hand and a broker or merchant by the button with the other, while he drove his bargains as earnestly as any regular-bred son of a countinghouse.

About this time I became acquainted with Stewart the pedestrian. This man was universally called "Walking Stewart." He died in London on February 20, 1822. He was an eccentric, atomical philosopher, born in London and educated at the Charter-House. In 1763, Lord Bute procured him the post of writer at Madras. The Nabob of Arcot employed him as secretary and enabled him to live expensively. At eighteen he became discontented and resolved to travel, telling the directors of India that he was born for nobler pursuits than to be a copier to a company of grocers, haberdashers and cheesemongers. He walked to Delhi, and through Persia, visiting Abyssinia and Ethiopia. He then entered the Carnatic, and once more returned to the pen as private secretary to the Nabob. His claims for services rendered to that prince were liquidated by a parliamentary grant of fifteen thousand pounds. From the Carnatic he walked to Seringapatam, where Tippoo ordered him to be arrested, and subsequently employed him as captain of sepoys. In this service he continued a long while, and received a wound in his arm. Sir James Sibbald procured his release, when he started on a walk to Europe, crossed the Desert of Arabia, and arrived at Marseilles. He walked through France and Spain, and went to England; left England for America; walked through the States, and when in Philadelphia, where he

remained several weeks, I was introduced to him. The burden of his song, if I may so express myself, was the perfectibility, as he called it, of the human species. He was looked upon as a man full of visionary notions, and a little out of his head. He did not create much noise or attention, and people rather laughed at him. He composed a book full of metaphysics, such as: "The human body emits every hour half a pound of matter from its mode, which, dispersed over a great extent of space, must attach itself to millions of beings, and participate of their sensations, without any consequence from the interruption of memory, by transmuting from the human body into all surrounding being. This fact teaches man how great his interest in the whole and how little in the part of self." He was in England when Hastings was tried, and speaking on that subject he said, "That to try Warren Hastings by the narrow rule of meum and tuum was like bringing Alexander the Great to a quarter sessions." \*

Alexander Baring resided in Philadelphia about this time. He married the eldest daughter of William Bingham, a millionaire who lived in the most showy style of any American. The forms at his house were not suited to our manners. I was often at his parties, at which each guest was announced; first, at the entrance-door his name was called aloud, and taken up by a servant on the stairs, who passed it on to the man in

<sup>\*</sup> An interesting account of Walking Stewart will be found in the twenty-first chapter of De Quincey's *Literary Reminiscences*. In another place, under the head of "A Peripatetic Philosopher," De Quincey gives further notice of this eccentric character.

waiting at the drawing-room door. In this drawingroom the furniture was superb Gobelin, and the folding doors were covered with mirrors, which reflected the figures of the company, so as to deceive an untravelled countryman, who, having been paraded up the marble stairway amid the echoes of his name-ofttimes made very ridiculous by the queer manner in which the servants pronounced it—would enter the brilliant apartment and salute the looking-glasses instead of the master and mistress of the house and their guests. This silly fashion of announcing by name did not last long, and was put a stop to by the following ridiculous occurrence: On a gala-evening an eminent physician, Dr. Kuhn, and his step-daughter, drove up to the door. A servant asked who was in the carriage. "The doctor and Miss Peggy," was the reply. "The doctor and Miss Peggy!" cried out the man stationed at the door. "The doctor and Miss Peggy!" bawled out he of the stairs, which was taken up by the liveried footman at the door of the drawing-room, into which Miss Peggy and her papa entered amid the laugh and jokes of the company. This and several preceding blunders caused the custom, albeit a short-lived one, to be suppressed. There is too much sobriety in our American common sense to tolerate such pageantry, or indeed any outlandish fashion contrary to the plain, unvarnished manners of the people. Thus have the repeated attempts of our young dandies to introduce the moustache on the upper lip been frustrated, and so with the broadcloth gaiters and other foreign costumes. They were neither useful nor ornamental, and would not take with us. So much the

better. I may add here that Miss Peggy (Miss Peggy Markoe) married soon after Benjamin Franklin Bache, a grandson of Dr. Franklin.

Among the very leading men in all respects at that time was Robert Morris. History has not yet done justice to this great man's noble exertions during our Revolutionary War. His patriotism was superior to the fears which too often seize upon the wealthy in moments of civil commotion, and he freely risked everything in the good cause. Being at home in Philadelphia, he did the honors of the city by a profuse, incessant and elegant hospitality. Our first American prelate, the Right Reverend Bishop White (now living, this 14th December, 1834, aged nearly eighty-eight), was connected with Morris, who married his sister, a lady of refined and dignified manners, and suited in all respects for the centre of the fashionable circle in which she moved. There was a luxury in the kitchen, table, parlor and street equipage of Mr. and Mrs. Morris that was to be found nowhere else in America. Bingham's was more gaudy, but less comfortable. It was the pure and unalloyed which the Morrises sought to place before their friends, without the abatements that so frequently accompany the displays of fashionable life. No badlycooked or cold dinners at their table; no pinched fires upon their hearths; no paucity of waiters; no awkward loons in their drawing-rooms. We have no such establishments now. God in his mercy gives us plenty of provisions, but it would seem as if the devil possessed the cooks. Servants in those days looked better than now, because they were uniformly dressed, and a corresponding neatness was seen in the carriages and horses. Now-a-days, if a man strives to distinguish himself, either at home or abroad, by a superior style of living, he is branded an aristocrat. This nonsense, however, is wearing away.

Morris embarked afterward in land speculations that would have given him a princely fortune had he been able to wait a few years, but his means were too feeble. He succumbed, and came very near dying in prison. His country, that owed him so much, suffered him to lie in jail more than four years. I visited that great man in the Prune street debtors' apartment, and saw him in his ugly whitewashed vault. In Rome or Greece a thousand statues would have honored his mighty services. In a monarchy, such as England or any other in Europe, he would have been appropriately pensioned; in America, republican America, not a single voice was raised in Congress or elsewhere in aid of him or his family, and after his death his widow would have been left destitute had not Gouverneur Morris made it a condition with M. le Ray de Chaumont, who had purchased some of the New York lands of Robert, that the widow should not sign the deeds unless the purchaser secured to her an annuity of sixteen hundred dollars. This was done, and upon it Mrs. Morris subsisted until her death.

The notorious William Cobbett resided in Philadelphia for several years when that city was the seat of the general government. He kept a bookshop opposite to Christ church, and published a daily paper called *Peter Porcupine*. This journal was anti-republican in

its politics, but, being conducted with extraordinary spirit and ability, was widely circulated. It was rancorous and malignant in the extreme against the French Revolution and all the enemies of England. The bitterness and insolence of his pen in periodical pamphlets, as well as in his journal, kept the public in a feverish condition. The hatred engendered by the long contest for an independence against England was not at all abated, notwithstanding the lapse of ten years since peace took place, so that the foaming rage of this avowed Englishman, who affected to despise us and our institutions, and ridiculed with surprising dexterity most of the leading men of the nation, helped to widen a breach which threatened to end in open war. The English flag was not safe in our river, and when it appeared there was generally the occasion of disturbance which required the influence of government to quiet.

This extraordinary man carried on his bookselling business in association with his literary labors to good profit. He married, and maintained a family of children in decent style; but, pushing his libellous warfare beyond endurance, Doctor Rush brought him before a jury, who gave damages that broke him up. He was condemned to pay five thousand dollars and costs. Such was his popularity, however, among his English friends here, in Canada and in England, that he soon collected that sum and paid it to the doctor. But it drove him from Philadelphia, first to New York, and then to England, where Pitt and his colleagues received him with open arms, and immediately set him to work as an adjunct vindicator of their measures. Cobbett, however, was of a

temper that could not be controlled. His turbulent spirit soon rebelled, and he enlisted his pen in the service of Sir Francis Burdett, with whom he also quarrelled, and more than twenty years after returned, a bankrupt in purse and fame, to the United States. I was then a member of the Senate of Pennsylvania (1820). Cobbett came to Harrisburg with a memorial to the legislature praying for the restoration of his fine of five thousand dollars. This application made a little stir, but it soon ended in the rejection of the memorial. The conduct of the impudent libeller was in perfect keeping with his usual demeanor. He broke through the rules of the Senate, passed into the body of their chamber and carried a written paper to the chair, astonishing by his boldness the members of that orderly body. At the inn his language was provokingly rude. On his return to Long Island, where he resided, he published a grammar and several essays on husbandry, when, after two years' stay, his house caught fire and burnt down; upon which he went back to England, became a member of Parliament for a small radical borough, and died at about seventy years of age, leaving his family destitute. Thus ended the ill-directed labors of this celebrated agitator, who had great talents with little virtue and less constancy—one day a warm royalist, the next a low Jacobin; now defending the ultra-aristocracy, then stirring the passions of the plebeians by seditious pamphlets and penny sheets.

Many English adventurers were among us in the latter part of the last century. Some were sent to collect debts, and were nicknamed "drummers;" others

established mercantile houses, and took the lead in expensive display, keeping town-house and country-seat, owning ships which were fitted out in a spirit of ruinous extravagance. One of these ships, owned by Peter Blight, called the China, was of twelve hundred tons burden, and besides a large crew of sailors had a corps of marines in brilliant uniform, such as a sovereign prince or rich government alone could equip. This ship made one voyage only to Canton in the service of Blight, who soon after became bankrupt. This became in quick succession the fate of nearly all the British agents established in Philadelphia.

We had some sharpers too, who obtained footing in the best society. One scoundrel, by the name of Clayton, came from England with a pretty young wife, and was introduced to most of the fashionable young men by the Ketlands, a respectable English house here. Being penniless and living by his wits, he cast about for ways and means, and he contrived to raise the wind in this manner. He circulated proposals for the formation of a club which was to dine together every Saturday. Twelve of us agreed to be members. At our first meeting Clayton, an entire stranger, who had not been many weeks in the country, took the lead and set about organizing the society, and hastened particularly the choice of treasurer, which, on his suggestion, was to be decided by putting twelve pieces of paper into a hat, all of which should be blank except one, which should be numbered. He of course prepared the ballots or tickets and handed the hat round. We drew them all out, and found them all blanks. Clayton, however, had not yet drawn, because there was one ticket deficient. A close search was made by him for it. There was not much difficulty in finding it, for he soon exclaimed that it had fallen under the table, and was the numbered paper which was to constitute him treasurer, and forthwith proposed a payment of ten dollars each to cover incipient expenses and our first dinner. Although the trick by which he obtained his election was apparent to all of us, yet as he was a stranger we paid the money and let the thing pass without comment. For four or five Saturdays we met at Richardet's, who kept an excellent table, drank freely of the most expensive wines, and furnished our treasurer with money from week to week to pay the bills.

At the end of six weeks Clayton absconded, and Richardet informed us that the rogue had never paid him—that, being pressed, he ordered that respectable innkeeper to have an extra club-dinner for the next Thursday, when he would pay him for that and the other dinners in one sum. None of us knew of this extra feast, and of course no one went to partake of it, so that an excellent dinner of twelve covers was spread and no guests to enjoy it. On that morning Clayton went to New York, leaving us to pay twice for the good things that we had eaten, and once for those that were wasted.

But to return to that portion of society usually called genteel or fashionable. We had, as one of its brightest ornaments, General Henry Knox, who was Washington's intimate friend and was at the head of the War Department. To a fine, lofty and well-proportioned

figure the Secretary of War added bland and dignified manners—sprightly, very playful, yet of sensible conversation. He was indeed a very distinguished as well as very amiable man. His salary was only three thousand dollars, but with this he exercised a liberal hospitality. No man was more beloved. The Marquis de Chastellux, who was in Rochambeau's army, and after the war, on his return to France, wrote and published an account of the United States, alludes to Knox and his profession before he went into the army, saying that as he folded the leaves of the books he bound he transferred their contents to his head. His profession is made the subject of sarcasm by another writer, named Church, who, in some verses that were meant to reflect on the various callings exercised by our prominent Revolutionary officers, says:

"How they would stare,
Ye gods! should fickle Fortune drop
These mushroom lordlings where she picked them up,
In tinker's, cobbler's and bookbinder's shop!"

But the native manners of Knox, in his shop as well as in his drawing-room, were full of dignity and suavity. No gentleman from abroad or at home eclipsed him either in deportment or understanding. His voice was a deep bass, and resounded through the camp, when exercising the artillery of which he was general, in tones of audible command. When on the left bank of the Delaware, as represented in Sully's historical picture of the passage of that river on Christmas Day, preparatory to the attack on Trenton, his stentorian voice was

heard above the crash of ice which filled the river with floating cakes, and very much embarrassed the boats that were conveying the army.

Alexander Hamilton was of small stature, not above five feet five inches, according to my recollection. His countenance, without being handsome, was full of intelligence, and his powers of conversation distinguished. I heard him at the bar on one occasion plead before the Supreme Court of the United States the constitutional right of Congress to tax carriages and other excisable articles, in opposition to a party in Virginia; and no advocate that I ever heard acquitted himself so well. Talleyrand-Périgord sat not far from me as a listener.

## PASSAGES FROM THE NOTE-BOOKS

OF

SAMUEL BRECK.



# PASSAGES FROM THE NOTE-BOOKS.

## CHAPTER I.

#### PUBLIC MEN AND EVENTS.

### RICHARD PETERS.\*

Dec. 28, 1807.—Mrs. Breck, with her child and myself, paid a visit to Belmont, the seat of Judge Peters. We found that facetious old gentleman at home and in good humor. He has been in his day the most brilliant wit of Pennsylvania, but is now sliding softly into the garrulity of old age, for, though possessing a great share of punning humor, he lacks that sententious pith which so much distinguished him in his younger days.

\* Mr. Breck was a near neighbor of Judge Peters for many years, and associated with him in agricultural and ecclesiastical affairs. After the death of Judge Peters (August 22, 1828), Mr. Breck gave a memorial address before the Blockley and Merion Agricultural Society. The connection of Judge Peters with the conduct of the war, and afterward with the judiciary, rendered his conversation in old age exceedingly full of reminiscences, which have been largely drawn from by Major Garden and others. For this reason a good many reports of conversations recorded in Mr. Breck's diary have been omitted, as already existing in similar form in print.

Nov. 4, 1823.-Judge Peters called on me last Sunday and showed me an explanatory letter that he had written to Colonel Pickering in relation to certain resolutions which appear in the secret journals of the Revolutionary Congress, now published for the first time, and in which the conduct of the colonel and the judge, when acting as commissioners of the War Office, is arraigned in unbecoming language.\* These gentlemen were directed to arrest a Colonel B. Flower, suspected of peculation, and on their remonstrating against the irregularity of ordering an arrest from the War Office, which ought to have issued from the commander of the district. Congress took into consideration a resolution declaring the refusal of these gentlemen to be a breach of the privilege of Congress and a breach of duty; that they were guilty of a high insult to the House and of disobedience; and that their offering reasons to prove the innocence of Colonel Flower was insolent and affronting; that they should be directed to attend the House and answer questions severally put to them touching the order.

This resolution was subsequently postponed on the commissioners writing an explanatory letter, which was considered as a sufficient atonement for their former

<sup>\*</sup> The letter will be found in The Life of Timothy Pickering, by his son Octavius Pickering, vol. I. pp. 228-233. The further explanation respecting General Arnold seems to have been given now for the first time. At least, it is not published in Pickering's Life, although it is no doubt referred to in Colonel Pickering's reference to Judge Peters's proposed statement of facts, when he says: "Our reasons for not arresting Flower, as ordered, will be an essential part of your statement."—Vol. I. p. 233.

letters. This business had been misconceived at first, and Congress let the usual military trial take place, on which Colonel Flower was acquitted. General Arnold commanded at that time in Philadelphia. The judge's language respecting that officer is as follows:

"Both Colonel Pickering and myself had no confidence in Arnold, whom we had detected in scandalous conduct. I came into Philadelphia, on the city being evacuated by the enemy, on the 18th of June, 1778, under strong escort, put under my orders by General Washington. My object was to secure clothing and stores secreted for us by persons who had remained in the city, and all other articles in the hands of the dealers, so that speculators might be anticipated. The British rear-guard was crossing the Delaware when I entered the city. I set about the business the next day, and with the assistance of the commissioners attained my object. When Arnold in a few days arrived to take formal possession of the city, I was called to Yorktown on the duties of the War Office. I left fifty thousand dollars under Arnold's orders toward payment of the clothing and stores. He seized the articles and never paid for them, but converted the money, or great part of it, to his own purposes, among others to buy the country-seat of Mr. McPherson on the Schuylkill. Colonel Pickering and myself detected him in ordering stores, provisions, etc. out of the public magazines to fit out privateers on his own account, and for his family use extravagantly. We gave orders to counteract him. This produced an entire breach. We might have given him orders to arrest and confine Flower, but we knew he

would either refuse or throw the odium of an unmilitary order on us. It was therefore my reason (combined with a reluctance to execute the order of Congress on more important considerations) for wishing Congress to take on themselves the direct communication of their unjustifiable measure.

"I did not conceal, but wrote to head-quarters, my want of confidence in Arnold. When his traitorous conduct at West Point became public, neither Colonel Pickering nor myself was the least surprised at it. We were more surprised at his appointment to the command. He was placed by General Washington in that command at the solicitous request of some respectable New Yorkers, who knew only his military character, which I always deemed overrated far beyond its real merit."

June 26, 1825.—I saw Judge Peters yesterday at the Agricultural Society,\* where he mentioned, in relation to internal improvements, that during the Revolutionary War General Washington was compelled to feed his whole army on parched corn and Indian meal; not because there was a scarcity of provisions in the country, but because there was no possibility of conveying them for want of roads and canals. It is well known that flour cost last war at some of our back posts as high as ninety dollars per barrel, owing to the difficulty of transportation, and that two bushels of oats were given to wagon a third, so that the cartage of thirty-three bushels was paid by sixty-seven bushels.

<sup>\*</sup> The Philadelphia Society for Promoting Agriculture was established in 1785, and was the earliest of the kind in the country, the kind now being very numerous.

# JEUX D'ESPRIT OF JUDGE PETERS.

. The judge was at a supper in Philadelphia in company with Judge Washington, who presides over the Circuit Court, at which Judge Peters sits as a junior judge. The gentleman of the house repeatedly urged Mr. Peters to eat some duck, but he constantly refused. At last, being again pressed, he begged the host to give the duck to Judge Washington, for he was the mouth-piece of the court.

The judge has a sharp nose and chin, and as he grew old they approached each other. A friend observed to him one day jocosely that his chin and nose would soon get to loggerheads. "Very likely," he replied, "for hard words often pass between them."

When Judge Peters was Speaker of the House of Assembly, one of the members in crossing the room tripped on the carpet and fell flat. The House burst into laughter, while the judge with the utmost gravity cried, "Order, order, gentlemen; do not you see that a member is on the floor?"

The judge was seated one day at the fish club\* by

\* "The Colony in Schuylkill," as the fish club was originally called, was established in 1732. In 1781 it assumed the name of the "State in Schuylkill." The colonial hall in which the meetings of the young colonists were held was judiciously placed in a wood bordering the western bauk of the winding stream, on the estate of William Warner, an amiable and worthy member of the Society of Friends. His estate, now called Eaglesfield, the property since in succession of Robert E. Griffiths, Richard Rundle, John J. Borie, and now in Fairmount Park, is situated between Solitude (Penn's estate) and Sweetbrier, about one mile above the dam at Fairmount. Here the Schuylkill Fishing Company of the State in Schuylkill remained for ninety years, when in 1822

the side of General Wharton, who is the president. Toward the end of the day the wine was out. "We want more wine," said the general, turning to one of the young members; "please to call John." "If you want more wine," said the judge, "you had better call for the demijohn."

When the whole town was volunteering to work upon the fortifications to the westward of the Schuylkill, and the enemy was shortly expected, the judge met a party of his acquaintance with intrenching-tools upon their shoulders. "Ah, gentleman," said he, "spades are trumps to-day, but clubs may turn up to-morrow."

A gentleman by the name of Vaux happened to be stopped by two footpads near Philadelphia, but having no money about him, they let him pass. Three days after, the judge's son, in company with another gentleman, was stopped by the same villains and robbed of a gold watch and forty dollars in money. When the judge heard of it, "Ah!" he exclaimed, "I knew too well the luck of my family to suppose it would be with one of its members as it was the other day—Vox et preterea nihil."

On some occasion a very fat and a very slim man stood at the entrance of a door into which the judge wished to pass. He stopped a moment for them to make way, but perceiving they were not inclined to move, and being urged by the master of the house

it removed down the river near Rambo's Rock, opposite Bartram's celebrated Botanical Gardens. Very recently the State has again removed, and it is now at the mouth of the Wissahickon. to come in, he pushed on between them, exclaiming, "Here I go, then, through thick and thin."

A lawyer engaged in a cause before the judge tormented a poor German witness so much with questions that the old man declared he was so exhausted he must have a glass of water before he could say anything more. "There," said the judge to the teasing lawyer, "I think you must have done with that witness now, for you've pumped him dry."

Mr. P. A. Browne, who had lately been dismissed from the office of deputy attorney-general, which he had filled for some years, was using the technical phrases of a public prosecutor to a person in company with the judge. "You see," he explained, "the habit sticks by me." "Yes, yes," said Peters, "you are like the clapper of a bell, that keeps wagging after it has done sounding."

### THE MAROUIS DE VALADY.

Fan. 18, 1814.—Almost all the French officers who fought in our army under Washington carried with them on their return home that love of liberty which was so predominant here. They became, to a man, the friends of a reform in France, and many who had not visited this country entertained a still more enthusiastic longing for a change. Their desire to taste the delights of freedom was extravagant—it was irrational. Men in affluence, without grievances, became so enamored of its charms that they readily sacrificed to them their fortunes, friends and families. Undoubtedly, some of the louder-toned worshippers of the celestial goddess

had latent views, and became subsequently the plunderers rather than the benefactors of their country; but amidst the crowd which flocked around the temple of Freedom at that momentous crisis some were the disinterested worshippers of its *culte*, and were ready to lay down their lives and their all for the good of France; of these was my friend Valady, of whom I recollect enough to give the following account.

Godefroi Yzarn, marquis de Valady,\* was born on his father's estate in Auvergne in the year 1765, and being an only child, and heir to a fortune of about fourteen thousand dollars a year, and descended from one of the most ancient families of his province, he was educated with the greatest care and in a manner every way suitable to his birth and fortune. His father had long been intimately connected with the Marquis de Vaudreuil, a distinguished officer in the French navy, and second in command when the Comte de Grasse blockaded Cornwallis at Yorktown, and succeeded to the chief command when that admiral was defeated on the 12th of April, 1782, by Lord Rodney. The Marquis de Vaudreuil brought those French ships that escaped capture to refit at Boston, and took a zealous part in our struggle for independence.

Young Valady no doubt heard frequently from his father, through the Marquis de Vaudreuil's correspondence, of the efforts and successes of the Americans, of the cause for which they fought, and of their enthusiasm and courage in defence of their rights. These topics,

<sup>\*</sup> The name is commonly spelled by historical writers Valadi; the form used by Mr. Breck is sanctioned by the autograph of the marquis.

moreover, were become fashionable in France, and, added to the native philanthropy and ardent love of justice and liberty which had early inflamed the mind of young Valady since he became acquainted with the history of the ancient republics, carried his passion for freedom even in his boyish days to an extraordinary height. Shortly after the peace of 1783 the Marquis de Vaudreuil returned to France, where he concluded with Valady's father a contract of marriage between the young marquis and Mademoiselle de Vaudreuil, the eldest daughter of the admiral. De Valady was not yet nineteen years old, and the affianced lady scarcely fifteen. The match had been made, as was usual among the higher classes in France, without consulting the younger parties. They had never seen each other, and when Valady was informed of the engagement, his mind, replete with high notions of independence, could not easily be brought to listen to the degradation of parting with the privilege of selecting for himself on so important an occasion. The contract was made, his father had passed his word, and, already disgusted with his son's novel sentiments of independence, he plainly told him that he must submit or leave his house. He chose to obey, and had not the engagement been entered into on the part of the parents in a way so derogatory to the common rights of the betrothed-a mark of slavery which the proud spirit of Valady could never forget—it is probable that his heart would have leaned of its own accord toward his future bride. She possessed attractions of the most exalted kind. I knew her personally when she was the admiration of the whole province of Languedoc, in which her father's castle was situated. She was of a commanding form, exquisitely fine countenance, in which the gentle nature of her soul was pictured in tints of roseate health; her mind elegantly accomplished,—uniting, in short, everything that the most fastidious suitor could hope to meet with. Yet such was the repulsive effect of arbitrary command on a mind enamored of freedom that De Valady, after leading this beautiful woman to the altar, never consummated his marriage—never could be subdued by her charms or won by her gentle and bewitching sighs.

He left her abruptly, and joined his regiment in the Gardes Françaises, stationed at Paris. Here he became acquainted with Saint John de Crevecœur, Brissot de Warville, and many of the Encyclopédists, who were destined to shine shortly as the champions of French liberty. The turn for political speculations which took possession of these apostles of reformation totally unfitted De Valady for his military duties, and imagining that he could better see in England the practice and theory of the sublime doctrines that so warmly occupied his heart, he left Paris without leave from his commander and almost without funds. His father and the De Vaudreuil family passed some months before they knew what had become of him, when at length they were informed that he had been seen in London; and as his conduct had been exceedingly irregular, to say the least, in quitting his regiment as he did, they hastened to take measures to screen him from punishment and to press him to return to his military duty. But no

entreaties could draw him from his "dear England, the only spot in Europe where liberty dwelt."\*

The Marchioness de Vaudreuil, who still lives an emigrant in England and a victim to the fatal effects of the Revolution of France, undertook in the year 1786 to visit London herself on purpose to bring home her truant son. His extreme youth, she thought, might plead his excuse for his dereliction both of military and of conjugal duty. It was impossible, she said to her husband and family, that a well-born Frenchman, without grievance, want or care, could seriously desert his fortune and his wife, and, happen what would, she would

\* Carlyle calls De Valady "Valadi the Pythagorean," and in Southey's Letters from England, by Don Manuel Alvarez Espriella, there is an amusing account of De Valady's connection with the Platonist Taylor: "Early in the French Revolution the Marquis de Valady came over to England to visit a Mr. Thomas Taylor, a Platonic philosopher professing polytheism. The marquis called at his house, dressed in white like an aspirant; fell at his feet to worship the divine restorer of the Platonic philosopher; rose up to put a bank-note of twenty pounds in his hand as an offering, and insisted upon being permitted to live in the house with him, that he might enjoy every possible opportunity of profiting by his lessons. In vain did the philosopher represent the want of room in his house, his method of living, the inconvenience to himself and his pupil. Nothing would satisfy the marquis. If there was no other room, he would have a bed put up in the study where they were conversing. Away he went to order it, and was immediately domesticated. After some little time it was discovered that he was disposed to worship the wife instead of the husband, and here ended the platonism. They parted, however, in friendship. De Valady had left France to escape from a young wife, because, he said, she had no soul; he went back to take a part in the Revolution. Taylor saw him in the diligence as he was setting off; he was in complete regimentals, with a fierce cocked hat, and his last words were, 'I came here Diogenes, and I return Alexander."-Letter LXIV.

undertake the journey on purpose to restore him to his country. She did so, and, arriving in London, found the young enthusiast in a proper mood to listen to her proposals. He had spent every shilling of his money, and was then subsisting on the proceeds of a small library that he had bought soon after his arrival. Liberty and its delights would soon have deserted him even in England without a plentiful purse. This he knew, and consented to accompany his mother-in-law to France. The interest of his family obtained his pardon of the Minister of War, and he again joined his regiment at Paris, but with his wife, incomparably beautiful, virtuous and mild as she was, he would never associate.

This was in 1787, and shortly after I became intimately acquainted with him at Paris. The Notables were then assembling, and his eagerness for a political reform increased daily. Undoubtedly, the deranged state of the finances, and unequal pressure of the taxes upon the different orders of the body politic, caused a very great degree of dissatisfaction throughout the nation, and seemed, even at that early period, to portend some violent change. Had the clergy and high nobility possessed the disinterested patriotism of De Valady, and have yielded to the wishes of many of the wellthinking men of their orders, the subsequent horrors of the Revolution might have been averted. It was their wish to raise two or three hundred million of livres a year, in addition to the revenue, by submitting their orders to the payment of many taxes then exclusively borne by the Third Estate. This simple sacrifice on their part-which was indeed no more than an act of

justice—would have furnished ample means to the government and have saved the country. The avarice, however, of the higher clergy and nobility was superior to their patriotism, and caused their ruin. De Valady strove with all his might to effect some such object; but seeing no prospect of amelioration in the unhappy state of the bulk of the nation, and possessed of a spirit of genuine philanthropy, he found his residence amongst these distressed slaves, as he called them, too irksome to endure, and resolved once more to abandon France and seek for the pure enjoyment of liberty among the republicans of America; for this purpose he passed over to England, and in 1787 he writes to me thus from London:

"I am here on my way to America, where I mean to delve the earth for a subsistence, rather than be beholden to any of my proud connexions. They form the clan of oppressors, and being the enemies of liberty I hold them in enmity myself."

These *enemics*, as the marquis called them, were watchful of his movements, and learning his intention to sail for America, despatched letters of credit for him to Boston and elsewhere. I received one myself from his respectable father-in-law, Admiral de Vaudreuil, requesting that all his wants might be supplied. His enthusiastic love of liberty made him unreasonably harsh toward all those who opposed his ardor, and, what is no uncommon thing among the high-toned champions of freedom at the present time, he claimed an exclusive right to his own opinions, whilst he refused to tolerate those in opposition to them. Just as he was about

sailing, and after having engaged his passage, he heard of the commotions that a spirit of liberty had raised in Holland, and immediately disembarking his effects, he returned to Paris with a view of joining the Dutch patriots. It is remarkable that even at that early period he voluntarily abolished his own title of nobility, and his letter to me is signed "Godefroi Yzarn Valady (but no marquis any more)." Upon this occasion his father and all his relations except one, despairing of his return to the habits and conversation which they thought became his birth and his post as an officer of the Gardes Françaises, withdrew from him all pecuniary support; and, harassed as he was with his high and vehement notions of liberty, he now found his purse empty and knew not where to replenish it. These conjoined vexations destroyed his health and prevented his departure for Holland.

At this time, M. de Castlenau, one of his relations, took pity on him and invited him to pass a few months with him at Geneva, where he resided as minister from the French court. From this place De Valady intrigued with the Dutch patriots whom the duke of Brunswick had compelled to seek shelter in France, and entered into a solemn engagement to take up arms in their cause as soon as circumstances should permit them to unfurl the standard of liberty again.

"So long," he writes me at this period—"so long as the breath of freedom agitates this part of the world, you need not look for me in America. I will not indulge myself with a sight of that promised land, until I have deserved the delightful tranquillity enjoyed there —a tranquillity that must one day reign in every part of the world, though not, however, without the previous destruction of that fatal and wretched order of beings called kings, whose characters and actions are a compound of caprice, vanity, ambition and avarice. I am young yet, and I must aid in conquering a lasting peace, which can only be had by establishing the laws of freedom; and this conquest will be the more delightful as it will give happiness to many future generations. O Liberty!

'Millions of unborn souls in time may see
Their dooms reversed, and owe their joys to thee.'"

If France in February, 1788, the date of the above letter, contained among her high nobility men inspired with such republican sentiments as these, can we be surprised at the volcanic fire that soon after burst from the Third Estate? De Valady saw in the course of this and the succeeding year a field open itself sufficiently large for the wildest of his speculations. This Third Estate had already attained the supremacy, constituted itself a National Assembly, and raised a ferment throughout the nation. The ten regiments of guards, to one of which he was still attached, joined the popular party—a defection that weakened and discouraged the court in the proportion that it emboldened and assisted the agitators of the day, and in which, no doubt, the marquis was eminently instrumental.\* Every-

\* Carlyle, supplying Broglie with a term, speaks of the Gardes Françaises as "debauched by Valadi the Pythagorean;" but in his narrative generally the marquis occupies a subordinate position in the ranks of the celebrated twenty-two. thing and everybody was in commotion. The period so ardently desired had at length arrived that was to regenerate the world, and, in the language of these self-styled philosophers and friends of the people, wipe away every political and moral vice, and in their stead implant the immutable doctrines of perfectibility.

The well-meaning in times of disorder are usually sacrificed to the designing. Of this truth De Valady and his friends were soon convinced by woeful experience. Blood began to flow, party rage increased, power changed hands, the most violent always rising to the head of the government, till at length the good king Louis was brought to the scaffold. De Valady was systematically opposed to royalty, and he was a member of the National Convention that condemned that worthy prince. I believe, I hope, he did not vote for decapitation. He belonged to the Girondist party, and it is known that they were in favor of an appeal to the people.\*

Scarcely had the martyred king been destroyed when the club of the Cordeliers, headed by Robespierre, Marat and other monsters, conspired against the Girondists, who held the supreme command. With a body of two or three thousand men organized for the pur-

\* "On the trial of the king nothing could be more noble than Valadi's opinion. He voted that Louis should be kept in honorable confinement till the termination of the war; that he should be sent out of the republic with a large pension; and that a fortune should be bestowed by the nation upon Madame Elizabeth suitable to the high expectancies of a daughter of France."—Biographical Anecdotes of the Founders of the French Republic, London, 1797; article "Valadi," p. 161.

pose, they determined to supplant the real republicans, of whom De Valady was now one of the most conspicuous. Threatened daily from the gallery and in the streets, the marquis and his friends had long since armed themselves with daggers and pistols, which they constantly took with them to the hall of the Convention, and at night slept from home in concealed places. The Mountain, or ultra-Revolutionists—thus designated by the opposite party—drove Roland, the chief of the Girondists, from his office of Minister of Interior Relations, compelled a declaration of war against Austria, obliged Dumouriez to retire from the command of the army, and set about maturing their plan for bringing the head of De Valady and twenty-two of his associates to the block.

A list of their names was handed into the Convention by the municipality of Paris, secretly governed by Robespierre, accompanied by a petition on the 2d of June, 1793, asking for their arrest and trial. The galleries were filled early in the morning of this memorable day by the vilest of the populace, placed there by the factious deputies, and instructed to interrupt every attempt at defence on the part of the accused. The Girondists, consisting of De Valady, Brissot, Lanjuinais, Vergniaud, Louvet, Barbaroux and others, were not unmindful of their danger. The denounced members had dined together the day before for the last time. Many schemes were proposed at this dinner to evade the pending blow, but, relying upon their own good intentions and the virtue of the Parisians, they separated without having concerted any general plan of defence. On the morning

of the 2d they were at their posts. Suddenly the hall was surrounded by a numerous band of armed militiamen, who escorted the bearers of the petition. The galleries applauded, the crowd without clamored, the sovereign people would be obeyed, Barbaroux, one of the accused, and a man of great personal courage, spurned at their threats and fought his way to the tribunal, but in a moment twenty hands tore him from it. Lanjuinais, another of the denounced, sprang forward to occupy his place, when Legendre with brutal ferocity beat him to the ground. He arose undaunted, however, and obliged the Assembly to listen to him. With a firm yet serene voice he exclaimed that "the ancients, when they prepared a sacrifice, crowned their victim with flowers and garlands; and you, more cruel, you assault with disgraceful blows; you outrage the victim that makes no effort to escape your knife." These eloquent words produced a momentary silence. The Convention hesitated. Not so the crowd without: their threats, their force increased, till at length their clamors induced some of the deputies to propose that the whole legislative body should march out and reason with the sovereign people. It was so decreed. The president at the head leaves the hall, arrives in front of a triple row of bayonets and reads with a timid voice the resolve that has just passed.

"Return," cries the commanding general, Henriot— "return to thy post. Darest thou give orders to the insurgent people? The people will that the traitors should be given up; give them or go back." Then turning to his troops, "Cannoneers," he exclaims, "to your guns! citizens, to arms!" Cannon charged with grape are pointed against the Convention; muskets are levelled at many of the deputies. They fly; they seek a passage by two other outlets, and twice they are repulsed. Marat appears at the head of a hundred ruffians ready to perpetrate any massacre at his signal. "I order you," he calls out to the members-"I order you in the name of the people to go in, to deliberate and obey." The Convention returns to its hall. Couthon rises and with insulting irony exclaims, "Well, my colleagues, you have now convinced yourselves that the Convention is perfectly free. The honor of the people is only declared against faithless mandatories. but as for us, we are still environed with all their respect, with all their affection. What wait we for? Let us obey at once the calls of our consciences and their wishes. I propose that Lanjuinais, Barbaroux, Brissot, De Valady" (here follow upward of twenty names of the most eminent Girondists)" be put in arrest at their respective homes." Couthon's proposition was decreed.

During this extraordinary scene De Valady sustained with republican energy the cause of himself and friends. He retired in obedience to the decree, and in despair at perceiving that all his sublimated notions of government were idle or impracticable, he resolved on flight. The royalists had yielded to the constituents, the constituents to the republicans, and the republicans to the anarchists. The persecutions of each faction acted upon the other, and the death or exile of the vanquished party was the never-failing catastrophe of the revolutionary tragedies of those unhappy times.

He passed through the gates of Paris in disguise, and bent his course toward Normandy. At Caen he met with Salles, Guadet, Barbaroux, Pétion, Buzot, Louvet, the only surviving members of the proscribed, Brissot and all the others having been tried and executed. Baron Wimpfen, the defender of Thionville, had the command in these districts, and had assembled an army of seventeen or eighteen thousand men, all well disposed toward the fugitives, who set about arranging some concerted plan of operations. It was settled in consequence that the deputies should disperse into neighboring departments and organize a force sufficiently strong to overthrow the new and sanguinary rulers at Paris. They departed accordingly, but the Jacobins had already anticipated them by extending the affiliations of their celebrated club into city, town and hamlet. The agents of this diabolical association had scattered universal corruption amongst the populace; millions upon millions of assignats were squandered at this important crisis, and the minds of the peasantry. inflamed already with the high hopes of their newborn liberty, were easily seduced by the prodigality and promises of their new rulers.

De Valady and his friends found all ears shut against them, and were glad to escape back to Caen, where the force under General Wimpfen had repelled as yet the efforts of the Jacobins. The town-house was appropriated for their residence, and the municipality treated them with kindness and respect. Louvet, who had joined them again here, has published an account \* of his ad-

<sup>\*</sup> Mémoires, Paris, 1823.

ventures after this period, and as De Valady kept him company, I can follow my friend more circumstantially than heretofore. During their stay in this city they were frequently visited by the celebrated heroine Charlotte Corday. Of her projects they knew nothing, but she inspired them all with the warmest interest. Louvet describes her as a young woman, stout, well-made, with an open air and modest behavior. She always came attended by a servant, and conversed with the deputies in the public gallery. Her true motive, he thinks, was to become acquainted with himself and friends, whom she considered as the founders of the Republic, for which she was going to devote herself. In her face, which was at once that of a fine and pretty woman, and in her whole carriage, there was a mixture of gentleness and dignity which indicated her heavenly mind. She never mentioned her design to any one of the seven deputies whom she visited. She called on them the day previous to her departure for Paris, when the dignified firmness of her mien and the fire of her eye, tempered by modesty, attracted the attention of all. What a pity that a woman with so much beauty and such a soul should have sacrificed herself for the monster Marat, who was doomed to die in a few days a victim to a disease that his infamous debaucheries had made incurable!

More than a dozen deputies were now assembled at Caen, in which place their dangers increased daily. The Jacobins were everywhere triumphant, and dared at last to agitate this hitherto secure asylum. The administrator of the department ordered the decree of outlawry to be posted against the very walls of the house they occupied. The people sold themselves for assignats; the clubs became noisy; more than two hundred thousand scaffolds were erected in devoted France; and everything announced to the deputies the necessity of their departure.

Three battalions of Bretons, who had been against the Vendeans, and were still faithful to the proscribed, remained at Caen. They were to set off for Brest and its neighborhood the day after the publication of this fatal decree. De Valady, with Pétion and the others, procured suitable arms and dresses and joined these volunteers. The representatives of the people, the former illustrious mayor of Paris and men of high birth and polished education now entered upon a soldier's life, on foot and in the ranks. With their new comrades they marched, sang, ate brown bread, drank cider and exhibited that *insouciance* in distress which belongs to a Frenchman's heart alone. In this manner they traversed the country for several days, when defection began to show itself amongst the battalions, and obliged De Valady and his friends to quit them and to seek refuge under new disguises in the vicinity of Dol. Here he remained a month, while Pétion, Barbaroux and all the others bent their course in detached parties toward the sea-coast. A few weeks before they designed to embark for Philadelphia. It was then in their power, since Honfleur, close by Caen, offered them the means; but now they were watched and hunted by those who then protected them.

Toward the latter end of September, De Valady was

obliged to remove from his hiding-place, and in company with an unhappy friend, not a deputy, though pursued by the reigning tyrants, resolved to get to Bordeaux, if possible, by water. They had one hundred miles to travel to reach the sea. Time pressed, the inquisitors were many. A description of his person, and also the persons of his proscribed companions, was in the hands of every municipal and every naval officer. It required no small presence of mind to evade the searching eye and prying questions of the jealous watchmen scattered over his route, and many were his adventures and hairbreadth escapes before he and his friend reached the retreat of Pétion, to which he had been directed by a confidential messenger sent to him for that purpose.

On his arrival he had the happiness of meeting not only Pétion, but Barbaroux, Louvet and seven or eight others, whom Pétion had assembled to embark with him in a vessel owned by two worthy merchants who had consented to give them a passage to Bordeaux. The very next night the ship's boat was to receive them on board at a retired beach four miles from Brest. At twelve o'clock they repaired to the strand. No boat was in waiting for them. They listened two hours for the cheering sound of oars; all was silence. If daylight found them on the shore, they were lost, and their party was too numerous to expect safety in retreat. The owners of the vessel were with them. They proposed to hire a fishing-smack to take them. A man consented to go, but the tide was low. In two hours more, however, they were embarked in his boat. When the sun

rose they were traversing the capacious harbor of Brest. and their vessel was not in sight. In this state of extreme anxiety, afraid to land, yet in danger of perishing at sea, they resolved to penetrate to the ocean, where it was possible their ship might be waiting. Toward noon they doubled the last point of land and saw a vessel lying off and on. They approached: it was the one they sought. They ascended her sides, and in a moment were in her little cabin. The captain, who was a faithful Scot, explained the cause of his delay perfectly to their satisfaction. He left port in the night with a convoy, and as his vessel sailed fast he had contrived to let it pass ahead, so that he might take in his passengers in safety, for which purpose he had returned. The convoy sailed later than was expected, and prevented his sending his boat to the beach. The fugitives took leave of their friends the merchants, who recommended them warmly to the captain, and all sails were spread to overtake the convoy.

Meantime, the grand fleet of twenty-two sail of the line and fifteen frigates hove in sight. They had left Brest two days before, and darkened the horizon. It was necessary to pass through this formidable armament, and it seemed impossible that some of the deputies should not be recognized by its officers if they saw fit to visit their vessel. They were aware of their danger, and were prepared with a remedy. De Valady and the rest lay at full length on the cabin floor with their pistols cocked, determined to perish by their own hands rather than be taken alive. It was enjoined on each captain in the public service to keep a sharp look-

out for them. The honest Scot was on deck with his trumpet in his hand, ready to deny their being on board. Four hundred livres distributed among the crew ensured their discretion. They arrived in the midst of the fleet, and not a question was asked. The next day they perceived the frigate with which the vessel left Brest bearing down upon them. As soon as she came within hail they received through a speaking-trumpet the alarming interrogation, "Whence come you?" "From Brest," answered the captain. This produced the ominous remark, "You are a long way astern;" to which the captain replied, "We have made as much haste as we could." "Your vessel is a very bad sailor, then," was retorted, not very civilly. In answer to this nothing was said. At length the thundering question came, "Have you any passengers aboard?" The hearty Scot made the air ring with a bold "No!" On this the frigate's boat was hoisted out. It was now a critical moment for the persecuted De Valady and his colleagues. They threw overboard such papers as could involve their friends on shore, cocked their pistols, placed them in their mouths and waited the event. The boat's arrival required not these melancholy preparations; it came merely to fetch a hawser for the frigate to take their vessel in tow till it should come up with the merchant fleet: and it was not one of the least whimsical adventures of this voyage, remarks Louvet, to see themselves thus protected by a vessel which was particularly prepared for their destruction.

In another day they sailed up the Garonne, passed the guard-ships in a boat and landed at Bec d'Ambery.

They took leave of the good Scotsman, for whom they made up a purse of four hundred dollars, which they begged him to accept. This sum they clubbed among themselves, and after it was paid the richest of them had not forty dollars left. But they were in the loyal department of Gironde, and could not want for anything. as they fondly imagined. Alas, De Valady! the arts of thy persecutors had again preceded thee. Bordeaux. with the whole department, acknowledged the sway of the Convention. The arms and the intrigues of the Maratists were everywhere triumphant. Strangers had become objects of suspicion, and the guillotine was in activity in every town. The Girondist party, as particularly obnoxious to the ruling members, were sought for with eagerness, and the fugitives were in danger at every step they took. This spot, then, which they encountered so many dangers to reach, was still more unsafe than that they had left. But there was no time to deliberate, and in their haste to find a retreat they were in danger of losing themselves by the indiscretion of one of their party.

Guadet, who was an inhabitant of this part of the country, had a relation living in the neighborhood, but his house was shut and no one was at home. With the impetuosity of a Gascon, he flew to the inn of the village, and was guilty of the unaccountable folly of naming himself. He was the representative from this very district, and his name was known to every one. The information spread in every direction. Meantime, the key of the house was procured, and into it all the deputies retired. Two days were spent in constant

anxiety, at the end of which the approach of an armed force was announced, which obliged them to retreat. Scarcely were they seated in a small boat that they found on the Garonne, which flowed about a mile from the house, when in the dead of night more than four hundred men attacked it with artillery. These brave Revolutionists carried the deserted citadel by storm, and so proud were they of the victory that their commander transmitted a pompous account of it to the Convention, in which he said that "such was the activity of the Sansculottes who had surrounded the house that, after penetrating into it, they had found—the beds of the proscribed still warm!"

Whilst these furious patriots were searching, and no doubt plundering, the house, De Valady and his companions had passed the Dordogne and reached the road leading to St. Émilion; but being soon traced by the party who had driven them from their last abode, and actually pursued by fifty horsemen, they turned from the great road and fled to some stone-quarries which they found unoccupied by workmen, as it was Sunday. Here they lay concealed until nightfall, when a peasant in whom they had ventured to confide, and sent out among the farmers to obtain provisions and shelter, returned to inform them that no person would receive them. "Not a person," he said, "has the courage to open his doors." And this was their Gironde, the department that had hitherto supported their principles, and whose representatives were so unanimously of their sentiments that Brissot and his party thence derived the name of Girondins!

What was to be done? It was unsafe to proceed any longer in company. De Valady's friend was still with him, and these two, together with Barbaroux and Louvet, separated from Pétion, Buzot and the rest. This expedient, temporary and hopeless, only protracted the vengeance of the Mountain, whose triumphs and influence were rapidly increasing. Their hearts were full at parting; they embraced and bade each other farewell.

Barbaroux, who was skilled in mineralogy, proposed to pass himself off as a professor of that science, while De Valady and his friend were merchants travelling with him to engage the working of any mines that he might discover. This fiction was soon given up, for even in those days of confusion and distress, when all ranks seemed levelled to an equality, it was too absurd for belief that merchants would be traversing the country for minerals on foot and in the middle of the night. They rambled they knew not where for four hours. Guadet was no longer with them, and, totally unacquainted with the country, they soon lost their way. About twelve at night they came to a village. The curé's house was before them, Barbaroux ventured to knock at the door. In a few moments the curé opened it himself. "We are travellers," said they, "and have lost our way." "Confess," replied the worthy man, "that you are good people suffering persecution, and as such accept the accommodations of my house for twenty-four hours. Would I could welcome more frequently and for a longer time some of the innocent victims of unjust pursuit!"

De Valady and his companions were astonished and

affected by this reception. It demanded entire confidence, and it obtained it. The good man shed tears of joy as he rushed into their arms. He introduced these dangerous guests into his house, and permitted them to remain there five days, at the expiration of which De Valady received the farewell of his friend. This gentleman had accompanied him from Normandy, and thinking now that he could reach the house of a relation who lived near Périgueux, and who would, as he thought, give a secure shelter to De Valady and himself, he departed. The next day he was arrested and sacrificed.

It began to be whispered shortly that strangers were concealed in the cure's house. Their host warned them of their danger, and lamented the necessity that obliged him to part from them. He sought the whole day for a new lodging. Nothing offered better than a hayloft belonging to a farmer whose house was the abode of no less than sixteen people. Two of these, however, the curé could trust. They alone were present when in the silence of night our friends changed the comfortable beds of the parsonage for the disagreeable heat of a mow composed of new hay and in a state of fermentation. In this hay each man made himself a hole, where he remained buried the whole day. The loft was full to suffocation; one single window admitted air, and the weather was unusually sultry for the season. They had been a day in this close confinement when their two confidants were sent suddenly at a distance, without being able, as was afterward learned, to inform them of their absence. Two more days passed in extreme anxiety. For forty-eight hours poor De Valady and his companions had been deprived of all nourishment. The coarse fare and poor wine which they had occasionally picked up were now no longer served to them. The extreme lassitude, dreadful headache, frequent faintings, burning thirst and general agony experienced in this long interval of fasting are indescribable. Their courage failed them. Barbaroux and Louvet confessed that they had not fortitude to bear with life, and were resolved that that hour should be the last, whilst De Valady, poor De Valady! acknowledged to them that he dared not die.

Without consolation, without a prospect of relief, Barbaroux and Louvet grasped their pistols and looking at each other expressed by a languid smile and in profound silence the horrid meaning of this act. Their hands were pressed together with convulsive fury. The moment of despondence was come; the signal of death was on the point of being given, when De Valady, attentive to the motions, cried, "Barbaroux, you have yet a mother!—Louvet, think on your incomparable wife!" Like a talisman these words converted their rage into tenderness; their weapons dropped from their hands; their enfeebled bodies bent toward each other; they mingled their tears together.

They were suddenly roused by the sound of heavy thunder. It was past ten at night, and all the people of the farmhouse were presumed to be asleep. The lightning still flashed, the thunder was retiring, when voices were heard speaking in whispers below. Soon after a man came up the ladder. It was one of their confidants. They asked him for food. "Talk not of food," said he roughly, "but come down at once." His altered tone persuaded them that they were betrayed. De Valady's mortal anxiety at the idea of death preyed afresh upon his broken spirits as he heard Barbaroux whisper to Louvet "that they should not take him alive." These two unhappy men had again recourse to their pistols. Unable to follow their example, yet imagining the fatal hour arrived, he faintly said to them, "Alas, then, we must die!" and taking them by the hand he added, "O my friends! are you going to leave me?" At no moment in their wanderings, says Louvet, did death seem so near as on this dreadful night.

The man repeated his orders for them to descend. "Citizen," said Louvet, "we are far from desiring to involve you in any trouble, yet do not think to draw us into a snare. We certainly shall not go down until the curé or some of his family appear, or you frankly tell us what you want." The people in the farmhouse had heard them in the hayloft, and had hinted their suspicions. The curé, ever on the watch, was anxious for their removal, yet he hesitated. The men to whom the barn belonged became uneasy. Their lives and their all were at stake. Timid and vexed at the delay and danger, they had taken upon themselves to dislodge the fugitives. A kinsman of the curé's was sent for, and arrived before the fugitives would trust themselves below. The storm continued; the thunder had ceased, but the rain fell in torrents and the wind blew cold from the south. After suffocating with heat for three extremely warm days, they were driven from the

hayloft at the very moment it became desirable. Their friends placed them in a small wood, and there left them benumbed and wet.

A little before day the curé came to them himself, and offered them for one night, at all hazards, the shelter of his house. This they had the courage to refuse, as it would endanger him, but he assured them that his cockloft would conceal them until the next night, and that in case of alarm a rope should be contrived for their escape. They hastened to this retreat before dawn, and while there received a message from Guadet, who had knocked at the doors of many houses supposed to be inhabited by friends, and had found them all shut against him, except only one, and this was inhabited by a woman. Madame Bouquet was his sisterin-law. Generous, compassionate and intrepid, as all those about her were cowardly, selfish and inhuman, threatened by most of her connexions, and suspected by the municipality, she dared to receive her wandering brother, to construct a safe retreat for him thirty feet underground, and to invite to its shelter all his proscribed friends. Sure agents were sent to hunt out Pétion and his party, as well as De Valady and his friends. They were conducted under cover of the night at different times to this subterranean abode. For more than a month she secreted them, fed them, nursed them, and paid for these humane services the forfeit of her life. She was dragged to the guillotine with her husband, poor Guadet and his aged father.

Lodged in this dismal hole all day, these unhappy exiles ventured above ground only at night. As provisions were scarce, they never breakfasted. A dish of soup made with pulse formed the whole of their dinner. At supper they fared somewhat better, and now and then feasted upon a morsel of beef or a dish of poultry from the yard, Madame Bouquet often depriving herself of food that more might be left for her guests.

Scarcely had a few weeks' rest been enjoyed by them when the clamor of her relations and intimations of the magistrates reached the ears even of the deputies, and made them resolve to leave this sanctuary, if it were only to save their noble benefactress. They left her in the deepest affliction. She wept, she bemoaned the cruel necessity which forced her to forego the happiness of serving them. At one o'clock in the morning De Valady set out with Guadet, Louvet and another. He left them at a short distance from the house to turn off toward an estate belonging to a relation, and where he meant to try to gain admittance. "What a look," says Louvet, "did he give us when we quitted him! Never shall I lose the sad remembrance of it; he had death in his eye."\*

\* Of the other Girondists of this party, Louvet made his way to Paris, joined his wife and escaped with her to Switzerland. Guadet and Salles were both taken, and died by the guillotine in Bordeaux. Barbaroux, with Pétion and Buzot, eluded capture until the summer of 1794. "One July morning," says Carlyle, "changing their hiding-place, as they have often to do, about a league from St. Émilion they observe a great crowd of country people; doubtless, Jacobins come to take them. Barbaroux draws a pistol, shoots himself dead. Alas! and it was not Jacobins; it was harmless villagers going to a village wake. Two days afterward Buzot and Pétion were found in a corn-field, their bodies half eaten by dogs."—The French Revolution, Part III., Book IV., chapter viii.

Whether he was received by his relation or not, I am uninformed. For some five or six weeks he must have concealed himself in that neighborhood, since about the end of that time he determined on taking the road to Paris, with a view, no doubt, of concealing himself within the walls of that vast city. When arrived near Périgueux under a well-contrived disguise, he became suspected, was arrested, interrogated, examined, identified, conducted to Roux Fagillac, and from the prison of that town to the scaffold.

### THE DUKE OF ORLEANS.

September 4, 1830.—The news came to-day of the dethronement of Charles X. of France, who, counselled by his short-sighted minister, Polignac, attempted to muzzle the press and violate the elective franchise of the country. The duke of Orleans, with whom I was personally acquainted in Philadelphia in 1796–97, is lieutenant-general of the kingdom, and our old friend La Fayette commander of the National Guards.

September 20.—The duke of Orleans was proclaimed king of France on the 8th of August. I well remember several particulars of my acquaintance with him when he was in Philadelphia in the year 1796. He came to Philadelphia in the ship America, Ewing master, and on landing was invited by D. Coningham, Esq., now alive, to lodge at his house in Front street. Mr. Coningham, surviving partner of the house of Coningham & Nesbit, was consignee and owner of the ship. Here he stayed some weeks. Not long after his arrival in Philadelphia, he was joined by his two brothers, the

dukes of Montpensier and Beaujolais. These young princes had been confined by the authorities of France in the Château d'If, situated on an island in the Mediterranean, opposite to Marseilles, and obtained leave to come to America. For want of a better conveyance, they took their passage in a brig that had on board upward of a hundred of our countrymen just released from slavery at Algiers. They bore their exile here with philosophy, appearing, like their elder brother, cheerful and resigned. I met them very often in society. and particularly all three one day in walking toward the Delaware, and joined their company. Mr. d'Orleans (for so he was always called, never having taken an assumed name or travelled incognito) told me that he had just heard that his good friend Captain Ewing of the ship America was at the wharf on his return from Hamburg, and that he wished to take him by the hand and introduce his two brothers to him. We went to Ross's wharf, where the America had that moment hauled in. Captain Ewing came on shore, and was received by Mr. d' Orleans with the warmest cordiality and introduced to his brothers. There was a display of such kind feeling on the part of the princes, and such a total absence of all pride or notion of superiority, that I was greatly affected at the sight.

The three brothers afterward travelled on horseback to Pittsburg. I saw them pass along Market street, equipt as Western traders then rode, having a blanket over the saddle and their saddle-bags under them. On their return, Mr. d'Orleans hired very humble lodgings in Fourth street near Prune, where I visited him. He

did me the favor to trace the route he had just taken on a map that hung in his room, and told me that they managed very well along the road, taking care of themselves at the taverns, and leaving their horses to be groomed by the only servant they had with them. "We could have done very well without any servant," he said, "and took one entirely for the sake of the horses." These distinguished exiles afterward descended the Mississippi, and went to the Havana, and from thence to Cadiz, and subsequently, having made their peace with the brother of Louis XVI., the present king, Louis Philippe, each married a princess of the reigning Bourbons at Naples.

# JOSEPH BONAPARTE.

April 20, 1816.—Yesterday, as we were going to Belmont, my neighbor, Farmer Bones, informed me that the ex-king of Spain, Joseph Bonaparte, had hired Landsdowne House \* for one year—that he had been in his company in the morning, and found him a very plain, agreeable man.

April 21.—Farmer Bones, who keeps the key of Landsdowne House, had another opportunity of seeing Joseph to-day, and ventured even to ask him into his house to take a drink of cider. Joseph went in, took a chair, and after drinking praised it much, inquiring where Bones bought it. Bones, who is a good-natured, free-spoken man, told him that in America farmers made their own cider, and if it was good, so much the better; if bad, it must be swallowed by them. Just like the

<sup>\*</sup> Belonging to the Bingham family.

government made by the Americans: if honestly administered, they were contented and happy; if otherwise, they must wait patiently and endure it until the constitutional time of changing its officers. This was interpreted to Joseph, and seemed to amuse him.

September 1, 1817.—I met Miss Julia Rush, daughter of the late Dr. Rush, at the Woodlands. She is beautiful, young, modest and intelligent. She dined at Joseph Bonaparte's not long since, or rather took a second dinner, for the ex-king's hours are breakfast at eleven o'clock and dinner at eight o'clock. He did not expect company, yet the repast was excellent. Joseph in his conversation was communicative, and often severe on his brother Napoleon. He said that when he was king of Spain he would direct his marshals and generals to do one thing, but that they immediately set about doing another; and when he complained, they would show the emperor's order for what they had just done, so that Joseph's plans were frustrated by the conflicting authority of his brother. He told her, or the company, that Napoleon's intention was to annex the greater part of Spain to France, and leave to him only a small kingdom in the south. Miss Rush tells me that he speaks with fluency, that his manners are urbane and polished, and that he is a very good-looking man. He is making many improvements at his place called Mount Breeze, near Bordentown. To the numerous French emigrants who apply to him for aid he is said to be liberal, and as an instance of his kindness as a master, one of his servants brought him the other day fifty thousand pounds sterling in diamonds which he had concealed

about his person for two years. This circumstance he mentioned himself, and added that all his servants had faithfully restored whatever had been entrusted to them.

June 27, 1829.—My brother George came to me this morning by appointment, and accompanied me in the steamboat to Bordentown. The ex-king of Naples and Spain, Joseph Bonaparte, had fixed his residence near here. His domain begins on the eastern skirt of the village, and extends a mile or two with a good wooden fence, forming an enclosure of pleasing variety and laid out with taste in rides, walks, shrubbery, lake and buildings. These last are imposing by their size and number, consisting of a large dwelling-house for himself, several other houses for his suite and servants, and on the bank of the river an observatory or outlook-tower of great elevation and solid structure. The pleasuregrounds immediately around the house are laid out in the English style, and with variety of design suitable to the undulations of the ground. The proprietor, who takes the name of Count Survilliers, was absent on a journey to New York; and had I not seen a new edifice just finishing, I should have judged, from the dirty and neglected state of the walks and grounds, that he had become tired of the place and was about to abandon it. Three or four men and boys were, however, scraping the weeds aside and putting things slowly to rights. The count has expended, it is reported, four hundred thousand dollars on this estate. I wish he would add a few more to that sum, for the purpose of restoring a meadow of eight or nine acres that stood immediately in front of the mansion-house, but which he has covered

with muddy water for the purpose of having a lake in sight of his parlor windows.

September 17, 1838.—I met at my door this morning Mr. Lejambre, formerly a confidential valet of Joseph Bonaparte, and now a thriving upholsterer in Chestnut street. He held in his hand a letter from the ex-king of Spain, informing him of his intention to embark for this country at Liverpool on the 20th of last month in the New York packet-ship Pennsylvania. He will be seventy-one years old on the 7th of January next, having been born on that day in 1768. I think he should now come to an anchor and fix himself permanently for the rest of his life. Lejambre has orders to fit up his villa at Bordentown with the utmost despatch, as the count may be expected daily. Perhaps his sudden departure from England may be connected with politics, for Louis Philippe has insisted on the Swiss cantons causing young Louis Napoleon, son of Louis Bonaparte, to leave that country, in consequence of his intrigues and foolish attempts upon the throne of France. An abortive trial was made at Strasbourg, where he was caught, and owed his life to the clemency of the king, who sent him to New York, instead of shooting him. But the young Napoleon left his place of exile and returned to Europe, where the Quixotic prince, as he is called, continues his windmill tilts, and may have involved his uncle Joseph in his romantic efforts to unhorse the king of France.

October 18, 1838.—I met Joseph Bonaparte in the street yesterday. His appearance is that of a very plain country gentleman. I thought one of the nine

servants he brought from England might have brushed his hat, which looked rather shabby. Mr. D. W. Cone entertained him at an evening party, but he was taciturn and grave. It is said that he comes to America to see the sun, being tired of living under the lugubrious and lurid sky of England, in the midst of fogs and rain, and sometimes snow, as Sir Walter Scott said of the climate of Great Britain.

#### Washington's Farewell Address.

December 23, 1822.—I dined and spent the evening with Judge Peters, where I stayed till nine o'clock, highly entertained with the brilliant wit of the father and ever-varied and never-tiring colloquy of Miss Peters and her friend Miss Delancy. The judge, among other things, mentioned to me that Mrs. Hamilton, the widow of the late Alexander Hamilton, had found among his papers a copy, in the general's handwriting, of General Washington's Farewell Address, and she took it for granted her husband was the author of it. A surmise of this kind had some time ago reached the judge's ears, upon which he wrote to John Jay, who replied to him in a letter which he offered to show to me that the circumstances were as follows: General Washington when about to retire from the Presidency wrote a valedictory to his fellow-citizens couched in the felicitous language of which he was master. But, as it might be considered a state paper, he submitted it to Chief-Justice Jay and to Alexander Hamilton. They made a few alterations, which they interlined, the whole of which did not amount to twenty lines. Unwilling, however, to return the manuscript in that form, it was written over in a fair hand by Hamilton and sent to the press.\* This, it is supposed, is the copy which his wife now possesses.

## THE BURNING OF WASHINGTON.

August 25, 1814.—In town in the morning. The most disastrous news arrived to-day from Washington, mentioning that an army under Lord Hill had debarked in the Patuxent River and were marching to that city.

August 26.—At home in the morning. In the afternoon, being extremely anxious to hear what was forthcoming from the southward, I went to Hamilton Village, where I saw Mr. C. Ross, who told me that Philadelphia was in the greatest agitation, and had appointed a committee of safety, of which he was a member; that a battle had been fought at Bladensburg, and that the British, having vanquished, penetrated to Washington.

August 27.—The news from the South occupies every one. I was in town to-day; saw the drafts marching through a heavy rain to a place of rendezvous. Every one was inquiring for Governor Snyder, who seems to have wholly abandoned this part of the State. At halfpast twelve o'clock I went with an immense crowd to the post-office to hear the news from the South. The postmaster read it to us from a chamber window. It imported that the navy-yard had been burnt (valued at

<sup>\*</sup> The question of Hamilton's share in the composition of the Farewell Address was impartially and luminously treated by the late Horace Binney, Esq., in his anonymous An inquiry into the Formation of Washington's Farewell Address, Philadelphia, Parry & McMillan, 1859.

from six to eight millions of dollars, including the new frigate Essex, sloop-of-war Argus, some old frigates, a vast quantity of timber, from five to eight hundred large guns and many manufactories of cordage, etc.) by our people; that the President's house, Capitol and other public buildings had been destroyed; and all this by a handful of men, say six thousand!

August 28.—I rode to an encampment of about two hundred men lying near the turnpike, to offer them a present of straw to sleep upon, as the poor fellows were out all last night without any, and in the midst of a heavy rain. The news this morning is that the enemy are going back to their ships. The disgrace of this expedition will for ever attach to the nation. The culpable neglect of the government is such as to stain our national character with the deepest dye of infamy. No American can hold his head up after this in Europe or at home, when he reflects that a motley group of French, Spanish, Portuguese and English, amounting only to four thousand, has successfully dared to march forty miles from their ships and ruin our best navy-yard, invade our capital, and march in safety, nay unmolested, back to their vessels. O Democracy! to what have you brought us! O Madison, Armstrong, and your conceited, ignorant and improvident cabinet! how guilty are you toward this dishonored, unhappy nation! And Snyder, thou governor by appellation! why hast thou never visited the great head of the State, the city of Philadelphia, during thy six years' administration? and why dost thou not now come down here to see, thou soi-disant commander-in-chief, the disorganized state

of thy militia? Thou goader of this war! thou Democratic feeble disorganizer! say what hath thy imbecility, thy guilty incompetency, to answer for? Is Philadelphia safe, I ask, even against four thousand men? I shall be answered by thee, "I know not," and perhaps, thou phlegmatic chief, thou wilt add, "I care not."

## DE WITT CLINTON.

February 17, 1828.—The newspapers announce the death of the governor of New York, De Witt Clinton. This gentleman is a public loss. He was a man of very enlarged views and a statesman of the boldest character, undertaking projects on public account that seemed to common minds infinitely beyond the means of the country; yet by his genius, enterprise and industry have they been accomplished. Thus, among other great works, the grand Erie and Northern canals will carry his name to posterity as a public benefactor. I knew Mr. Clinton personally. He was not strikingly prepossessing in his appearance, nor yet repulsive. Rather above the middle size, he was of a lusty shape, and I believe about sixty years of age.

In 1824 he was spoken of as a candidate for the Presidency. The other candidates were General Jackson, John Quincy Adams, Mr. Crawford, Mr. Clay, and Mr. Calhoun. I was in Congress that year, and dined with General Jackson at a large party of thirty-five persons. Amongst the guests were Adams, Clay and Calhoun, who were all placed on each side the general. Mr. Crawford's health did not admit of his being present. The dinner was lively and pleasant. The next day I

dined with Mr. Archer of Virginia, and met at his table Mr. Van Buren of New York, a member of the Senate. He was of the party the preceding day, and I said jocosely to him, "If De Witt Clinton had been seated yesterday alongside of his competitors, Mr. Crawford by a gunpowder plot in the cellar might have blown up all his opponents and had the coast clear to himself." "He might have cleared the coast without having De Witt Clinton there," said Van Buren, "for he has blown himself up long ago." Van Buren was then the political enemy of Clinton, and, confiding in the Senator's general knowledge of the parties in his own State, arising principally from his great talent for intrigue, I looked upon Clinton as an unpopular man. What, then, was my astonishment to see him elected governor of New York that same year by a majority of fifteen thousand! and how was that astonishment increased by learning last fall that Van Buren and Clinton had coalesced against Adams, and were quite cordial friends !- that is to say, as much so as political plotters can be.

## John Randolph.

May 22, 1833.—That notorious and eccentric man, John Randolph, is in Philadelphia. His hatred of the President knows no bounds—that President who sent him to Russia and connived at his drawing twenty-two thousand dollars from the public treasury for a ten days' embassy. Such indulgence on one part and such rapacity on the other are without example, and in many governments would have cost the actors their heads; but in our good-natured republic these

things are soon forgotten and forgiven. This troublesome caitiff, who has endeavored to vilify every honest man and embarrass every administration from the days of Washington to those of Jackson, has been elected to Congress lately-by a greatly-diminished majority, however-and is about embarking for Europe, with the hope of recovering his health. His namesake, who lately insulted the President, he caresses, and offers him the use of his house, carriages, etc.; and still further to torment the President, he is intriguing to get Virginia to vote for the rechartering of the Bank of the United States. On his arrival at Philadelphia he was put into a hack (for he cannot walk) and driven to the Bank of the United States. Mr. Biddle, the president, was requested to take a seat in the carriage, and the coachman directed to walk his horses along the streets, during which time he conversed with that gentleman on his new project-no doubt with the urgency and zeal of a new convert animated by spite. A man who can rob the public as John Randolph has done must be a miser as well as a knave; so we find him, as report goes, begging Mr. Biddle to stop at a shop to get the sticks of an umbrella covered with silk. "Do not mention that I am Randolph of Roanoke, for if you do I shall be charged double price." The carriage stopped, and the shopman was called to the door. "How much," asked Randolph with his squeaking, doubtful-gender voice, "will you cover this umbrella for?" "Three dollars, sir." "It is too much; I must go somewhere else;" and he directed the carriage to be driven across the street to another shop. "What do you ask for repairing this umbrella?" said he. "Three dollars and a quarter." "But the man opposite will do it for three dollars." "Very well, I will charge no more; when shall I send it? and the owner's name, if you please," "Randolph, Randolph," cried Johnny. Upon which Mr. Biddle added in his usual playful manner, "A name when spoken makes the earth grow pale;" to which Randolph good-humoredly added, "Yet he who bears it may not live to point a moral or adorn a tale." He is a mere shadow, and is lifted about like a helpless child. I wish the man may find his lost health in Europe, and find it necessary for its preservation to remain there. But he threatens to take his seat in Congress next winter, which he may well do, for he says himself that he has as many lives as a tom-cat; and this may be believed when it is known that he has been apparently on the verge of the grave these thirty-five vears.

### DANIEL WEBSTER.

March 24, 1827.—At Mrs. Cadwalader's this evening I met the celebrated statesman and orator, Daniel Webster. He is on his way to Boston from Washington. We had some conversation together. I found him in low spirits, principally, I presume from the tenure of his remarks, on account of some dismal political fore-bodings that haunt his mind respecting the next Presidential election. I asked him how Mr. Adams stood the Georgia squabble and British colonial dispute, and added that the Eighteenth Congress, in which I sat with Mr. Webster, was pacific, calm and courteous

compared with the last. "Yes," said he, "and yet all those Congressional bickerings are nothing; the Georgia and British commercial disputes will lead to no bad consequences; but what disturbs me most is to find Mr. Adams's friends in this city deserting him. Sir," continued he, "if General Jackson is elected, the government of our country will be overthrown; the judiciary will be destroyed; Mr. Justice Johnson will be made chief-justice in the room of Mr. Marshall, who must soon retire, and then in half an hour Mr. Justice Washington and Mr. Justice Story will resign. A majority will be left with Mr. Johnson, and every constitutional decision heretofore made will be reversed. The party is a profligate one," added Mr. Webster, "and unless they place their candidate in the chair of government, will become bankrupt, including even Jackson himself. I know," said he, "more than fifty members of Congress who have expended and pledged all they are worth in setting up presses and employing other means to forward Jackson's election."

I must own that I do not agree with Mr. Webster in all these sad prognostics. When the Federalists lost their power in 1801, it was then as loudly proclaimed, and our fears as greatly awakened with respect to the consequences, as they can be now; yet our successful rivals stepped into our shoes only to tread in the same paths that we had followed. Our navy has been cherished, public faith kept inviolate, the laws judiciously enacted and wisely administered; and such will again be the case. It will be a change of men, and not of measures. Public opinion is omnipotent, and the nation

is too enlightened to adopt any opinions hostile to its welfare.

## STEUBEN NOT LL.D.

July 29, 1827.—Judge Peters, who has been made a doctor of laws lately, told me that when La Fayette was in America during the Revolutionary War, some university in New England created him doctor of laws. Old Baron Steuben did not like this. He thought it derogatory to the military character to be dubbed a doctor. Shortly afterward the baron, at the head of a troop of dragoons, was obliged to pass through the town in which the university was that had elected La Fayette. He halted his troop at the entrance of the town, and addressed it thus: "You shall spur de horse vel and ride troo the town like de debbil, for if dey catch you dey make one doctor of you."

### AUDUBON.

November 16, 1839.—At the Academy of Natural Sciences to-day Dr. Morton introduced me to the justly-celebrated Audubon, so well known by his great work on ornithology. He is a man of fifty, with the countenance of a bird, having a projecting forehead, a sunken black eye, a parrot nose, and long protruding chin, combined with an expression bold and eagle-like. I asked him to bring to Philadelphia for public exhibition his original drawings. He observed that, having failed of success in showing them in New York, where he lost fifty-five dollars, he had not courage to encounter the expense of another display before the public.

"If I had," he continued, "an extraordinary fat hog

to show, and should place him in a large room on an elevated pedestal, with a comfortable bed of straw, I could draw thousands from far and neaf; but paintings, however beautiful or well done, will not attract enough people to cover the expense. In London I should be sure of constant visitors to my gallery, but not here." He spoke like a disappointed man, and did not seem to think that the great success of the panorama here, which I brought to his notice, was suited to change his opinion.

### ZERAH COLBURN.

March 8, 1811.—I saw to-day the greatest prodigy that this or any other country perhaps ever produced namely, the surprising calculator who has made so much noise in New England this winter. This child, now about seven years old, was born in Vermont, and is called Zerah Colburn.\* When I approached the table at which he stood beside his father, he was impatient for his dinner, and seemed wearied with the company about him. Nevertheless, he answered the questions sent to him as rapidly as if the figures had been placed before him. One gentleman told him that he was twenty-four years old, and asked how many hours he had lived. He answered off-hand, "You have lived so many days and so many hours." The gentleman, who held the calculation in his hand, found the reply correct. Another put a question requiring a fractional quotient; this he

<sup>\*</sup>The narrative of this phenomenon, A Memoir of Zerah Colburn, written by himself, is one of the most melancholy books imaginable. The process by which a singular gift was wasted and a life made miserable by a father's folly is most unconsciously disclosed in it.

gave directly. Many other questions were propounded. At length, getting tired, he was going off when a gentleman called upon him for the amount of 1925 multiplied by 99. He replied instantly and with impatience,\* 190,575. In fine, the child is the greatest phenomenon I ever beheld, and Philadelphia, that never saw the like before, is occupied exceedingly in endeavoring to analyze the system, if any, by which he accomplishes his successful calculations.

# Francis Jeffrey.

Fuly 6, 1814.—There is an anecdote in circulation respecting Jeffrey, the editor of the Edinburgh Review, which if true does not do much credit to our President. It is stated that when Jeffrey visited America last fall he was invited to Washington by Mr. Secretary Monroe, and that the President, who was in Virginia, came up to Washington on purpose to meet him. When he was introduced, the President and his minister entered upon politics with the Scotchman with all the formality and seriousness usual when addressing an authorized diplomatist. Mr. Jeffrey, who has made himself of some consequence in Great Britain by writing in opposition to his government, was looked up to as an influential and important man upon this occasion. The President presumed that, like many of the apostate British in America, he would join him in invectives against the English, but Jeffrey, with a confidence peculiar to him, interrupted the President at the threshold of his discourse, and

<sup>\*</sup> An impatience which is justified certainly when one considers how much easier the sum was than if 97 had been the multiplier.

exclaimed, "Gentlemen, stop. Before you go any farther be it known to you that I am a loyal Briton—that although I have sometimes disapproved of the measures of my government, yet in all that relates to their disputes with you I do assure you I consider it wholly and fully justifiable." The chief of the American nation, being thus put to rights by the forward reviewer, turned to his minister, who after a short pause undertook with his master to argue before this foreign coxcomb the merits of their case, to unbosom himself in the most entire manner, and even, it is added, to shed tears of entreaty that he would condescend to be their advocate.

The young puppy, who took delight in repeating and acting over this scene, turned a deaf ear to them, and gave them, instead of consolation or hope, the most undisguised expressions of scorn. This truly undignified interview comports with a few others I have been informed of, and is a shame upon the chief and the party that put him in office.

## CHAPTER II.

#### NOTES OF TRAVEL.

# A JOURNEY TO WASHINGTON.

September 27, 1800.—About ten o'clock I set off. agreeably to appointment, with my brother George in his tandem, accompanied by a groom, to Washington. We dined at Chester, which is the shire-town of the county of Delaware in Pennsylvania. This village seems rather to thrive than otherwise. We met a party of Quaker gentlemen at dinner who had been riding through the country, one of whom was a man nearly eighty-two years old, erect, hearty and cheerful. In the afternoon we passed through a pretty country. offering views of the river Delaware and some marks of good farming. We crossed the Brandywine on a bridge just building, suspended on iron chains upon the principle of the one lately constructed over the Falls of Schuylkill, and traversed Wilmington without stopping; yet we could perceive that this capital of the State of Delaware is in a flourishing condition, and may contain about two thousand souls. To the southward of the nain street we saw a handsome drawbridge upon piles over the Christiana Creek. We supped at Newport, a small village falling to decay. It once contained five taverns and seven stores, which are now reduced to two of each kind. The inhabitants hope something from a turnpike-road now progressing, to intersect the Lancaster turnpike above Downingtown.

September 28.—We breakfasted at Newport, and set off immediately after through a country but indifferently farmed, although the exteriors of some of the fields offer well-plashed hedges of the American thorn. These are getting into vogue, particularly in the county of Chester in Pennsylvania. I saw them with great delight, and shall set about making one as soon as I return home. Twelve miles from Newport we entered the State of Maryland, and stopped at Elktown, a place likewise at a stand. It is built at the head of Elk River, that empties into the Chesapeake Bay, and was in the Revolutionary War a scene of fighting and of trade. From this place to Charlestown the road lies through a wild tract of woodland kept for the supply of an ironfurnace, and offers a very uninteresting view for ten miles. We dined at Charlestown, which is a village wholly falling to ruins. The site on which its seven or eight straggling houses stand is nevertheless eligible for a town, and the expanded waters of the great bay below give the finest views that we have vet seen. About dark we passed the Susquehanna at Havre-de-Grace, where we found an excellent inn for the night.

September 29.—The ride this morning to the Bush was extremely pleasant through fields of corn and meadow-land, better cultivated than any we passed the

preceding day, and the road fine. We crossed Gunpowder Creek about seven miles from the Bush, and dined at the Red Lion, thirteen miles from Baltimore, to which city the road runs principally through a wood, and announces nothing less than the approach to a large capital. This neglected husbandry continues to the very entrance of the town, where the contrast becomes at once extremely striking; for Baltimore offers every mark of prosperity-new churches and bankinghouses, handsome private buildings, hackney and private carriages, handsome, well-stocked stores, and a numerous and busy population. We alighted at the Indian Oueen in Market street, kept by John Gadsby in a style exceeding anything that I recollect to have seen in Europe or America. This inn is so capacious that it accommodates two hundred lodgers, and has two splendid billiard-rooms, large stables and many other appendages. The numerous bed-chambers have all bells, and the servants are more attentive than in any public or private house I ever knew. The table is usually laid for thirty-six people. Another house, equally well conducted, though of less magnitude, is supported in Baltimore, besides several smaller inns. The population is forty-six thousand.

September 30.—My brother introduced me this morning to a Mr. John Hall, a young attorney, who politely piloted us to those places that were worthy of our notice. We first visited a public fountain in the heart of the town which has been expensively arranged by the corporation. The waters fall on a marble pavement laid at the bottom of a spacious brick well about ten feet deep.

This is descended by a handsome flight of stone stairs. A small distance from the fountain stands a new mill erected by the corporation, and worked by a stream neatly banked in with stone facing. This mill, which cost the city only twelve thousand dollars, rents, as Mr. Hall informed us, for seven thousand dollars. Not far from it stand the jail and penitentiary, two new and handsome buildings. From these we walked to a hill on which is erecting a truly magnificent church intended for a Roman Catholic cathedral. It has yet but one story completed, of hewn stone, in the form of a cross, which, however, gives some idea of the splendor of the whole when it is finished. Our next object, and to me the most interesting, was a seminary of learning under the direction of the Abbé Dubourg. This gentleman at the beginning of the French Revolution found himself driven from France, and an exile here with three or four monks and priests of his own nation. He associated himself with them for the purpose of instruction, and purchased the ground on which their school now stands, together with a large tract around it, for about four thousand three hundred dollars. The immense growth of Baltimore, which has more than doubled since that period (1793), has brought this property into the town and given a noble fortune to its proprietors. They have built a chapel, with twelve niches for the twelve apostles over the great door, which is extremely pretty. Mr. Hall introduced me to M. Dubourg, who politely requested one of the fraternity to see that I was shown about the college. The rules are much the same as those of the old royal and military schools of France.

modified, however, to suit the customs of our country. The number of ordained priests is thirteen, and many others who are candidates for the sacerdotal office reside within this seminary; among them is my old friend Captain Cooper,\* who formerly commanded an India ship out of Philadelphia. I was permitted to visit him, and his squalid countenance, dishevelled hair, sunken eye, all denoted a deranged intellect. He is newly converted from a merry gentleman of the world to a gloomy disciple of the Roman Catholic Church. Surrounded by theological folios, he began a conversation upon the faculties of the human mind and its aptitude to truth, alleging that its expansion was in the ratio of the magnitude of its object; having, then, eternity for its contemplation, it must be, in the sublime study of philosophy, immeasurably great. His behavior was complacent and humble; he received us with great cordiality, and politely followed us down stairs to the outer door. He has, I understand, endowed this seminary with his fortune, which is considerable.

October 1.—We left Baltimore this morning for Washington, and, dining on the road at fourteen miles only from our breakfasting stage, lay by till three o'clock, to avoid travelling in the heat, which was now more intense than in August. We passed the house of a

<sup>\*</sup> This gentleman was somewhat celebrated for the possession of a fine person and a set of remarkably fine teeth. He was unhappy in a love-affair, took off his boots, and walked in his stocking feet in front of the house of the cruel fair one—whether to mortify himself or her is not clearly known. This performance was insufficient, at any rate, to open a way into her heart, so he broke out his teeth and took orders.

planter by the name of Snowden, with whom I had been acquainted in Philadelphia, and meeting with one of his slaves, of which he has two hundred. I learnt that his master was at home, and determined to call upon him. He was, however, absent, but his mother and brother received us with great politeness, urging us to stop all night. This proprietor of two hundred laborers had the chairs in his best room in the most ragged condition, and the rest of the furniture equally slovenly; yet we were entertained with excellent madeira, brandy and peaches. He had given a barbecue to two hundred people the day before as an election feast-a vile and anti-republican custom still prevalent in this and the States to the southward. The road and country from Baltimore to the neighborhood of Bladensburg, where we lodged, is almost without exception lined with woods, and when the eye is relieved by the sight of a few fields it is to witness the most detestable husbandry. We saw tobacco growing and flowering this afternoon for the first time.

October 2.—About nine o'clock we came in sight of the two wings of the Capitol in Washington, and entering the Pennsylvania Avenue drove past the President's House to the Union Tavern in Georgetown. We were astonished at the false reports raised about this district. Instead of decay and languor, we saw activity and prosperity. The public buildings are magnificent, and the private dwellings vastly more numerous than was expected, built all of brick and erected with taste. Georgetown particularly is thriving very rapidly. Mr. Jackson and his family (a new minister plenipo. lately

arrived from England), Mr. Erskine (the recalled minister), and Mr. Wood, the British consul of Baltimore, were all lodged in this Union Inn.

In the afternoon we took a hack, of which there are one hundred and thirty licensed in Georgetown and Washington, and rode to the Capitol. The approach to this stupendous palace is through the Pennsylvania Avenue, that extends from the President's House a mile, planted with four rows of Lombardy poplars and excellently gravelled. We first visited the north wing, where the Senate room is now finishing; we could only see the entrance on account of the scaffolding; this is formed by eight pillars of black Pennsylvania marble, crowned with Italian sculptured capitals of the whitest Italian marble. The other parts of this north wing are elegantly planned and elegantly finished. The south wing contains the Representatives' room, which has been pronounced by many foreigners as inferior in taste, beauty and solidity to no hall in Europe. will be a long while before it is finished. The main body of the Capitol is not yet begun, but the plan announces something superior even to the wings.

From this edifice we drove to the marine barracks, the navy-yard, etc., both which buildings and appurtenances are arranged with elegance and convenience. The entrance to the navy-yard is through a spacious gateway of hewn stone, and immediately in front stands a monument of Sicilian marble executed in Italy, consisting of various emblematic figures, and raised by the officers who served on the expedition against Tripoli, to commemorate the feats of those who perished in the

attack upon that town. It is extremely beautiful. We left the navy-yard just about sunset, and rode round to Mr. Brent's, mayor of Washington, with whose family we took tea, and afterward accompanied them to an olio concert given at a small theatre lately built. The performances were but indifferent.

October 3.—I was received at the Presidential Mansion in the most affable manner by Mrs. Madison, whom I had had the honor of knowing in Philadelphia. She very politely permitted me to see the interior of the house, which is furnished in the most splendid manner. The taste of this lady has shown itself in the decoration of the grounds in front. Mr. Jackson, the new British ambassador, paid his first visit to the President whilst I was there; he was received in another room.

## JOURNEY TO BOSTON.

July 21, 1810.—This day I hired a hackney-coach and four horses of Robert Clarke, who owned them, and who called at Sweetbrier to take up Mrs. Breck, my daughter, her maid and myself on a journey to Boston. We left home at nine o'clock, and stopped at Spring Hill, where we dined. My mother, with her old house-keeper, Polly Hall, joined us, and we reached Trenton that night.

July 22.—We breakfasted at Follet's, dined at Brunswick, and slept at Elizabeth Town.

July 23.—We accidentally met with Mr. Sam Ogden and wife. He was extremely ill. Dined and put up at Mechanic Hall, New York, where our old friend, Dr. Eustis, the present Secretary of War, politely divided

his parlor with us. I took Mrs. Breck round New York, which I found surprisingly increased since 1797. The City Hall now building is truly magnificent, and the whole place prosperous and beautiful.

July 24.—We left New York at noon; slept at Rye. July 25.—Dined remarkably well at Stamford; supped and slept at Stratford.

 $\operatorname{\it July}$  26.—Dined eight miles beyond New Haven; slept at Berlin.

July 27.—Breakfasted at Hartford; passed the new bridge over Connecticut River; slept at Clarke's, on a new turnpike near Ashford.

 $\mathcal{J}uly$  28.—Dined at Thompson's, and slept at Merrian.

July 29.—Dined at Dedham. Called upon my uncle Andrews\* at Brookline, and arrived at Mrs. Lloyd's in Boston before sundown, without accident, and after one of the pleasantest rides imaginable. The roads are turnpiked all the way, and of seven ferries that a traveller was obliged formerly to pass, there remains now but that at Paulus Hook, which can never be bridged. The roads are not only extremely improved, but the distances are shortened thirty-six miles between Philadelphia and Boston. A stage runs from Hartford to Boston every day on the new road, 102½ miles, from 4 o'clock A. M. to 8 P. M.

July 30.—Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd received us most cordially. I reconnoitred the town, which I found surprisingly improved, particularly about Broad street and

<sup>\*</sup> John Andrews, whose letters, published in the *Proceedings* of the Massachusetts Historical Society, have already been noticed.

India Wharf, which displays the handsomest show of warehouses I ever beheld. We dined at Mr. Lloyd's, and rode out after dinner. I had not been in Boston since 1797, so that many new things presented themselves.

August 15.—Came to Sweetbrier, and found everything and everybody well, after an absence of twentysix days, on a delightful journey of six hundred miles going and returning, over excellent roads, and meeting with exceeding good inns, and not one accident excepting the lameness of one horse. The expense of this journey was about five hundred dollars.

## CHANCE TRAVELLING-COMPANIONS.

June 15, 1816.—Very early this morning we left our inn on the road to Baltimore (returning from a trip to Washington). About eight o'clock I met a gentleman. who begged me to stop at a planter's house by the name of Snowden, and to permit his mother to go to Baltimore in my carriage. As I was alone, I consented to receive the old lady, and accordingly turned into her gate. While she was getting ready I conversed with her son and daughter, and learned that the old lady and her sister had turned Quakers and liberated their slaves, the one to the number of sixty. The son still held ninety-six, who were kept busy planting tobacco. This Mr. Snowden plants this year six hundred thousand plants. An acre of good ground grows five thousand plants, which gives one hogshead of tobacco of one thousand pounds weight, worth about one hundred and seventy-six dollars. When we were about getting

into the carriage I found the good lady expected me to take her sister in along with her, and as she weighed about as much as herself, which could not be less than two hundred pounds, and would not be separated from her, I was obliged to drive off without either, with very little thanks for my good-will, which lost me about half an hour of pretty precious time.

# QUICK TRAVEL.

May 4, 1833.—As an instance of the rapid manner in which travellers get along, I may instance Mrs. Lloyd's trip to Richmond in Virginia. She left Philadelphia at six o'clock A.M.; went by the Newcastle railroad to the Chesapeake; crossed the bay to the point within twelve miles of Baltimore where the Norfolk steamer took her on board; went down the bay, and met the Richmond boat opposite Norfolk; went up James River, and arrived in the evening of the second day from Philadelphia at the city of Richmond, thus traversing without fatigue a distance of five hundred miles in a little more than thirty-six hours!

Undoubtedly, a traveller will be able to go from Baltimore to New York by the light of a summer's sun when the locomotives shall be placed on the Amboy railroad. An invitation to a three-o'clock dinner in New York or Philadelphia may now be complied with by the individual who takes his breakfast in either of these cities; and with the *loco*, when established, he may start from one city in the morning and return again in the evening from a visit to the other. It is the total

absence of fatigue and certainty of excellent entertainment that makes all this delightful.

#### THE OTHER SIDE.

Fuly 22, 1835.—This morning at nine o'clock I took passage in a railroad car (from Boston) for Providence. Five or six other cars were attached to the loco, and uglier boxes I do not wish to travel in. They were huge carriages made to stow away some thirty human beings, who sit cheek by jowl as best they can. Two poor fellows, who were not much in the habit of making their toilet, squeezed me into a corner, while the hot sun drew from their garments a villainous compound of smells made up of salt fish, tar and molasses. By and by, just twelve-only twelve-bouncing factory-girls were introduced, who were going on a party of pleasure to Newport. "Make room for the ladies!" bawled out the superintendent. "Come, gentlemen, jump up on the top; plenty of room there." "I'm afraid of the bridge knocking my brains out," said a passenger. Some made one excuse and some another. For my part, I flatly told him that since I had belonged to the corps of Silver Grays I had lost my gallantry, and did not intend to move. The whole twelve were, however, introduced, and soon made themselves at home, sucking lemons and eating green apples. There is certainly a growing neglect of manners and insubordination to the laws, a democratic familiarity and a tendency to level all distinctions. The rich and the poor, the educated and the ignorant, the polite and the vulgar, all herd together in this modern improvement in travelling. The consequence is a complete amalgamation. Master and servant sleep heads and points on the cabin floor of the steamer, feed at the same table, sit in each other's laps, as it were, in the cars; and all this for the sake of doing very uncomfortably in two days what would be done delightfully in eight or ten. Shall we be much longer kept by this toilsome fashion of hurrying, hurrying, from starting (those who can afford it) on a journey with our own horses, and moving slowly, surely and profitably through the country, with the power of enjoying its beauty and be the means of creating good inns. Undoubtedly, a line of post-horses and post-chaises would long ago have been established along our great roads had not steam monopolized everything. Steam, so useful in many respects, interferes with the comfort of travelling, destroys every salutary distinction in society, and overturns by its whirligig power the once rational, gentlemanly and safe mode of getting along on a journey. Talk of ladies on board a steamboat or in a railroad car! There are none. I never feel like a gentleman there, and I cannot perceive a semblance of gentility in any one who makes part of the travelling mob. When I see women who in their drawing-rooms or elsewhere I have been accustomed to respect and treat with every suitable deference—when I see them, I say, elbowing their way through a crowd of dirty emigrants or low-bred, homespun fellows in petticoats or breeches in our country, in order to reach a table spread for a hundred or more, I lose sight of their pretensions to gentility and view them as belonging to the plebeian herd. To restore herself to her caste, let a lady move in select

company at five miles an hour, and take her meals in comfort at a good inn, where she may dine decently.

December 31, 1839.—The modern fashion in all things is "to go ahead," push on, keep moving, and the faster the better—never mind comfort or security or pleasure. Dash away, and annihilate space by springing at a single jump, as it were, from town to town, whether you have pressing business or not.

"How do you mean to travel?" asks Neighbor John. "By railroad, to be sure, which is the only way of travelling now; and if one could stop when one wanted, and if one were not locked up in a box with fifty or sixty tobacco-chewers; and the engine and fire did not burn holes in one's clothes; and the springs and hinges didn't make such a racket; and the smell of the smoke. of the oil and of the chimney did not poison one; and if one could see the country, and were not in danger of being blown sky high or knocked off the rails,-it would be the perfection of travelling." After all, the old-fashioned way of five or six miles an hour, with one's own horses and carriage, with liberty to dine decently in a decent inn and be master of one's movements, with the delight of seeing the country and getting along rationally, is the mode to which I cling, and which will be adopted again by the generations of after times.\*

## PRAISE OF BOSTON.

July 16, 1835.—I spent an hour or two with my kinsman, James Andrews, and his large and amiable

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Breck nevertheless would hardly have regarded the fashionable coaching club of this day as answering to his prophecy.

family. His wife is a lineal descendant of the first Governor Winthrop, whose portrait I saw there, copied from a Vandyke (as reported, but I think doubtful), and dressed in the costume of the Elizabethan age. An island in the harbor, not more than a mile from Boston, was given to Winthrop, and has descended to this lady, who now owns it. North of this island stands another, which is being built upon, and contains a fine spacious sugar-house, a superb hotel and several dwelling-houses, and is fast rising to a town by the name of East Boston. Maverick, the first proprietor of this soil, has given name to the omnibuses that ply between the town and it. Toward Chelsea a new suburb of Boston is rising.

All this is very well, and shows the thrift of the place. But it must all be praised over and over again with every one you meet. Should anything be criticised, it is vindicated with warmth, and comparisons with other cities, when they are thought worthy of notice, are disparaging, or introduced as a foil to the superior grandeur of Boston, which stands pre-eminent and eclipses all her sister cities. Poor Philadelphia, I must think if influenced by what I hear at New York, Boston and from travellers on the intermediate roads, is some obscure village, scarcely fitted to be brought forward in the eternal clack everywhere heard about "improvement," "crescents," "Tremont House," etc. But these little local vanities exist everywhere. To be sure, the grand display which America already makes in canal, railroad and steamboat travelling may we'll justify us in all our bragging and harping upon it. I am now three hundred and forty miles from my house,

yet by the common line of conveyance I may leave Boston at nine o'clock, the sun four hours high, and dine at home at my usual hour, half-past two, the next day!!! This, I own, surprises me more than all the improvements in brick and mortar.\*

\* The change in modes of travelling introduced by the railway must have caused more honest astonishment than the mere improvement upon the imperfect system in operation in 1835. To-day Mr. Breck might have breakfasted in Boston and supped in Philadelphia.

## CHAPTER III.

### PERSONAL AND SOCIETY GOSSIP.

## LIFE AT SWEETBRIER.

Fanuary 22, 1808.—In the afternoon I rode over to the Grange. Mrs. R- and her daughter live a solitary life in that sequestered spot, and, destitute of servants as they have been through the winter, their time is irksome and gloomy in the extreme. The old lady. possessed as she is of many excellent qualities, cannot forget the ease and elegance of her better days, and supposes herself singled out by Fortune as a mark for all its adverse shafts. And amidst the increasing vicissitudes of life, particularly in these present times, is it nothing to have passed through fifty-five years without encountering any heavy calamity? Is it nothing to find one's self possessed of a home, of health, of affectionate children and many friends at a moment when kings are stript of their dominions, bleed on the scaffold. and their families and adherents are reduced to beggary. escaping from the cold protection of one prince to receive the charity of his neighbor? Are not these and a thousand evils incident to life, but which have never reached her bosom, sources from which comfort and gratitude should be drawn? and should they not silence

the sighs which are heaved for a few privations, of no essential help to the happiness of a reflecting mind?

For my own share, I confess that I draw from this comparison a fund of contentment which my situation abstractedly would not seem susceptible of; and in fact, what is my position? Reared by the most indulgent of parents, surrounded by every comfort and luxury which America could afford, moving in a vortex of gay and fashionable company, I found myself at twenty-six years of age sequestered from them all and confined to a sober, solitary country life; my fortune, once competent and easy, reduced to the standard of a decent subsistence; bereft of the means of receiving my friends, and childless until now: placed alone with Mrs. Breck to exercise our philosophy and learn to laugh at that world which we could not enjoy. Thus have I spent the last ten years, and I can with truth declare that amidst the clouds which have often darkened my hermitage, they have been filled with that measure of happiness which it is proper for us to taste.

## A LONG-LIVED FAMILY.

July 3, 1817.—On the 4th of June, 1815, Mr. Samuel Howard and Mr. Edward Cruft, two of my kinsmen, dined with me, and in course of conversation we mentioned the ages of my paternal relations now living. If I recollect right, my father's sisters are now of the following ages: Mrs. Nichols, ninety-four; Mrs. Harris, eighty-five; Mrs. Cruft, seventy-five; and his two brothers now living, William Breck, seventy-eight, Daniel Breck, seventy. I may add that my mother

will be seventy in November next, and her only living brother, John Andrews, is now about seventy-six.\*

## A DINER-OUT WAYLAID.

April 29, 1828.—Last evening was one of the finest that could be, and having made our house ready for a general fête, our guests assembled between eight and nine o'clock. Most of the genteel strangers in town were invited, among them Mr. and Mrs. Cornwall from Ouebec, and Mr. and Mrs. Ouseley, Mrs. Amory and her daughter, Mrs. Apthorp and daughter, Mr. Sullivan and daughter, Mr. and Mrs. D-, and Mr. and Mrs. Upham. Cornwall and Ouseley are Englishmen-the latter attached to the British legation, the former an officer in the customs at Ouebec; all the rest of the strangers are from Boston, and not one of them came except Mr. D---. This gentleman came out in Mr. Thomas M. Willing's carriage, and threw for a few moments a damp on the spirits of the company. It seems that when within a quarter of a mile of my gate the carriage was stopped by six men, who with pistols and dirks robbed them of their watches and money. Mr. Willing resisted, but after being dragged out of the carriage and overpowered, he surrendered all they chose to take. When the highwaymen had obtained their booty they directed Willing to jump into the carriage and drive on. Mr. D-, who

\* Mr. Breck's father died at the age of sixty-two, his mother in her eighty-third year; Mrs. Cruft died at eighty-five, William Breck at eighty, and Daniel Breck at ninety-seven; Mr. John Andrews died in his eighty-first year, and Mr. Breck himself, as before noted, in his ninety-second. Mrs. Breck's mother died at the age of eighty-four, and she herself lived to the same age.

had a diamond pin that cost five hundred dollars, and of which he was very proud, contrived in the scuffle to throw it under his feet while the thieves were seizing his watch, which he had smuggled from his fob to the back cushion. These two gentlemen, penniless and un-watched, came to Sweetbrier about ten o'clock in a state of great perturbation, particularly D-; he related his story with quivering lips and pallid face. His adventure was repeated to every one, while I sat down to write, at his request, a circumstantial account of it to the mayor of the city, and urge him, for the honor of the police, to take immediate steps for the recovery of the property of Mr. Willing and the distinguished stranger his companion. Thus things stood for a few moments, when dancing and cards were resumed and every thought of the business was soon forgotten. There were misgivings among some of the company respecting the reality of the robbery. It was believed by them to be a joke (or hoax, as the new-fangled term is) got up to tease D-; and the event proved that they were right; for to-day I have a letter from the mayor in answer to mine, of which the following is a copy:

" MAYOR'S OFFICE, Philadelphia, April 29, 1828.

DEAR SIR: Your letter of last evening was handed me by Mr. D——. I very much regret that the outrage therein detailed should have taken place—more particularly so as the comfort and pleasure of your guests have been interrupted and serious consequences might have resulted therefrom. I instituted immediate means to ferret out the matter, but became at once con-

vinced that it was a most unjustifiable and disgraceful hoax. The gentlemen's watches were returned to them, having been left at their respective lodgings this morning.

"I am, etc.,

"JOSEPH WATSON, Mayor."

I felt sorry for this boyish frolic, which no doubt was carried on by some of the young men of our party, and it would not be difficult to name them; but this I shall refrain from doing, because I think they have been unmindful of the respect due to Mrs. D——, and perhaps to my family, in the affront put upon her husband and my guest, and are deserving of the harsh epithets bestowed by me on their conduct in my letter to Mr. D——, in which I tell him that there is but one voice in the community, of sorrow for the offence and contempt for the offenders.

## An Eccentric Englishman.

December 3, 1829.—On the 19th of last month there arrived at Miss Lynn's boarding-house, where I was spending a night, one of those eccentric characters in which Old England abounds. His name is Smith, and he is the son of a British member of Parliament. He travels with his wife and two small children, eight servants, eight dogs, an English carriage and I know not how many horses. Miss Lynn told us at breakfast that she inquired of one of the female servants whether Mrs. Smith took tea or coffee for her breakfast. "Indeed, ma'am, I don't know; I wait upon the little girl." A few moments after she met another Abigail. "Pray,

can you tell me," asked Miss Lynn, "whether Mrs. Smith breakfasts on tea or coffee?" "No, ma'am, I cannot, for I wait on the little boy." "How, then, am I to know?" "I'll try to find out," said the maid, "for I will ask the nurse, and she will send you Mrs. Smith's own woman." Miss Lynn waited for the lady's lady, who told her that Mrs. Smith took tea for her breakfast, but none of the eight servants attended personally upon their master and mistress; all the eatables and drinkables were taken to them by Miss Lynn's own servants. These eight idlers were English, and had accompanied Mr. Smith from England last spring. They travelled with him, apparently doing nothing but stand in the way and swell the expense. This gentleman spent two months in field-sports at Bristol, as many more at Niagara, and is on his way to Washington and the Southern and Western States.

# MRS. HARRISON GRAY OTIS.

April 12, 1832.—I found Mrs. Lloyd preparing for the reception of our niece, husband and child from New York. They will be accompanied by Miss Aspinwall. Some of our Eastern cousins of great respectability (Mr. and Mrs. Shaw) came to Mrs. Lloyd's while I was there, but not knowing who they were until after their departure, I had not the pleasure to see them. They were accompanied by Mrs. Otis, a daughter-in-law of Harrison Gray Otis of Boston, and daughter of a Mr. Boardman. This lady, a widow and mother of five children, and already of a certain age, has been displaying and

flirting during the winter in Philadelphia and Washington, giving the tone and assuming the lead. At Mrs. Lloyd's she found fault with the rooms; they were too small; she must have spacious parlors; her friends in Boston told her she must go home and build, and when she does, broad and lofty rooms will gratify her vanity. This lady-traveller inherited about one hundred and fifty thousand dollars from her father, and is, for the rest, a light-hearted woman, not destitute of wit and smartness, and has been much attended to by the fashionable circles of our city. She is a little of a virago too. It is said that in Boston she frequently visited on foot in the evening, always trusting to an Irish servant for protection on her return home, and of course declining the escort of those beaux who offered their services. Some of these were miffed at the refusal, and one evening waylaid her and her Irish squire, in order to frighten them. She, seeing a man approach saucily, turned to the servant. "John," said she, "knock that man down;" upon which John knocked him down. This rough hint left her ever after unmolested.

## DINING IN THE COUNTRY.

July 3, 1832.—I dined to-day with Miss Ross. She expected company, but no one came except myself. The trouble of preparing a good dinner in the country, and the vexation of sitting down to it at a table without guests, are rarely considered by our city friends. I have several times got up a dinner of twelve to fourteen or eighteen covers, and not half the company, and some-

times not a single person, came: a shower or dust or heat is the apology. My neighbor, Mrs. Lehman, who is eccentric, expected a party to dinner, and when the hour had passed at which her guests were to come, seeing they did not arrive, she despatched a servant three miles to town with a written notice that the dinner was cooked, but would not be dished and served until her company came to partake of it. This notice found her city friends at their own tables, and put them all in active preparation to comply honestly with their engagements. In a couple of hours they reached Mrs. Lehman's gate, where they were received with a hearty laugh, and finished the day in a right merry humor.

#### MISS KEAN.

December 26, 1832.—Duncan told us a story of Miss Kean to-day. That distinguished woman is in the habit of filling up her box when she goes to the theatre by sending cards of invitation to her friends, who, however, are expected to pay for the seats. She had once or twice invited Bernard Carter, who went without paying, supposing the box to belong to Miss Kean. But Sally, who liked his company, but did not like to lose her money, enclosed him a ticket and requested him to come to the play and bring the representative of His Catholic Majesty with him. Carter, unable to understand the note, as there was no representative of Spain residing in Philadelphia, went to the house of Joseph R. Ingersoll, who resided in the neighborhood, to find out what it meant, when that gentleman told him that it was a Spanish dollar he was to take with him.

#### WISTAR PARTIES.

Fanuary 11, 1835.—The late Doctor Caspar Wistar, who was my father's family physician, and a professor in the university of pre-eminent distinction, exercised his hospitality by having once a week reunions or soirées (as the modern term is for evening-parties) at his house, at which all strangers suited for genteel company were invited. At the death of the doctor similar parties continued to be given by several of his friends and admirers under the name of "Wistar Parties," until at length it became a generic term for evening associations of gentlemen. My friend Mr. Meredith sent me a card for last evening, beautifully engraved and styled "Wistar Party," in the centre of which was a portrait of the doctor, and a pretty good likeness. He was an amiable man, fond of belles-lettres literature, and well versed in the sciences, particularly botany, and ranked at the very head of operative surgeons, of which branch he stood nearly first in the United States. So completely was his mind abstracted from everything else when engaged in a difficult surgical operation that nothing for a moment could divert his attention or any way disturb him. I remember his speaking of an amputation he performed upon a boy twelve years old. I asked him if the boy screamed much. "I am told so," said he, "but I did not hear him."

# A WALKING CLUB.

October 13, 1837.—I was elected a member of a walking club the other day, consisting of George Rundle, Thomas H. White, Jacob S. Waln, Condy Raguet, John

M. McPherson, John C. Smith, Jacob R. Smith, Colin Campbell, John R. Coates, Francis R. Wharton, Thomas J. Wharton, Fishbourn Wharton, Samuel Breck. Most of these are old codgers, who, to use the French phrase, se promenent en voiture—that is to say, take their walks in a carriage. The whole feat required by the rules of the club is no great thing, being a walk of two miles or so, twice a year, to some tavern, where, after a good dinner, the return to town is made on foot. Even this small affair is evaded by nearly one-half the members, who take carriages out and home.

#### CAPTAIN MARRYAT.

September 30, 1837.—We have had here this week the celebrated novelist Captain Frederick Marryat of the British navy. I introduced his father to Charlotte his mother.\* They were married in about a month after the introduction. With Captain Marryat I have exchanged visits, and have written to him, offering my civilities in any way.

October 16.—I accompanied Captain Marryat round the town and neighborhood. He said Girard College promised to be as fine an edifice as he ever saw, and appeared delighted with the waterworks, which are indeed worthy of all praise. He appears to me a frank, plain-spoken man, with some few erroneous (not many) notions, so commonly adopted by Englishmen. In his conversation there is nothing brilliant—not the slightest indication of the fecundity of fancy so copiously set forth in his works. There is in him no ambition

<sup>\*</sup> See ante, p. 95.

to shine. He observes with a quick eye everything around him, and speaks his thoughts upon what he sees with an off-hand, seaman-like positiveness.

I asked him which of his novels he preferred. He said he had no better opinion of one than of another. "Well," said I, "my favorite is *Japhet in Search of his Father*, and the one I like least is *Snarleyow, or, The Dog Fiend;* and my reason is that I do not like a dog for a hero." "Oh," said he, "that arose out of a bet. When at table one day with some friends, one of them remarked that the principal person of a romance ought to be handsome, young, accomplished, etc. 'Not at all,' said I; 'you may make the hero out of anything—out of that puppy in the room." This astonished them, and he was offered a bet that he could not do it. He accepted it, and wrote the above-named novel.

February 14, 1838.—Mr. Vaughan, the librarian of the Philosophical Society, and now in his eighty-third year, did me the favor to invite me to meet Captain Marryat at his chambers. He was desirous of showing that English officer the library and other matters belonging to that institution and now under his care. I did not get there until an hour after the time appointed, because Mr. Vaughan told me, when inviting me, that he baited his hook differently for different fish, and having heard that Marryat was fond of wine, he intended to give him a bottle. I found assembled Clement C. Biddle, Condy Raguet and Henry C. Carey. When I entered Captain Marryat was holding forth with the confidence of a man accustomed to act the cock of the party. I had already made his acquaint-

ance. Mr. Carey cut in rather too frequently, and talked more than his share. This I was sorry for, because I wished to hear the sailor-captain, who, let me say *en passant*, plied the bottle like a true son of Neptune, though not to intoxication. After telling us some stories which Raguet hinted to him came from Munchausen, he was asked by Mr. Vaughan to write his name in his album. While he was doing so I told him that I had lately found a letter from his father to me.

"Oh," said he, "my father wrote a kind of shorthand that enabled him to put upon a couple of cards as much as would fill three folio pages when written out; and as he was a member of Parliament for many years, he *made* the *Times* newspaper by taking notes in shorthand during the secret sessions that were held on the trial of Queen Caroline, and giving them to that journal to be reported to the public."

"But," said I, "was not that a breach of trust, a betraying of the secrets of Parliament?"

"What the devil did he care for that?" cried the captain.

"Very well," said Mr. Biddle, "this is a fine doctrine for a British Tory! but what would you say if one of us republicans should do as your father did?" This poser was laughed off, and the conversation changed to the relative temperance of the English and Americans, when this John Bull captain pronounced us a drunken people. "And as to religion," said he, "you fear man more than God; you go to church because public opinion makes it necessary, but as all of you are think-

ing of nothing but dollars and cents during week-days, you must have your heads full of Mammon on Sundays at church."

"But," said I, "will not this apply more to your countrymen than to ours, for the plain reason of the greater difficulty of getting a livelihood in England (excepting for the higher classes) than among us, where of course less anxiety exists in proportion to the superior facility we possess of providing for ourselves and families?"

"That makes no odds," said he. "The English are a moral people—perhaps more so than religious—and you here possess our virtues in a degree, and our vices aggravated by the disadvantage of your climate." Our amiable and venerable host, being rather deaf, took part very little in the conversation; and while Marryat was putting at least a bottle of Mr. Vaughan's excellent sherry under his jacket, drinking on when the others had ceased, he paid no attention to him until at length we began to move, when Mr. Vaughan, taking a candle, led the way to a side room in which are deposited a fine collection of minerals and a most curious cabinet of Mexican antiquities, presented to the society by Mr. Poinsett, who was American minister to that republic several years.

"Why, what are you going to do?" asked Marryat with impatience.

"Why," said Vaughan, "I wish you to look at the things in this room;" and as he spoke he opened the door. I alone went in with the captain, and I own I was disgusted at the rudeness of this rough sailor.

When Mr. Vaughan told him what the cases contained, "I see, I see," cried he; "what will you give me to arrange them for you?" "Sir," said the good and respectable old gentleman, "the sight of these rare antiquities may gratify you if you will look at them by daylight." "No doubt, no doubt," said he, turning on his heel and walking out of the room. "Very curious, I suppose, when you take them out of their paper covers; but we must go now." And here, at the top of the stairs, Mr. Raguet and I left him. On our way home we concluded that it was not worth while to court the friendship or waste time in showing attention to strangers from Europe, who, even when endowed with the faculty of observation, are, in their passage through the United States, almost to a man, if English, a parcel of offensive smellfunguses, too prejudiced to see clearly, too supercilious to acknowledge the good they see, and too disgustingly insolent in telling us of what they do not like. Captain Marryat informed us that his opinion of us should be registered in his book about us.\*

## Dallas and his Snuff-Box.

August 19, 1838.—George M. Dallas, a hot-headed politician who sacrificed consistency and country to party, as was shown in his dastardly conduct on the United States Bank question, is now minister to St. Petersburg. Before he sailed his cronies gave him a

<sup>\*</sup> Captain Marryat certainly kept his word, and the reader curious in such matters will find his reflections upon the museums of Philadelphia on p. 29 of vol. I. of A Diary in America, with Remarks on its Institutions.

294

dinner. During the repast a barrister named Brewster proposed to the company to present their guest with a gold snuff-box. There seemed some hesitation about it, which amounted to a refusal. Upon this Brewster drew from his waistcoat pocket a gold box and addressed the company thus: "I hold in my hand, gentlemen, the token of friendship designed for Mr. Dallas. Here it is of pure gold, with a suitable inscription, and here is the bill of cost, amounting to seventy-five cents a piece for this company; and let me see which of you dare be mean enough to slink from this contribution!" This Brewster is a rough, plain-spoken man, possessed of more Democratic brass than polished education; for, although a lawyer in pretty extensive business, his pleadings are in the language neither of good society nor of good grammar.

## CHAPTER IV.

#### MANNERS AND CHANGES.

## Coal-Fires in Pennsylvania.

December 9, 1807.—This morning I rode to Philadelphia and purchased a newly-invented iron grate calculated for coal, in which I mean to use that fuel if it answers my expectations. Wood is enormously dear, and my farm does not afford me any.

December 26.—By my experiment on coal fuel I find that one fireplace will burn from three to three and a half bushels per week in hard weather, and about two and a half in moderate weather. This averages three bushels for twenty-five weeks, the period of burning fires in parlors. Three times twenty-five gives seventy-five bushels for a single hearth, which at forty-five cents is thirty-three dollars and seventy-five cents—more than equal to six cords of oak wood at five dollars and fifty cents, and is by consequence no economy; but at thirty-three cents per bushel, which is the usual summer price, it will do very well.

## EXPERIENCE WITH SERVANTS.

December 22, 1807.—I wrote a note to Mr. Vaughan, who has heretofore been in the habit of dining on Christmas Day with Mrs. Ross, requesting him not to go this year, as that lady could not receive him for want of ser-

vants. This is a crying evil, which most families feel very sensibly at present. The vast quantity of uncultivated lands, the general prosperity and unexampled increase of our cities, unite to scatter the menial citizens and to make it extremely difficult to be suited with decent servants. I have in the course of ten or twelve years' housekeeping had a strange variety, amongst which I have heard of one being hung, of one that hung himself, of one that died drunk in the road, and of another that swallowed poison in a fit of intoxication. Those that form my present household have lived with me from one to three years, and are pretty tolerable.

April 23, 1810.—A little girl named Kitty Brown was brought to Mrs. Breck to attend our little daughter Lucy. In conversing upon terms the mother gave an instance of the extreme pride of the common people of this country. Her husband is a drunken fellow, and her dwelling the veriest hovel in the country; yet she rose with anger to declare that she did not mean to force her child upon us, although she afterward confessed little Kitty had but one shift, one petticoat, and no shoes or stockings. This proud dame was taking away her child from good quarters, three shillings a week, and not yet eleven years old! So badly off are we for servants, however, that I became the solicitor.

August 1, 1817.—Being a long time dissatisfied with some of my servants, I went on board the ship John from Amsterdam, lately arrived with four hundred passengers, to see if I could find one for Mrs. Ross and two for myself. I saw the remains of a very fine cargo, consisting of healthy, good-looking men, women and

children, and I purchased one German Swiss for Mrs. Ross and two French Swiss for myself. My two servants came from Lausanne in Switzerland, and, having descended the Rhine in April, are at length landed in this happy, free and fine country. I gave for the woman seventy-six dollars, which is her passage-money, with a promise of twenty dollars at the end of three years if she serves me faithfully; clothing and maintenance of course. The boy had paid twenty-six guilders toward his passage-money, which I have agreed to give him at the end of three years; in addition to which I paid fifty-three dollars and sixty cents for his passage, and for two years he is to have six weeks' schooling each year. Whether they will be worth anything is a lottery, for the choice of strangers in this way is truly a leap in the dark.

August 23.—I visited three of the passenger-ships again this morning, and brought away from one of them the girl I engaged a few days ago for Mrs. Ross, with whom I left her. Some tears were shed between her and her young friends at parting. Since I am upon the subject of these poor emigrants, I will mention a story related to me to-day, for the truth of which I will not youch until I hear it confirmed at the office where it is said to have taken place.

I was told that a gentleman of fortune went on board one of these ships to purchase the time of a girl. He was shown one, and afterward her father was pointed out to him. On conversing with the old man the purchaser was strongly pressed to take him along with the girl, which the gentleman agreed to do. "Well, now,"

said the old man, "here is my old wife; take her likewise." There was something attractive in their countenances, and he consented to buy both the old people. They went together to the register's office, and when they gave in their names the gentleman was astonished to find them spelt and pronounced like his own. Some inquiries followed, and it ended in a discovery that the old redemptioners were the father and mother of the rich purchaser. They recollected that a son of theirs about six years old was taken to America by a gentleman of fortune, but they never dreamed of seeing him in so high a station of life; nay, they had nearly forgotten him. They, however, recollected the mark of a cucumber on one of his shoulders, and the story goes that the newly-found son was stripped in the office and the mark exhibited to the delighted parents.

August 16, 1820.—Mrs. Breck discharged a servant-girl to-day for fibbing and mischief-making. She has been nearly three years in my family, and has contrived, artfully enough, to quarrel with and occasion the dismissal of four or five of her fellow-servants. But what makes me take any notice of this woman is that she, like many others who have served in my house these last twenty-five years, came to us almost naked, and must have seen hard times without profiting by the lessons of adversity; for no sooner was she entitled to receive a few dollars than she squandered them in finery instead of buying necessaries. In this manner she has gone on until this day, bedecking herself in merino shawls, chip bonnets, etc., without laying up fifteen dollars, although she has received from one

dollar and a half to one dollar and a quarter wages per week. Mrs. Breck informs me that when she took up about eleven dollars which were due to her in June last, she told her that she was bare of necessary clothing; yet with this modicum for her all, she went to town and bought some satin to trim her bonnet in the style of that of a young lady who was on a visit to me; a gilt clasp that must have cost three dollars, a parasol that came to perhaps four more, a set of tortoise-shell combs, and some other trash; so that she brought home of real necessaries nothing but one poor shift! If this girl gets out of a place or becomes sick, she will not have enough to support herself one month. This is a faithful picture of the wasteful and disgraceful extravagance of nine-tenths of the servants, male and female, for the last thirty years,

April 19, 1822.—In these United States nothing would be wanting to make life perfectly happy (humanly speaking) had we good servants. But so easy is a livelihood obtained that fickleness, drunkenness, and not infrequently insolence, mark the character of our domestics. In my family, consisting of nine or ten persons, the greatest abundance is provided; commonly seventy pounds of fresh butcher's meat, poultry and fish a week, and when I have company nearly twice as much; the best and kindest treatment is given to the servants; they are seldom visited by Mrs. Breck, and then always in a spirit of courtesy; their wages are the highest going, and uniformly paid to them when asked for; yet during the last twelve months we have had seven different cooks and five different waiters. One leaves me because

there is not enough to do, another because there is too much; a third quarrels with a fourth; a fifth gets drunk and absents herself for a week; in short, they are the most provoking compounds of folly, turpitude, ingratitude and idleness that can possibly be conceived by any one who has not lived in America. With the wages which they receive they can, if prudent and constant, lay up money enough in two or three years to buy a handsome tract of new land. I pay, for instance, to my cook one dollar and fifty cents, and chambermaid one dollar and twenty-five cents per week; to my gardener eleven dollars per month; to the waiter ten dollars; to the farm-servant ten dollars, etc. etc. Now, if they remain steady (with meat three times a day) for three or four years, they can lay by enough to purchase two or three hundred acres of new land, for their clothing does not (or at least ought not) cost them above twenty dollars per annum, so cheap are cottons of our own manufacture and of the manufacture of Great Britain. be noted that flour is only about seven dollars per barrel of one hundred and ninety-six pounds, and has been, for the last two years, down to four and four dollars and fifty cents, so that the foregoing wages, compared with the price of these articles of first necessity, are very high.

## LABOR AND WAGES.

Fanuary 20, 1808.—I called at the house of a mason who lived in this neighborhood last year to hire himself and his two boys to assist in filling my ice-house. This man I found unemployed, sitting idle and in full dress,

yet he would not consent to work for me these short days for less than a dollar per day for himself and hands, to be found also in board, whiskey and lodging—a strong proof of the extravagance of our laboring classes. I turned from him in disgust.

November 2, 1814.—I have, in conjunction with three or four gentlemen of the township, assumed the trouble of collecting and distributing a small charity appropriated by the donors to the support or relief of the wives and connexions of the militia of Blockley, now in camp. The other day I was called to assist a woman, the wife of a soldier, who had lately been brought to bed. She was represented to me as totally destitute and quite an object for alms. I visited her, and instead of this extreme distress found her in every respect comfortable, with all the necessary provisions for herself and nurse, the latter of whom handed me a glass of wine. This is a picture of the poor of this country. If they do not get sugar, coffee, tea and many other luxuries, they think themselves reduced to the utmost distress. So in wages: the earnings of house-servants are paid at such high rates that the women clothe themselves as expensively as their mistresses, and when the enormous rise in all articles of first necessity compels housekeepers to reduce their wages, these thoughtless, vain and improvident creatures cry out that their clothing augments in price with everything else, and refuse to hire at diminished wages.

## THRIFTY BLACKS.

December 11, 1807.—Walking along the wharves with my father, we saw a very fine ship of about 250 tons

burden under weigh for sea: on inquiring the owner's name, we were informed that she belonged to a black merchant, and that she was navigated by a black captain, officers and crew. The merchant is called Captain Cuffy. It was a novel sight, and greatly excited our surprise.

September 22, 1822.—When in town the other day I met with rather a singular circumstance, considering the abject state in which the blacks are held in these United States. A negro man named Forten accosted me in the street by offering his hand to me, which (knowing his respectability) I accepted, when he told me that at my late election to Congress he had taken fifteen white men to vote for me. "In my sail-loft," said he (for he is a sailmaker), "I have thirty persons at work, and among them are twenty-two journeymen, fifteen of whom are white, the rest colored. All the white men went to the polls and voted for you." It is very uncommon in America to see colored men, as they are called, conducting business upon a large scale, and, notwithstanding the laws of Pennsylvania do not forbid it, no blacks vote at elections, at least in the eastern part of the State. By our constitution this degraded and, I am sorry to say in the region of Pennsylvania, dissipated race are allowed to give their suffrages at all elections, provided they pay the legal taxes; yet, owing to custom, prejudice or design, they never presume to approach the hustings. Neither are they taxed nor summoned upon juries or at militia musters.

#### DIVINING-RODS.

September 15, 1820.—I took the boat at nine o'clock to pay a visit to Mr. Caspar Morris, who lives on the opposite bank of the river, and as my spring has lost much of its force, I intended to ask Mr. Morris whether he knew how to recover it. Before I had an opportunity of making the inquiry he invited me to look at his spring and see how he was managing to recruit the lost waters. As he led the way to the milk-house, he told me that he had applied to Mr. Alexander Wilson, a Ouaker preacher, who had the gift of finding waters with a divining-rod, and that that gentleman had been with him and most successfully exercised his faculty, which consists in taking a twig of plum, pear or peach tree, or even willow, and holding it to the ground. When water is near the surface the twig is strongly attracted toward it, and bends with force sufficient to break itself or blister the hands of the person holding it. If the water happen to be in front, the rod bends that way: if in the rear, it strikes against the body of the holder and indicates the course of the subterranean stream. By the aid of this divining-rod Mr. Wilson pointed out to Mr. Morris the sources of the current and the spot where he should dig. I witnessed the correctness of Mr. Wilson's opinion, and saw an abundant supply three feet from the surface. Mr. Wilson cannot account for the action of the rod when in his hands, whilst it remains perfectly immovable in the hands of every ungifted person. Dr. Franklin used to say that one individual in about ten thousand had an extraordinary supply of electric fluid in his system; and as the water-diviners hold the rod to their breasts, it is perhaps by the agency of this electric matter that the water attracts the rod.

# A Governor's \* Style.

December 9, 1833 (at Harrisburg).-Called at the governor's house; knocked two or three times, but no servant came; at last the door was attended-by whom? By General McKean, the Secretary of the Commonwealth and Senator elect to the United States Senate! Is not this waiving ceremony and showing the simplicity of republican manners? The general introduced me to the governor's room. I was received very cordially, for I had voted for his friend McKean. My business with the governor was to learn from him whether he had collected any facts in regard to education and proxies, two items in his message which were referred to two committees of which I was chairman. I was surprised to learn from him that in regard to the first he had never thought of any system of general education, although so often the theme of his public messages; and with regard to the latter, a provision so important in all our charters, he appeared to be ignorant of the existing laws upon the subject. Our governors are overpaid, considering the mean way in which they live, and I have to blame myself for having added five hundred dollars a year to their salary; for I moved in Senate in 1820, when all the salaries of the public officers were reduced, and the governor's came from the House of Representatives at three thousand

<sup>\*</sup> George Wolf, governor for two terms.

five hundred dollars,-I moved, I say, to make it four thousand dollars. It was with the expectation that it would be expended in acts of hospitality, whereas, Heister, Shultze and Wolf have saved the greater part of it, limiting their entertainments to a drumming up of the two Houses by their secretaries one evening in a session, when the whole town and legislature are crowded into two small rooms, where some oysters and cakes are handed to those who can catch them. Governor Findlay entertained at dinner and like a gentleman, inviting his company by cards instead of the yea-and-nay list of both Houses, which are now used for that purpose by the clerks. "Will you go to the governor's to-night?" asks the clerk, with the list of members and a pencil in his hand. "No," says one, who is marked down on the nay column. "Will you go, sir?" he asks another, who, answering in the affirmative, is marked accordingly. Surely, four thousand dollars a year might afford a servant at the door. . . . The manners of our people are truly republican and wholly without pretension. The members of Assembly are sociable, kind, good-natured, and generally welldisposed. Our chief clerk in the Senate, Mr. Buehler, is a gentleman in his appearance and demeanor, and is at once the principal innkeeper of the house where I lodge and son-in-law to the governor. This is the right sort of democracy, uniting the higher with the lower stations in society, and raising the latter by the same respectable conduct that he sustains in the former

#### Kean's Acting.

May 2, 1821.—Jean, Lucy and myself went to see Kean in Richard. I thought often, during the performance, of Mr. Lloyd's criticism of that actor in Othello. Such vaunting and extravagance I have seldom seen. He outraged Nature, and performed very like one of her worst journeymen. He did not appear to me to understand or feel that malignity of soul, that vindictive and authoritative malevolence of disposition, which history says Nature gave to Richard, and which his high station enabled him to display. Kean's acting was in general a course of wild and hurried gesticulation; nothing calm and deliberate—half a sentence intelligibly pronounced, the other half uttered with a volubility and nimbleness of tongue too rapid for the most attentive listener to follow. In short, we all concluded in our box that British taste must be wholly depraved if it seriously upholds such an actor. But there is a fashion in everything; and Mr. Kean, who has an admirer in Mrs. Garrick (a lady, if we can believe report, who proclaims him the best imitator of her husband), and who has been so flatteringly received in Boston, must possess some genius and some powers. I can only say that we did not see them, although very many of the critics among the groundlings applauded vehemently.

## AMERICAN LITERATURE.

February 9, 1828.—It is delightful to contemplate the great progress of American literature. How rapid its march now, and encouraging the prospect of its future

growth! I remember forty years ago, when all our books were imported, and we possessed absolutely no native literature. A meagre magazine was published monthly in Boston, adorned principally with conundrums, acrostics, enigmas, etc., which were a source of puzzle and industry to all the young fellows and girls of the town. In the other cities of the Union nothing of a higher character was attempted for six or eight years after the close of the Revolutionary War. Then appeared Dobson's edition of the British Encyclopædia. The best engravers were employed, but what a vast difference from the works of our present artists! At this day we have three or four quarterly reviews, two of them (North American and American Quarterly) equal in talent and editorship to the English or Scotch reviews. Besides these there issue from our press, monthly, weekly, etc., numerous literary, scientific, medical, mechanical and religious journals. Of these last it is said there are thirty-four, all well supported and edited. The daily and other newspapers are numberless, perhaps seven or eight hundred! We are now indeed a reading community.

## Mammoth Newspapers.

January 14, 1841.—The size of the newspapers printed in the principal cities is generally large, but two or three are extravagantly so. I bought one the other day printed in New York, the price of which was twelve and a half cents, that measures one way five feet five inches, and the other way four feet two inches. It is said to contain as much matter as a close-printed octavo,

and is decorated with several handsome pictures and a piece of music. It is called *Brother Jonathan*. It has a competitor of the same size called *The World*, and to-day we have announced to us the appearance of another, called *The Universal Yankee Nation*. This mammoth sheet comes out at Boston. The Philadelphia editor of a morning paper says that "It is not so large as the whole of the New England States, including the Aroostook country, but then it would serve as a parasol for Rhode Island."

# INDEX.

Adams, John, on Thomas Boylston, too.
Adams, John Quincy, a student at Newburyport, 119; excepts Miss Frazier
from his satire, 120; speaks of her,
121; is pleased with S. B.'s vote, 122.
Aërostation, 67.

Allen, James, poet and brother to a sheriff, 190; a joker paid with his own jests, 191.

Ames, Fisher, 177.

Amory, Thomas, of Boston and London,

Andrews, Benjamin, accidentally shot by his future widow's future husband, 22.

Andrews, John, S. B.'s uncle, 18, 23; letters to William Barrell, published by the Mass. Hist. Soc'y, 24; buys the Breck mansion, 38; visited by S. B., 272; his age, 282.

Andrews, progenitors of S. B.'s mother, 17.

Anticks in Boston, 35.

Arnold, Benedict, interested in the education of Warren's children, 20; mistrusted by Judge Peters and Colonel Pickering, 215.

Atlantic passages, 51.
Audubon the naturalist, 260.

BALCH the hatter, 108.

Balloons in France in 1783, 67.

Baltimore, 266; the public fountain, 266; the Roman Catholic cathedral, 267; the seminary for priests, 267.

Barbaroux, of the Gironde, 229; fights his way to the tribunal, 230; at Caen, 232; joins the Breton volunteers, 234; at Brest, ready to sail for Bordeaux, 235; tries to pass himself off as a savant, 240: on the point of putting an end to his miseries, 242; puts a sudden and mistaken end both to his misery and his happiness, 245.

Baring, Alexander, and the Binghams,

Barlow, Joel, in Paris, 171; his experience, 172.

Beacon Hill in Boston, 33,

Beaujolais, the duke of, in America, 247. Beaumanoir, Mlle. de, a fellow-passenger

with S. B., 86. Belmont, near Sweetbrier, 16.

Bethman, Mr., 48, 57.

Biddle, N., president of the Bank of the U.S., takes a drive with John Randolph, 257.

Bingham, William, and his style, 201.

Binneau, a French émigré, 152.

Binney, Horace, on Washington's Farewell Address, 253. Blacks, their thriftiness, 301; and general

reputation, 302.

Blanchard the aëronaut, 68.

Bonaparte, Joseph, hires Landsdowne House, 248; has a chat over cider with Farmer Bones, 248; entertains Miss Rush, 249; has a word to say about Napoleon, 249; his estate at Bordentown, 250; his return to America in 1838, 251.

Booby, Captain, 123.

Bordeaux, and its theatre, 57; corrupted by the Maratists, 238.

Boston, siege of, 18; its condition in 1791, 178; praise of, 277.

"Boston," a game at cards, 54.

Bougainville, Louis Antoine de, 27.

Bouquet, Madame, befriends the hunted Girondins and goes to the scaffold herself, 244, 245. Boylston, Thomas, a miserly and tricky uncle, 150: and disobliging and vindictive neighbor, 160.

Boylston, Ward Nicholas, 157; travels in the East, 158; takes care of his miserly uncle, 159; consigns mer-

chandise to S. B., 183. Brattle, Thomas, his stock of wine, and

his epicurism, 30. Breck, Charles, 17.

Breck, George, accompanies S. B. on a journey to Washington, 264.

Breck, Daniel, 17.

Breck, Edward, 16.

Breck, I. Lloyd, 17.

Breck, Robert, 16. Breck, Samuel, Sr., 16; removes his family from Boston during the siege, 18: buys a house in Boston, 37:

takes La Fayette to town meeting, 39; dines at M. de l'Étombe's, and receives a despatch which his host surreptitiously reads, 47; attempts the study of French, 48; removes to Philadelphia, 186.

Breck, Samuel, his birth, 17; a spectator at battle of Bunker Hill, 17; makes a journey with his parents to Philadelphia, 18; tarries in Taunton, where he sees Pope Day celebrated, 19; goes to school to Parson Payson in Chelsea, 20; is in the dark with other people in May, 1780, 21; studies under Master Hunt, 43; watches a naval battle in Boston harbor, 44; embarks for France, 48; lands at Pembœuf, 52; proceeds to Nantes, 53: enjoys hospitalities there, 54: visits La Rochelle, 55; and Rochefort, 56; spends a week at Bordeaux, 57; to Montauban, where he is cared for by the Chalvets; to Toulouse, 59; and thence to Sorèze, 60; where he settles himself at work, 61; makes a visit to the Castle de Vaudreuil, 62: takes part there in a play, 63; has a munificent allowance of pocketmoney, 66; has a chance to be punished in place of another boy, 74; prepares to leave Sorèze, 77; is confirmed and receives mass, 78; visits Toulouse to bid adieu to De Chalvet, 78; takes a journey with Dom Crozal to Paris, 70: takes lodgings in Paris, 70: has a peep at royalty, 80; dines with M. de Beaumanoir, 81; visits Brissot de Warville, 83; and Saint Sulpice, 84; leaves Paris for Havre, 84; embarks for New York, 85; gives up his cabin out of politeness, 87; arrives at New York, 89; sets out for Boston, 91; gets into a scrape with other Boston blades, 92; enters the counting-house of Mr. Codman, 93; is prevented from interfering in a loveaffair, o6; makes an excursion to Newburyport with his sister, 97; is caught in a thunderstorm and entertained by a descendant of some dignitary, 99; makes a journey to the South, og: stays in New York, 100; visits General Knox and Passaic Falls, 101; goes to Philadelphia, 101; returns to New York, 102; visits Mrs. Jeffrey in Portsmouth, and is ashamed of his companions, 114; breakfasts with Mr. Marquand, and sees a little of Whitefield, 115; makes the acquaintance of John Ouincy Adams, 119; is invited to sail to Europe, 137; embarks with his friend Higginson, 138: is overtaken by a gale in the Irish Sea, 139; runs into Ramsay Bay, Isle of Man, 143; arrives at Dublin, 144; spends a week in sight-seeing, 146; crosses St. George's Channel and narrowly misses an empty stomach, 147; has an altercation with the coaching clerk, 149; reaches London, and is kindly received by Mr. Thomas Amory, 150; visits Drury Lane, 151; and Covent Garden, 151; makes friends with Mr. Binneau, 152; and renews acquaintance with Mr. Gever. 154; sees the Lord Mayor's Show, 155; and the opening of Parliament by George IV., 156; makes his way out by a celebrated door, 157; goes to Bath and Bristol, 161; and to Paris, 162; visits the National Assembly,

167; sees the royal family at their devotions, 16); returns to London, 172; sails for America, 175; makes a journey on Sunday at his risk, 179; goes into business, 183; speculates, 184; removes to Philadelphia, 190; encounters the yellow fever, 193; joins a club which is swindled, 207; visits Judge Peters, 214; recalls the duke of Orleans, 246; meets Joseph Bonaparte, 251: hears of burning of Washington, 253; dines with General Jackson, 255; meets Daniel Webster, 258; and Audubon, 260; visits Zerah Colburn, 261; makes a journey to Washington, 264; and to Boston, 271; is contented with his life, 281; gives a party, 282; is a solitary dinnerparty himself, 286; is elected to a walking club, 288; entertains Captain Marryat, 280; hunts for servants, 296; has dealings with tradespeople, 300; calls on the governor, and is received without ceremony. 304; goes to see Kean, 306.

Breck family, ancestry of the, 16. Brick, a corruption of Breck, 16.

Brissot de Warville, 83; an acquaintance of De Valady's, 222; executed, 232.

Bull, an Irish, 145. Bunker Hill, battle of, as seen by S. B., 17.

Burke in the House of Commons, 156. Buying one's father and mother, 297. Buzot, Girondin, 232; separates from

De Valady and other comrades, 240: his end, 245.

CAEN, meeting-place of the Girondins, 232, 233.

Campbell, Colin, 289.

Carey, Henry C., 290, 291.

Carignan, Prince de, 72.

Carlyle, Thomas, quoted, 223, 227, 245. Carrier and his monstrous crimes, 54, 55. Chalvet, M. de, 48; takes charge of S. B.

on his journey to France, 48; and entertains him at Toulouse, 59. Charlestown, Maryland, 265.

Chastellux, Marquis de, on General Knox, 209.

Checkley, Rev. Mr., 42,

Chevalier d' Eon, 153.

Cheverus, bishop in Boston, and afterward in Bordeaux, 117.

Chew, Miss Sophia, dances with a lord, 135.

Clayton, an adventurer, 207.

Clinton, De Witt, death of, 255; explodes himself, 256.

Clinton, George, takes S. B. to drive in his sulky, 18,

Coal-fires in Pennsylvania, 295.

Coates, John R., 289.

Cobbett, William, 204; his conflict with Dr. Rush, 205.

Codman, John, a merchant with whom

S. B. was connected, oz. Colburn, Zerah, the mathematical prod-

igy, 261. "Colony in Schuylkill, the," 217.

Common, Boston, 38.

Cooper, Dr. Samuel, 39, 46.

Cooper, Captain, turned priest, 268.

Corday, Charlotte, 233. Couthon in the Convention, 231,

Covent Garden theatre, 151.

Crevecœur, Hector Saint-John de, 80; takes S. B. into society, 81; his character, 81; introduces S. B. to Brissot, 83; makes a passage with S. B., 85; an acquaintance of De Valady's, 222.

Crozal, Dom, and his adventure with Quétain, 73; accompanies S. B. on a journey, 79; bids him adien at Havre, 84.

Curé, the benevolent, who befriended De Valady and his companions, 240.

Cushing, Caleb, and Hannah Gould, 120. Cutting, John Browne, a refined swindler, 173; correspondent of H. G. Otis, 185.

Dallas, George M., and how he came by his snuff-box, 293.

Dalton, Tristram, 97; his political career, 98.

Dark Day, the, 21.

Despaulx, Dom, superior of the Benedictines at Sorèze, 61, 78.

- De Vaudreuil, 27, 45; recommends a French education for S. B., 48; received at his castle, 62; his family, 62, 63; his connection with De Valady, 82,220; in the National Assembly, 167; his provision for his erratic son-in-law, 225.
- De Vaudreuil, the Marchioness, goes to London to bring back her reluctant son-in law, 223.

Dinner-parties in the country, and their disadvantages, 286, 295.

Discipline in the English and in the French navy, 125.

Divining-rods, 303.

Drake's (S. A.) Old Landmarks and Historic Fields of Middlesex quoted, 30.

Drake's (S. G.) History of Boston quoted,

Drinking-customs, in Ireland, 147.

Drury Lane theatre, 151.

Dublin visited by S. B., 144.

Dubourg, Abbé, at the seminary in Baltimore, 267.

Dufour, Dom, 170.

Dupain, Dom, and the trick played on him, 74.

EARS, the lack of, concealed by a wig,

Elktown, Maryland, 265.

Eustis, Dr., Secretary of War, polite to S. B., 271.

Ewing, Captain, and the French dukes, 247.

FACULTY a subject for taxation, 186. Family, a long-lived, 281.

Ferries between Boston and Philadelphia in 1780, 103.

"Franklin," a term applied to lightningrods, 71.

Frazier, Miss, who did not marry J. Q. Adams, 120.

French navy, lack of discipline in, 49, 125.

French Revolution, the, 165. French ships in Boston harbor, 43. Frogs served à la Français, 25. GADSBY, John, host of the Indian Queen, 266.

Gallisonière, La, captain in the French navy, 125.

Gardes Françaises, 222,

George IV. bows to S. B., 155.

Georgetown, 269.

Geyer, Frederick, gives his daughter to a stranger, 96.

Geyer, Frederick William, an old acquaintance whom S. B. meets in London, 254,

Girard, Stephen, during the yellow fever, 104.

Girondists, the, 228; in danger, 229; ordered under arrest in the persons of their chief members, 231; in rendezvous at Caen; overborne by the intrigues of the Mountain at Bordeaux, 238; entirely cowed, 230.

Gould, Miss Hannah, and her fencing with Caleb Cushing, 120.

Governor's style, a, 304.

Grattan with his face to the wall, 146. Guadet, Girondin, 232; betrays himself at Bordeaux, 238; leaves his comrades, 240, finds shelter for them at his sister-in-law's, 244; dies by the guillotine, 245.

HAIRDRESSER, a, with a good memory, 164.

Hall, John, an attorney of Baltimore, 266.

Hall, Polly and Sukey, 107; Polly travels with S. B., 271.

Hamilton, Alexander, before the Supreme Court, 210; reputed author of Washington's Farewell Address, 252.

Hancock, John, makes an effort at the French language, 48; his house, 91; his jokes with Balch, 108; his amiability, 109; his external likeness to the widow Hayley, 110; raises a point of etiquette with Washington, 128; and with De Moustier, 131; his conceit, 132; endeavors to put down plays, 182.

Hayley, the widow, and her eccentricities, 109; is mistaken for Governor Hancock, 110; marries Jeffrey, 111; lives in Portsmouth, 113; returns to England and dies, 114.

Henriot sends back the president of the Convention, 230.

Hichborn, Benjamin, accidentally shoots his future wife's husband, 22.

Higginson, John, a Boston captain who takes S. B. with him to England, 137; finds an Irish bull with ease, 145.

Holker, Mr., a fellow-passenger of S. B., 85.

House of Commons visited by S. B.,

Hunt, Master, of the Boston Latin School,

Indian Queen, a Baltimore inn, 266. Indians, a party of, entertained by S. B.,

Inoculation for small-pox, 19.

Irish gymnastics in King's Chapel, 41.

JEFFREY, Francis, in an interview with President Madison, 262.

Jeffrey, who married Mrs. Hayley, 111; separates from her, 114; dies at Milton, 115; his timely dinner-party,

Johnson, Mr., who built the first house in Boston, 40.

Jones, John Paul, a fellow-passenger with S. B., 85.

Jordan, Mrs., Drury Lane, 151.

KEAN, Miss, turns an honest penny at the theatre, 287.

Kean the actor, 306.

King's Chapel burying-ground, 40. Knox, General, Secretary of War, 101;

his popularity in society, 208. Knox, William, and his insanity, 103.

Kohne, Frederick, 192. Kuhn, Dr., and Miss Peggy Markoe,

202.

LABOR and wages, 300. Laborde, 27. La Fayette at town-meeting in Boston, 39; aids the poor when Boston is burned, 123; in the National Assembly, 167; made a doctor of laws, 260.

Langdon, John, governor of New Hampshire, 131.

Lanjuinais of the Gironde, 229; speaks brave words, 230.

La Pérouse, the circumnavigator, 28, 73. La Rochelle, 55; besieged by Richelieu, 56.

Latin School in Boston, 42.

Legendre knocks Lanjuinais down, 230.

L'Étombe, consul of France, entertained by Nathaniel Tracy, 25; gives a dinner to Mr. Breck and peeps at his letter, 47.

Lightning-rods and the superstition of peasants, 71.

Lindsey, Captain Samuel, 124; patronized by Lord Hood, 126; settles in Boston; retires to Milton and discovers short cuts in housekeeping, 126.

Literature in America, 306.

Lloyd, James, brother-in-law to S. B., entertains him, 272.

Lloyd, Mrs. Hannah, sister of S. B., 18; takes an excursion with her brother,

Lord Mayor's Show in London, 155.

Louvet of the Gironde, 229; at Caen, 232; his memoirs, 232; describes Charlotte Corday, 233; is at Brest preparing to embark for Bordeaux, 235; travels secretly with De Valady, Barbaroux and another, 240; on the point of putting an end to his miseries, 242; his final escape, 245.

Lynn's, Miss, boarding-house, 284.

MACAULAY, Mrs. Catharine, and her wig, 112.

Maccarty, Abbé, a hanger-on in Paris, 170.

Mackerel and their season, 175.

McPherson, John R., 289.

Madison, President, makes an uncomfortable display before Francis Jeffrey, 262. Manners in travelling, 275.

Magicienne and Sagittaire, naval encounter between, in Boston harbor, 44.

Marie Antoinette at church, 162.

Marquand, Joseph, meddles with Whitefield, 115.

Marryat, Frederick, 289; sees Philadelphia with S. B., 289; his account of his novels, 290; dines at Mr. Vaughan's, 290; behaves like an ill-bred Englishman, 202.

Marryad, Joseph, comes from Grenada, 95; falls in love with Charlotte Geyer, 95; carries his point and marries her,

96; and dies, 96.
Maurey, Abbé, before the National Assembly, 167.

Mesmer and animal magnetism, 70. Mifflin, Governor, 103.

Minot, Sam, makes bad matters worse, 92; retains his character at Amsterdam, 93.

Mirabeau addressing the National Assembly, 167.

Monroe, James, with Madison and Jeffrey, 262.

Montauban, 58.

Montgolfier, Stephen and John, the aëronauts, 67.

Montpensier, the duke of, in America,

Morris, Caspar, 303.

Morris, Robert, and his services, 203. Moustier, Comte de, and his airs, 131.

NANTES, 53, 54.

National Assembly of France, the, 166. Newport, Delaware, 264.

Newspapers, mammoth, 307.

New York as it was in 1787, 89; routes to Boston, 90; visited by S. B., 100; visited again, 271.

Noailles, Vicomte de, 165; sprains his ankle when executing a \( \rho a\_5\), 166; and dies as a hero, 166; living in Philadelphia during the yellow fever, 193; his ready application to business, 199.

Norris, Joseph P., a fellow-passenger with

S. B., 85; a resident of Philadelphia, 103.

North church and its steeple, 41.

OLD South meeting-house, Boston, 42. Orleans, the duke of, proclaimed king of France, 246; his first arrival in Philadelphia, 246; his manners, 247; his travels, 248.

Otis, Harrison Gray, delivers an oration, 91; commands a company of light infantry, 128; his moderate ambition, 185.

Otis, Mrs. Harrison Gray, and her independence, 285.

PARKER, Isaac, before he was chief-justice, 91.

Parsons, Theophilus, and his students,

Passaic Falls, 101.

Payson, Samuel Phillips, a teacher in Chelsea, 20.

Peters, Richard, 213; his correspondence with Timothy Pickering in the Flower affair, 214; his reminiscences of the Revolutionary war, 216; his jeux d'esprit, 217; his account of Washington's Farewell Address, 252; tells a story of La Fayette and Steuben, 260.

Pétion, Girondin, 232; joins the Breton volunteers, 234; meets De Valady and others at Brest en route for Bordeaux, 235; leaves his comrades, 240; is brought to the rendezvous at Madame Bouquet's, 244; his untimely end, 245.

Philadelphia, journey to, 102; as it was in 1789, 103; society in, 187; the seat of Congress, 106.

Phips, Sir William, his adventures, too.
Pickering, Col. Timothy, and Judge

Peters in the Flower affair, 214.
Pillory and stocks in Boston, 37.

Ponderez, M. de, 124; his surprise at republican simplicity, 130. Pope and the Devil, the, 19.

Pope and the Devil, the, 19.
Powell and his entertainments, 182.

Quétain, a pupil at Sorèze, expelled, and afterward commandant in the Revo-

Intionary army, 74.

Quincy, Josiah, letter from, to S. B., 122.

RAGUET, Condy, 288; dines with Captain Marryat, 290; and gives his opinion of him, 293.

Railways, and the changes they have introduced, 274.

Randolph, John, of Roanoke, 256; his petty economies, 257; gets his umbrella mended, 257.

Revolutionary war, short supplies in, 216. Revenue reform in 1789, 94.

Rucker, Mr., a fellow-passenger with S. B., 85.

Rumford, Count, 119.

Rundle, George, 288.

Rush, Miss Julia, her account of Joseph Bonaparte, 249.

SAINT Feriol, 64.

Salles, of the Girondin, proscribed, 232; his end, 245.

Searle and his insanity, 104.

Servants in the Breck family, 105; in S. B.'s family, 107.

Servants, the troublesome experience with, 295; bought on their arrival in America, 296; their extravagant habits, 298.

Seward, Anna, quoted in description of the Chevalier d'Eon, 153.

Short, William, secretary of legation at Paris, 80.

Siddons, Mrs., at Covent Garden, 151. Siaves in Massachusetts, 105.

Smith, Abiel, and his wife, 191.

Smith, Jacob R., 289.

Smith, John C., 289.

Smith, Thomas, exposes Browne Cutting, 174.

Smith, Mr., and his mode of travelling in America, 284.

Snowden, Mr., a Southern planter, 269; offers his mother and aunt to S. B. as travelling companions, 273.

nyder, Governor, of Pennsylvania, in great demand, 253; soundly berated by S. B., 254.

Sorèze recommended as a school for S. B., 48; its history and situation, 60; the character of the teaching, 61; cheapness of education there, 64; its relations to the government, 65; its environs, 66; members of the college in Paris during the Revolution, 170.

Southey, Robert, his Espriella Letters quoted, 223.

"State in Schuylkill, The," 217.

Sterne's Sentimental Yourney, 163. Steuben, Baron, is afraid of being made a doctor of laws, 260.

Stewart, Walking, 200,

Street, names of, in Boston, changed, 32. Sullivan, James, 135; has the good fortune to break his leg, 135; and to marry Mrs. Sullivan, 136.

Sumner, W. H., his Reminiscences quoted, 19, 128.

Sunday travelling, 179.

Survilliers, Count, pseudonym of Joseph Bonaparte, 250.

Sweetbrier, the residence of S. B., 15, 16; life at, 280.

TALLEYRAND-PÉRIGORD, 197; listening to Hamilton, 210.

Taylor, Thomas, the Platonist, and his over-zealous disciple De Valady,

Taxation in Boston in 1791, 186.

Temple, Sir Granville, and Mrs. Russell, 86.

Thayer, Abbé, a convert to Roman Catholicism, 84; comes to Boston, 116; opens a chapel, 117.

Theatres in London and Paris, 151; in Boston, 182.

Thompson, Sir Benjamin, 119.

Toulouse, 59. Town-meeting in Boston, 39.

lown-meeting in Boston, 39.

Tracy, John, brother to Nathaniel, 29. Tracy, Nathaniel, gives a dinner to the

officers of the French squadron, 25. Travel from New York to Boston, 90; by sulky, 99; from New York to Philadelphia, 102; in France by diligence,

sulky, 99; from New York to Philadelphia, 102; in France by diligence, 163; in New England on Sunday, 179; by coach, 180; from Philadelphia to Washington, 264; from Philadelphia to Boston, 271; improvements in, 274.

Traversé, Marquis de, 49, 52, 53; revisits Boston, 123.

VALADY, Marquis de, 62; narrative of his part in the French Revolution, 210; his early enthusiasm and marriage, 221; his flight to London, 222; is brought back by his mother-in-law, 224: starts for America, 225: but changes his mind and intends to go to Holland, 226; changes again and goes to Geneva, 226; a member of the National Convention, 228; ordered under arrest, 231; flees from Paris to Caen, 232; joins the Breton volunteers, 234; hides near Dol, and tries in vain to escape to America, 234; escapes to Brest, 235; sails for Bordeaux with companions, 236; is ready to shoot himself rather than have others shoot him, 236, 237; reaches Bordeaux, 238; flees into the country to escape the sans culottes, 239; is sheltered by a curé, 240; removes to a barn near by, 241; dares not die himself, and persuades the not unwilling Louvet and Barbaroux to spare themselves, 242; removes from the barn to a wood, 243: is sheltered by Madame Bouquet, 244; captured and executed, 246,

Van Berkle calls on Governor Hancock,

Van Buren, Martin, his relations to Clinton, 256.

Vane's, Sir Henry, house in Boston, 41.
Vaughan, Mr., librarian of the Philosophical Society, gives a dinner to Captain Marryat, 290, 295.

Vergniaud of the Gironde, 229.

Vila, Jemmy, host of the Bunch of Grapes, 122.

Volney, the French traveller and writer, 198; his high-strung republicanism, 199. Walking-club, a, 288. Waln, Jacob S., 288. Ward, Artemas, 180.

Warren, General Joseph, the children of, educated at public expense, 20.

Washington, General, his headquarters in Cambridge, 30; visits Boston, 127; outgenerals Hancock, 119; his presidential style, 188; his Farewell Address, 252.

Washington's Farewell Address, who wrote it? 252.

Washington, the burning of, 253; visited by S. B., 269; the Capitol, 270; the President's house, 271.

Webster, Daniel, 258; his gloomy prognostications, 259.

Wharton, Fishbourne, 289. Wharton, Francis R., 289.

Wharton, Thomas, 289.

"Whickham," Lord, 134; is obliged to dance as badly as he can with Miss Chew, 135.

Whipping-post in Boston, the, 36. White, Thomas H., 288.

Whitefield as a relic, 115.

Wigs and their inconvenience, 112.
Willing, Thomas M., waylaid on his way

to S. B.'s house, 282.
Wilmington, Delaware, 264.
Wilson, Alexander, a Quaker preacher

and diviner of water, 303. Wimpfen, Baron, defender of Thionville,

Winthrop, Governor, portrait of, 278. Wistar, Doctor Caspar, and Wistar par-

ties, 288. Wolf, George, governor of Pennsylvania,

Woodfall learning the debates which he was to report, 156.

Wright, Fanny, 118.

YELLOW fever in Philadelphia, the,

Yzarn, Godefroi, marquis of Valady, 220.







0 006 800 037 3